EIH

ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
REEBEBRBREZRERLQA

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability 72 B8 £ 8% S ML 2 BIRAE)

(Stock code B&1AKFE : 353)

ANNUAL REPORT

2024/25

& %%

* For identification purpose only {Z{:831l




Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Biographical Details of Directors

Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEER

il

TR®E

EEE R R T

EEREEHE

EEERME

EEeWms

B R RE

AWK E

CONTENTS
B &%

13
17
31
53
62
64
65
67
68

70

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR

1



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NAEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEg
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Cao Sheng (Chairman) BEREE(FE)
Mr. Liu Yong (Chief Executive Officer) BIB S (7T ABZ)
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral PRIZE L E

Mr. Luo Yingnan BEBEE

Ms. Wang Yiren FLAEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Tang Qingbin BB S

Mr. Fung Nam Shan BEILEE

Mr. Sung Ka Woon REEEE
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREEE
Mr. Tang Qingbin (Chairman) BB A (FE)
Mr. Fung Nam Shan BEILEE

Mr. Sung Ka Woon REELE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE YHWEES
Mr. Tang Qingbin (Chairman) BB A (FE)
Mr. Fung Nam Shan BEILEE

Mr. Sung Ka Woon REELE

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral PRIZFE S E
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REEESE
Mr. Tang Qingbin (Chairman) BB E (FE)
Mr. Fung Nam Shan BEILEE

Mr. Sung Ka Woon REELE

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral PRIZEE S E

Ms. Wang Yiren FLAEE

COMPANY SECRETARY

DNAME

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi g E
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES REARRE
Mr. Cao Sheng EREE

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HES e E
REGISTERED OFFICE MM EE

Cricket Square

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

2 Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25



HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Units 4307-08, Office Tower, Convention Plaza
1 Harbour Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman lIslands

LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE COMPANY

As to Hong Kong Law:
Lawrence Chan & Co.

As to Cayman Islands Law:
Conyers Dills & Pearman

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

DBS Bank (HK) Limited
Dongying Bank Co., Ltd

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

http://website.energyintinv.wisdomir.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION

DEEF
EEMPERARTIEE Y

BE
TSR E 158
SR EI5 A KIE4307-08 F

BEEROBFETDRE

BEBFELERAR
B

ERE 1697
RESEFPOT7E

FMERETEROBFERE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

RATEERE™

BBILY -
BRYR IR 12 B S5 75 PR

FISHELE

Conyers Dills & Pearman

R ED

BEE(BR) GFTMEBMARRAR
PR B AT B R A M 2R 28 B RE X LT

FEERERIT

ERBT(FE)BRAF
REBJITRMHBR AR

AN Bl

http://website.energyintinv.wisdomir.com

REREBREERERAT / —T-MN,/ —HFFH 3



4

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREHwE

Dear shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Energy International Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”), |
am pleased to present to you the annual report of the Company and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the principal activities of the Group include oil and
liquefied chemical terminal representing the businesses of leasing of oil and
liquefied chemical terminal, together with its storage and logistics facilities
(the “Port and Storage Facilities”); and trading of electronic products.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the business of providing insurance
brokerage service (the “Insurance Brokerage Service”) was discontinued
and the trading of oil and liquefied chemical products was temporarily
suspended.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Oil and liquefied chemical terminal

The Group's Port and Storage Facilities are located at Dongying Port
Economic Development Zone, Shandong Province, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") and operated by Shandong Shundong Port Services
Company Limited (“Shundong Port”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group. According to a lease agreement entered in December 2020,
starting from January 2021, the Port and Storage Facilities were rented
to an independent third party (the “Present Operator”). The annualised
rent receivable from the Present Operator (including value-added tax) was
RMB150 million from 1 April 2022 to 19 May 2023. On 18 May 2023,
Shundong Port entered into a short-term lease agreement (the “Short-
term Lease Agreement”) with the Present Operator, pursuant to which
Shundong Port agreed to continue to lease the whole Port and Storage
Facilities to the Present Operator up to 31 July 2023 at a monthly rent of
RMB12.5 million (including value-added tax).

On 12 July 2023, Shundong Port entered into a new lease agreement (the
“New Lease Agreement”) with the Present Operator whereby Shundong
Port continued to lease the Port and Storage Facilities (with the exception
of the 14 gas tanks (the “Self-operated Gas Tanks") which are re-possessed
and self-operated by the Group) to the Present Operator for the term
commencing from 1 August 2023 (i.e. the date immediately after the expiry
of the Short-term Lease Agreement) and expiring on 31 July 2028.

On 1 August 2023, Shundong Port commenced the operation of leasing of
the Self-operated Gas Tanks to independent third parties.
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On 20 December 2024, Shundong Port entered into a supplemental lease
agreement with the Present Operator (the “Supplemental Agreement”),
pursuant to which the expiry date of the New Lease Agreement was
extended to 31 July 2030 and the gross monthly rent (including value-
added tax) has increased from RMB9.6 million to RMB10.6 million with
effect from 1 August 2026 until 31 July 2029, and has further increased to
RMB11.7 million with effect from 1 August 2029 until 31 July 2030.

Shundong Port used to engage in trading of oil and liquefied chemical
products, but such trading business has temporarily suspended during the
year ended 31 March 2024 due to changes in the market dynamics, where
the procurement and sales chain has become increasingly streamlined.
Customers tended to purchase oil and liquefied chemical products directly
from refineries, bypassing trading intermediaries, which significantly
reduced the profit margins of the trading business. As a result, the Group
decided to temporarily suspend its trading operations and focus its
resources on strengthening Shundong Port’s core business of leasing Port
and Storage Facilities.

Trading of electronic products

In November 2024, the Group commenced the business of trading of
electronic products to certain e-commerce platforms in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a revenue from
continuing operations of approximately HK$152 million (2024: HK$242
million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$90 million as
compared to last year. The gross profit from continuing operations for the
year decreased by approximately HK$23 million to approximately HK$135
million (2024: HK$158 million).

The Group recorded a profit for the year from continuing operations of
approximately HK$467 million (2024: HK$95 million), such increase was
mainly attributable to (1) an increase in fair value gain on investment
properties of approximately HK$524 million; and (2) the share of results
of associates of approximately HK$13 million while no such income for
the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase in profit is partially offset
mainly by (1) an increase in deferred tax expenses of approximately HK$130
million, arising from the fair value gain on investment properties; (2) a
decrease in gross profit of approximately HK$23 million as a result of a
decrease in revenue; and (3) the impact of the reversal of impairment
loss under expected credit loss (“ECL") model on deposits and trade,
lease and other receivables of approximately HK$13 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 turned into the recognition of impairment loss of
approximately HK$3 million for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREHwE

PROSPECTS

Operation of liquid chemical terminal, storage and
logistics facilities business

Looking forward, leveraging on the ample experience of the Group’s
specialist team, the premier location of the Port and Storage Facilities,
and the increasing demand from the end users of the Dongying Port
Economic Development Zone, the Company anticipates that the Port and
Storage Facilities will continue to contribute significant income and profit
to the Group and the Company is optimistic that its businesses will create
sustained growth momentum for the Group.

Financial service business

On 17 June 2024, the Company acquired a 28% look-through effective
economic interest in a leading credit assessment fintech solution provider
in the PRC and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Opco Group”), which is
principally engaged in the provision of credit assessment, fund matching
and technical services for financial institutions, for a consideration of
RMB200,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). The Directors are of the view that the
Acquisition would allow the Group to tap into the rapidly developing credit
assessment fintech solutions market in the PRC with an established market
position. By pre-agreeing with a dividend policy, the Company can benefit
from investment return of the Opco Group if and when it has accumulated
profits and surplus over necessary cash reserve. The Company has struck a
balance between the limiting of risk associated with new investment, and
the grasping of business opportunity to shift from traditional industries
to “new quality productive forces” as promoted by the top leaders of
the PRC and for the long-term sustainable development of the Group.
During the year, the Opco Group contributed approximately HK$13 million
profit to the Group. The Board believes that the Group can benefit from
the diversification of its operations into the financial service industry and
through better deployment of available resources, can bring values to the
Group and the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as a
whole.

The Group is optimistic of the investment environment and will continue
to explore opportunities in expanding our existing business and different
industries in order to drive the Group’s sustainable growth and strengthen
its financial position.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to
our Shareholders, business partners, colleagues and my fellow Directors
who have continuously supported the Group.

Cao Sheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATING RESULTS

The Group is principally engaged in the leasing of the Port and Storage
Facilities, the trading of oil and liquefied chemical products (which was

temporarily suspended during the year ended 31 March 2024), the trading

of electronic products, and the provision of insurance brokerage service
(which was discontinued on 12 October 2023).

()

(i)

(iii)

Revenue

During the year, the Group's record revenue from continuing
operations was approximately HK$152 million (2024: HK$242
million). The Group’s revenue is mainly contributed from the rental
income generated from the leasing of the Port and Storage Facilities
of approximately HK$151 million (2024: HK$164 million) and the
trading of electronic products of approximately HK$1 million (2024:
Nil). There was no revenue from the trading of oil and liquefied
chemical products during the year (2024: HK$78 million).

Gross profit

During the year, the Group’s record gross profit from continuing
operations was approximately HK$135 million (2024: HK$158
million). The Board believes that the stable rental income generated
from the leasing of the Port and Storage Facilities enables the
Group to maintain the gross profit position.

Profit for the Year

The Group recorded a profit for the year from continuing
operations of approximately HK$467 million (2024: HK$95 million),
such increase was mainly attributable to (1) an increase in fair value
gain on investment properties of approximately HK$524 million;
and (2) the share of results of associates of approximately HK$13
million while no such income for the year ended 31 March 2024.
The increase in profit is partially offset mainly by (1) an increase in
deferred tax expenses of approximately HK$130 million, arising
from the fair value gain on investment properties; (2) a decrease in
gross profit of approximately HK$23 million as a result of a decrease
in revenue; and (3) the impact of the reversal of impairment loss
under ECL model on deposits and trade, lease and other receivables
of approximately HK$13 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
turned into the recognition of impairment loss of approximately
HK$3 million for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

BUSINESS REVIEW

Operation of liquid chemical terminal, storage and
logistics facilities business

In 2015, the Group acquired 51% of the equity interest held by ordinary
shareholders of Shundong Port that confers voting right and ordinary
dividend right (the “Common Equity Interest”) in Shundong Port, which
owns two sea area use rights covering an aggregate area available for
land-forming and reclamation construction of approximately 31.59
hectares in Dongying Port, Shandong Province, the PRC and permitting the
construction of reclamation and landforming for use in sea transportation
and port facilities for a 50-years’ period running from 13 November 2014 to
13 November 2064 and 23 February 2016 to 22 February 2066 respectively.
Shundong Port has completed the construction and commenced leasing
of its Port and Storage Facilities since 2017, with full commercial operation
having been achieved in May 2018. Approximately HK$151 million rental
income was generated during the year.

In June 2020, two independent investors (the “Investors”) entered into
a funding agreement (the “Funding Agreement”) with Shundong Port
pursuant to which the Investors agreed to provide funding of RMB360
million to Shundong Port by way of non-voting, fixed-interest preferred
shares. As at the date of this report, RMB270 million has been drawn down
from the Investors pursuant to the Funding Agreement and the remaining
sum has yet to be drawn down.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s Common Equity Interest in Shundong
Port was approximately 55.17%. Subsequently, in April 2025, the Group
further acquired 29.83% Common Equity Interest in Shundong Port at a
consideration of HK$300,000,000 and the Group’s Common Equity Interest
in Shundong Port has been increased to 85%.

Trading of electronic products

In November 2024, the Group commenced the business of trading of
electronic products to certain e-commerce platforms in the PRC.

Insurance brokerage service
On 12 October 2023, the Group discontinued the Insurance Brokerage

Service upon the completion of disposal of the iECO Financial Consulting
Limited.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$2,733 million (2024: HK$2,165 million), total liabilities of approximately
HK$933 million (2024: HK$811 million), indicating a gearing ratio of 0.34
(2024: 0.37) on the basis of total liabilities over total assets. The current
ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was 5.57 (2024: 3.14) on basis of
current assets over current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had aggregate bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$22 million (2024: HK$160 million). The aggregate
bank deposits (including time deposits with original maturity over three
months but not over one year) and cash in hand of the Group were
approximately HK$357 million (2024: HK$591 million).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2024: Nil).

Capital and other commitments

The Group had capital commitments contracted but not provided
for in respect of the construction of the Port and Storage Facilities of
approximately HK$13 million as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$9 million).

Charges on assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any charges on assets.
As at 31 March 2024, the entire investment properties of approximately
HK$1,507 million were pledged for the Group's bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Exchange exposure

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations in the HK$ and RMB
exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations and market trends have always
been the concern of the Group. The policy of the Group for its operating
entities operates in their corresponding local currencies to minimise
currency risks. The Group, after reviewing its exposure for the time being,
did not enter into any derivative contracts aimed at minimising exchange
rate risks during the reporting period. However, management will monitor
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure if necessary.

Employee information

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 68 full-time employees (2024:
67). The Group’'s emolument policies are formulated on the performance
of individual employees and are reviewed annually in line with industry
practice. The Group also provides provident fund schemes (as the case may
be) to its employees depending on the location of such employees.

Dividends

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

Operation of liquid chemical terminal, storage and
logistics facilities business

Since the completion of the acquisition of 51% Common Equity Interest
in Shundong Port by the Group in December 2015, the Group had been
proactively promoting the continual construction of the Port and Storage
Facilities. The original design of the Port and Storage Facilities anticipated
four berths for chemical tankers of 10,000 tonnage and two berths for
chemical tankers of 5,000 tonnage. The construction was completed in late
September 2017, and the terminal had commencing partial operation in
late September 2017 and full operation in May 2018.

In December 2020, Shundong Port entered into a lease agreement (the
“2020 Lease Agreement”) with the Present Operator whereby Shundong
Port agreed to lease the Port and Storage Facilities to the Present Operator
with effect from 1 January 2021 until 19 May 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Upon the expiry of the 2020 Lease Agreement, Shundong Port entered
into the Short-term Lease Agreement with the Present Operator on 18 May
2023, pursuant to which Shundong Port agreed to continue to lease the
whole Port and Storage Facilities to the Present Operator up to 31 July 2023
at a monthly rent of RMB12.5 million (including value-added tax).

Upon the expiry of the Short-term Lease Agreement, the Group was well
prepared to re-possess and self-operate part of the Port and Storage
Facilities. On 12 July 2023, Shundong Port entered into the New Lease
Agreement with the Present Operator whereby Shundong Port continued to
lease the Port and Storage Facilities (with the exception of the Self-operated
Gas Tanks which are re-possessed and self-operated by the Group) to the
Present Operator for the term commencing from 1 August 2023 (i.e. the
date immediately after the expiry of the Short-term Lease Agreement) and
expiring on 31 July 2028.

On 1 August 2023, Shundong Port commenced the operation of leasing of
the Self-operated Gas Tanks to independent third parties.

On 20 December 2024, Shundong Port entered into the Supplemental
Agreement with the Present Operator, pursuant to which the expiry date
of the New Lease Agreement was extended to 31 July 2030 and the gross
monthly rent (including value-added tax) has increased from RMB9.6 million
to RMB10.6 million with effect from 1 August 2026 until 31 July 2029, and
has further increased to RMB11.7 million with effect from 1 August 2029
until 31 July 2030.

Looking forward, leveraging on the ample experience of the Group’s
specialist team, the premier location of the Port and Storage Facilities,
and the increasing demand from the end users of the Dongying Port
Economic Development Zone, the Company anticipates that the Port and
Storage Facilities will continue to contribute significant income and profit
to the Group and the Company is optimistic that its businesses will create
sustained growth momentum for the Group.

Shundong Port used to engage in trading of oil and liquefied chemical
products, but such trading business has temporarily suspended during the
year ended 31 March 2024 due to changes in the market dynamics, where
the procurement and sales chain has become increasingly streamlined.
Customers tended to purchase oil and liquefied chemical products directly
from refineries, bypassing trading intermediaries, which significantly
reduced the profit margins of the trading business of oil and liquefied
chemical products. As a result, the Group decided to temporarily suspend
its trading business of oil and liquefied chemical products and focus its
resources on strengthening Shundong Port's core business of leasing Port
and Storage Facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Financial service business

On 17 June 2024, the Company acquired a 28% look-through effective
economic interest in the Opco Group, which is principally engaged in the
provision of credit assessment, fund matching and technical services for
financial institutions, for a consideration of RMB200,000,000. The Directors
are of the view that the Acquisition would allow the Group to tap into
the rapidly developing credit assessment fintech solutions market in the
PRC with an established market position. By pre-agreeing with a dividend
policy, the Company can benefit from investment return of the Opco Group
if and when it has accumulated profits and surplus over necessary cash
reserve. The Company has struck a balance between the limiting of risk
associated with new investment, and the grasping of business opportunity
to shift from traditional industries to “new quality productive forces” as
promoted by the top leaders of the PRC and for the long-term sustainable
development of the Group. Further details of the Acquisition were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 17 June 2024 and 29 August
2024. During the year, the Opco Group contributed approximately HK$13
million profit to the Group. The Board believes that the Group can benefit
from the diversification of its operations into the financial service industry
and through better deployment of available resources, can bring values to
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cao Sheng, aged 52, was appointed as an executive Director in March
2018 and as the Chairman of the Board in April 2022. He graduated from
Shandong Academy of Governance in 1999 majoring in Economics and
Management. Mr. Cao has many years of management experience in China
in the industries of vessel and offshore platform engineering and business
consultancy.

Mr. Liu Yong, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company in April 2022. He studied a
correspondence course in Transportation Financial Accounting with Xi‘an
Highway University (now known as Chang’an University) in 1994 to 1997.
Mr. Liu has extensive financial and management experiences in government
authorities and privately owned enterprises in the PRC.

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral, aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in March 2012 and was re-designated
as an executive Director in November 2013. He was also appointed as the
company secretary of the Company from November 2016 to August 2022.
He holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Accountancy from City University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the accounting
and auditing fields. Mr. Chan is an independent non-executive director of
Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (stock code: 1538), which is listed on the
Main Board (“Main Board”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). He was an independent non-executive director
of each of China Water Affairs Group Limited (stock code: 855), which is
listed on the Main Board, from January 2020 to November 2022 and SFund
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1367), which was listed on the
Main Board, from November 2016 to August 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESBEFE

Mr. Luo Yingnan, aged 35, was appointed as an executive Director in April
2023. He obtained a degree of Master of Finance in 2015 and a degree of
Bachelor of Business Administration in 2013, both from the University of
Cincinnati, the United States. After his graduation, Mr. Luo worked as a
manager at a fund management company in China. He then worked as a
business manager of the strategic customer department of one of the big-
four state-owned asset management company in China. In 2019, Mr. Luo

joined a sizeable enterprise in China accredited as Top 500 Enterprise in

China in 2022 principally engaged in petrochemical and energy businesses,
during which Mr. Luo acted as a director and was primarily responsible for
overseeing its business in Singapore and top-level corporate management.

Ms. Wang Yiren, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director
in December 2024. She holds a bachelor’s degree in Composition and
Composition Technology Theory from Xi’an Conservatory of Music. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Wang has worked as a chief strategy officer in
a family-owned investment company for over 6 years, having experience
in formulating investment strategy and reviewing investment projects
relating to petrochemical and technology industries and having business
connections in the areas of petrochemical and commodity trading.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Qingbin, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in January 2019. He holds a Bachelor of Economics
degree from Shandong Economics College. Mr. Tang is registered as a
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has
over 20 years of experience in the accounting and auditing field in China.
Mr. Tang was an independent non-executive director of Shandong Molong
Petroleum Machinery Company Limited (stock code:568), a company listed
on the Main Board, from December 2018 to November 2024; and an
independent director of Luxin Venture Capital Group Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600783), from February
2019 to January 2025.

Mr. Fung Nam Shan, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in May 2015. Mr. Fung holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce awarded by the University of Newcastle, Australia. Mr. Fung
has become a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2010 and a Certified Practising
Accountant of CPA Australia since October 2003.

Currently, Mr. Fung is an independent non-executive director of JH
Educational Technology INC. (currently listed on the Main Board (stock
code: 1935)). He is also the company secretary of China Putian Food
Holding Limited, a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1699),
and Thelloy Development Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board (stock code: 1546). Mr. Fung was an independent non-executive
director of China Fortune Investments (Holding) Limited, which was listed
on GEM (stock code: 8116), during the period from August 2021 to
September 2021.
Mining Holdings Limited (currently listed on the Main Board (stock code:
2212)), during the period from November 2015 to October 2016 and the
company secretary and authorised representative of each of China Ocean
Group Development Limited (currently listed on GEM (stock code: 8047)),
during the period from May 2015 to May 2017, MH Development Limited,
which was listed on the Main Board (stock code: 2662), during the period
from February 2016 to August 2021, China Supply Chain Holdings Limited
(currently listed on the Main Board (stock code: 3708)), during the period

He was the joint company secretary of Future Bright

from March 2016 to July 2021, Yues International Holdings Group Limited
(currently listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1529)), during the period
from June 2021 to June 2022, and Seamless Green China (Holdings)
Limited, which was listed on GEM (stock code: 8150), during the period
from May 2015 to April 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESBEFE

Mr. Sung Ka Woon, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in July 2024. He obtained an executive master of business
and administration degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC
in December 2011, completed the part-time postgraduate studies majoring
in economic management from Party School of the Central Committee
of Chinese Communist Party in the PRC in January 1996 and obtained a
bachelor’s degree of machinery design, manufacturing and automation
from Northeastern Institute of Technology (now known as Northeastern
University) in the PRC in July 1993.

Mr. Sung has extensive experience of social services and corporate
management. Mr. Sung has served at various social positions including a
president of Hong Kong Industrial and Commercial Association Limited
from February 2021 to June 2022, a member of Heung Yee Kuk New
Territories of Hong Kong since May 2020, a member of the Election
Committee of Hong Kong since September 2021, a member of the 12th
and 13th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC")
of Zhanjiang City, Guangdong Province from February 2014 to December
2017, and a member of the 12th CPPCC of Shandong Province from
January 2018. Currently, Mr. Sung also serves as the honorary chairman
of the Guangdong Zhanjiang Overseas Friendship Association, the deputy
secretary general of the Shandong Overseas Friendship Association and
the honorary president of the Guangdong Zhanjiang Political Consultative
Conference Association. Mr. Sung was also appointed as non-official Justice
of the Peace by the Government of Hong Kong in July 2021.

Mr. Sung is currently an independent non-executive director of Rongzun
International Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as B & D Strategic
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1780), Simcere Pharmaceutical Group
Limited (stock code: 2096) and China Harmony Auto Holding Limited (stock
code: 3836), all of which are listed on the Main Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance, holding the beliefs of transparency, honesty and accountability.
The Board considers that sound corporate management and governance
practices are essential to the Company’s healthy growth under all business
environments. Therefore, we continuously review and improve our
corporate governance standards to ensure maximum compliance with the
relevant laws and codes.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board have applied the principles in the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) by adopting the code provisions of the CG
Code.

During the year, the Board has adopted and complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code (the “Code Provision”) in so far they are
applicable.

CULTURE

The Board believes that a healthy corporate culture underpins the long-term
business, economic success and sustainable growth of the Group. A strong
culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable performance
and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate citizen. The Company is
committed to developing a positive and progressive culture that is built on
its purpose, vision, mission and values. The followings are the key features
of the Company’s culture:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERER/B|E

Integrity

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of business ethics
and corporate governance across all our activities and operations. The
Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, and the required standards and norms are set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded in the Group’s employee
handbook, code of conduct and internal policies, including the anti-fraud
and anti-corruption policy and the whistle-blowing policy of the Group.

Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability
is one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a strong,
productive workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent and
produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company’s strategy in
business development and management is to achieve long-term, steady and
sustainable growth, while having due considerations from environment,
social and governance aspects.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and requires
all employees to reinforce their awareness of our corporate culture through
training and other activities. All of our new employees are required
to attend orientation and training programs so that they may better
understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn relevant
laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In addition, from
time to time, the Company will invite external experts to provide training
to our management personnel to improve their relevant knowledge and
management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose, values and
strategy of the Group are aligned.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiries with
all Directors and all of them confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SHEABE

EEg

The Board determines and keeps under review the objectives of the EERETAEEAE  WHEFLERN K
Group. It makes decisions on overall strategies and actions necessary for MEDNBHAB R ZMTHREERE RITEELIRE -
achieving these objectives, monitors and controls financial and operating ERREHMBREERE  BIESBEBCR I
performance, formulates appropriate policies, and identifies and ensures BRARBERATRECEERATH -EFTENE
best practices of corporate governance. The Board members are fully HAREBT TERUEEARSREREREE
committed to their roles and have acted in good faith to maximise the TH  UREBBAKELRTSMRASIERER 2
Shareholders’ value in the long run, and have aligned the Group’s goals BEMERAMA - AR EEREERTEEEER

and directions with the prevailing economic and market conditions. Daily EoEBEEeCHERBIENBEEMES L
operations and administration are delegated to the management. It has HERAREEBBAT BEEALNEESE
given clear directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with WMEBEELEAE  FAURKARTELAE K
respect to the circumstances where management should report back and EIVAGREIPESE

obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering

into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Board composition

ETEEN

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight members, RAFHREE EFSHNA\EKEAN  BIER
including five executive Directors and three independent non-executive BRTES R =B IIERTES (B ILIENTT
Directors (“INEDs”). The Board members during the year and up to the EF|) - FANEEAFHREY EFTNESL:

date of this annual report were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Cao Sheng (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Yong (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral

Mr. Luo Yingnan

Ms. Wang Yiren (Appointed on 20 December 2024)
Mr. Lan Yonggiang (Retired on 13 September 2024)
Mr. Shi Jun (Resigned on 20 January 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Qingbin

Mr. Fung Nam Shan

Mr. Sung Ka Woon (Appointed on 23 July 2024)
Mr. Wang Jinghua (Retired on 13 September 2024)

HITEE

BREE(EE)
RIB kA (7THAEE)
PRIEE LA
BEIBRE
FOATZE(RZZEZ

Bk E (R-E-WEHLA+=0RE)
BFEEE(RZEZRAF—AZ+H&HT

—ME+-—A-+BEESF)

BUHHITEE

BB LLE
HEWLE
REEELE(

RZBE_NF+A_+=AEZT)
TRERER_F

“MEAAT=REME)

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual report are RAEHRBHNESEREFBEENAFRE1Z3E

set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 13 to 16 EFX16E[EEREFIE] 8  BREAEES
of this annual report. Save as disclosed therein, none of the Directors has SN BiEmEEMEESHMK S BEMIMG X5
any financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships KEESKH Ath B RSB R o

with other members of the Board.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of its independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmation, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
and that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment, re-election and rotation of Directors

All Directors were not appointed for any specific terms except for Mr. Luo
Yingnan and Ms. Wang Yiren who were appointed for an initial term of
one year, which is automatically renewed for successive periods of one
year. All Directors are subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting (the “AGM") and at least once every three years on
a rotation basis in accordance with Article 108 of the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”). A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election at the AGM and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the
meeting which he retires. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates
are proposed and put forward to the Board by the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) as more fully explained
below under the section headed “Nomination Policy”.

Board independence

The Board should establish mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board and such mechanisms should be
reviewed annually by the Board. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms and made the
following observations:

(a) Three out of eight Directors are INEDs, satisfying the requirement of
the Listing Rules that at least one-third of the Board are INEDs;

(b) INEDs are encouraged to join Board committees to ensure
independent views are available at committee levels;

(©) The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of a
candidate who is nominated to be a new INED before appointment.
The Nomination Committee will also assess the continued
independence of the long-serving INEDs on an annual basis;

(d) Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable
if there is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may

materially affect his/her independence;

(e) All INEDs are required to submit a written confirmation to the
Company annually to confirm their independence;
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(f) All Directors are encouraged to seek further information and
documentation from the management on the matters to be
discussed at or outside Board and Board committee meetings;

(9 All Directors are aware of their right to seek assistance from the
Company's management and company secretary and, where
necessary, to seek independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company’s expense;

(h) All Directors are encouraged to express their views in an open and
candid manner at or outside Board and Board committee meetings;
and

(i) All Directors are reminded at Board and Board committee
meetings to disclose any material interest in contract, transaction
or arrangement and where such material interest does exist, shall
abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum on any
Board or committee resolution approving the same.

Directors’ training

In compliance with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge, skills and understanding of the Group
and its businesses or to update their skills and knowledge on the latest
development or changes in the relevant regulations, the Listing Rules
and corporate governance practices. The Company will also update the
Directors of any material changes in the rules and regulations from time to
time. According to the confirmations provided by the Directors, all Directors
have participated in the continuous professional developments during the
year.

Board Diversity Policy

On 29 August 2013, the Company adopted the board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the requirements set
out in the CG Code. The Company recognises that Board diversity is an
essential element contributing to the sustainable development of the
Company. In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
the skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and educational background or
professional experience. All Board appointments are based on merits and
considered against a variety of objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the Company has a Board and the Nomination
Committee consisting of at least one director of a different gender. The
Board considers that the gender diversity in respect of the composition of
the Board and the Nomination Committee, taking into account the business
model and specific needs of the Company, is satisfactory and in compliance
of the CG Code.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Board Diversity Policy and is satisfied that the Board Diversity Policy
has been properly implemented and is effective.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including senior
management) for the year is 46:22. Oil and Liquefied Chemical Terminal
industry has generally been short of female talents due to social and culture
traditions. Against such industry background, the Group will do its best to
strive for the balance of gender diversity in workforce. Under such criterion,
the total gender diversity of the Group is acceptable at present.

Nomination policy

The Company has a nomination policy of having a board of directors
with a diversity of skills and experience. The selection and proposed
appointment of the Directors are submitted to the Nomination Committee
for consideration prior to Board approval, and the re-election of Directors
is conducted in accordance with the Articles. The criteria of assessing a
candidate include his/her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to
participate in the affairs of the Company including the attendance of Board
meetings and serving on committees, to bring business experience to the
Board and to contribute to the Board diversity. If the candidate is proposed
to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director, his/her
independence shall be assessed in accordance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules. The totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall be evaluated in assessing his/her suitability.
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Attendance of meetings HESER
During the year, the Company held 8 Board meetings, 3 remuneration FA RRAAIBRTNRELZEEHE  ZAFTMHE
committee meetings, 3 nomination committee meetings, 3 audit committee ?-\ B “AREREESEE ZRBERZEE
meetings and 1 general meeting. The attendance records of the Directors at RN ABRREAG BFEZHEZZTEEZN
such meetings are as follows: REETINT
Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend
HE/CEREREERE
Remuneration Nomination Audit
Board committee committee committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings AGM
yMzEe REZE® ERZEEE
Ezggs g3 Ef g8 RREFXE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Cao Sheng EREE 8/8 N/A T A NATER NATER 171
Mr. Liu Yong R 718 N/ANE A N/AT N/ANE 11
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral BEELE 8/8 33 33 N/ANE 11
Mr. Luo Yingnan BEFEE 8/8 /AT NAT & NATEA "
Ms. Wang Yiren EZ/\Z!Zi 171 N/AiE A N/A 73 R N/A 73 N/ATER
(Appointed on 20 December 2024) (RZZEZmF+=
AZtHEZT)
Mr. Lan Yonggiang EkEisE 4/4 N/ATE A NATER NATER 11
(Retired on 13 September 2024) (R—ZE-mEAA
+=HRfE)
Mr. Shi Jun (Resigned on 20 January 2025)  AE%4E 717 N/ATiE NATER NATER 11
(RZZZ8&-7
ZTHEE)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Tang Qingbin BEREE 8/8 33 33 33 11
Mr. Fung Nam Shan BRI AE 8/8 3/3 33 23 1”1
Mr. Sung Ka Woon REELE 5/5 17 11 11 11
(Appointed on 23 July 2024) (RZZEZEF+A
ZT=REZA)
Mr. Wang Jinghua THERE 3/4 12 172 112 1/1
(Retired on 13 September 2024) (RZZE-mFNA
+=ARA)

Every Board member has full and timely access to Board papers and related
materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
company secretary of the Company, and has the liberty to seek external
professional advice if so required.

Insurance

The Company has attached much importance to the risk management
about Directors’ liabilities and has arranged appropriate liability insurance
for the Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance
coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”), established in compliance with the CG Code, currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and one executive
Director, is responsible for reviewing and evaluating the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the Company and
making recommendations to the Board from time to time, and reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share option schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2025, no share
option was granted under the share option scheme of the Company, and
no share award scheme was in effect.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of reference
prepared by reference to the suggested terms of reference stated under
the relevant code provisions of the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee has been uploaded to the Stock Exchange’s and
the Company’s websites.

Directors’ remuneration policy

A directors’ remuneration policy has been adopted. It aims to set out the
Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid to executive Directors
and non-executive Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration policy sets out the remuneration structure
that allows the Company to attract, motivate and retain qualified Directors
who can manage and lead the Company in achieving its strategic objective
and contribute to the Company’s performance and sustainable growth,
and to provide Directors with a balanced and competitive remuneration.
The remuneration policy is, therefore, aiming at being competitive but
not excessive. To achieve this, remuneration package is determined with
reference to a matrix of factors, including the individual performance,
qualification and experience of Directors concerned and prevailing industry
practice. It will be reviewed and, if necessary, updated from time to time to
ensure its continued effectiveness.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee, established in compliance with the CG Code,
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and two
executive Directors, is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of Directors and management of the Board
succession.

The Nomination Committee has adopted written terms of reference
prepared by reference to the suggested terms of reference stated under
the relevant code provisions of the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee has been uploaded to the Stock Exchange’s and the
Company’s websites.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules and the suggested terms of reference stated under the
relevant code provisions of the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr.
Tang Qingbin. The Audit Committee is responsible for the review of the
Group's accounting principles, practices internal control procedures and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the interim and final
results of the Group prior to recommending to the Board for approval.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee has been uploaded to the
Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s websites.

Three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year to
review and approve the financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and the six months ended 30 September 2024, to
make recommendation to the Board on the selection of the auditor of the
Company and to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
holds meetings with representatives of the independent auditor to consider
the scope of its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness
of non-audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also
makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of
the independent auditor.

During the year, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe") was re-appointed as
the auditor of the Company and to hold office until the conclusion of the
next AGM.
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The following table sets forth the types of, and estimated fees for, the
principal audit services and non-audit services provided by Crowe to the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2025:

T%%ﬁﬁ”.m/uiﬁ/\%@i_?_ﬁi )EJ +*
HIEFERAREERENEERBURSE LIEZH
RISV IRR R T E S

Fees paid/payable

B ENER

HK$'000

Services rendered PR it AR 7% FERT
Audit services ZE RS 1,300
Non-audit services* L E R > 5,070
Total HEt 6,370
* The non-audit services include the professional services rendered in * FEIZ BUAR 75 B 1E B U BE Bt 2 A B e R B BA 7 3R

connection with the acquisition of associates and the interim financial PRt e HR AR ©

statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities of (i) reviewing risk management
and internal control to the Audit Committee; and (ii) designing,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems to the management. The Group’s internal audit staff is responsible
for analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, performs annual review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management function. Having performed such review, the Board considers
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems in place for the
year ended 31 March 2025 are effective and adequate, and no material
internal control failings, weaknesses or deficiencies have been identified
during the course of the review.

The management shall report to the Board as soon as practicable for any

event which may constitute inside information, and the Board shall decide
to make relevant disclosure in a timely manner, if required.
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Anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy

In compliance with Code Provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy setting out guidelines and
the minimum standards of conducts, the applicable laws and regulation,
the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the Group defend
against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably suspected case
of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management
or through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group adopts a zero
tolerance policy on any forms of fraud and corruption among all employees
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group,
and in its business dealing with third parties. The Board will review the anti-
fraud and anti-corruption policy and mechanism periodically to ensure its
effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the prevention,
deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of fraud and corruption.

Whistle-blowing policy

In compliance with Code Provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a whistle-blowing policy providing employees and relevant third
parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and
debtors) with guidance and reporting channels to the designated person. A
separate email account (whistle-blowing@energyintl.com.hk) has been set
up for this purpose. All reported matters will be investigated independently
and, in the meantime, all information received from a whistle-blower and
its identity will be kept confidential. The Board will regularly review the
whistle-blowing policy and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company in August 2022. Mr. Chong is a fellow member of each of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. He is responsible to the Board for
ensuring the Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations
are followed. According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, Mr. Chong had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

Effective communication

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders. To ensure that the
Shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company, the Company has established several channels to communicate
with the Shareholders as follows:

(a) corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports
and circulars are issued in printed form and are available on the
website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and on the
website of the Company at website.energyintinv.wisdomir.com;

(b) announcements and press releases are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(@} corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;
and

(d) AGM and extraordinary general meeting (“"EGM") provide a forum
for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with
the Directors and senior management.

The AGM is supposed to enable the Shareholders to exchange views with
the Board. The Chairman of the Board and the Chairmen of each of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
are requested to attend the AGM to be available to answer the questions of
the Shareholders. Separate resolutions will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM on each substantially separate issue, including the re-election of
the retiring Directors. The shareholders communication policy is available
on the website of the Company. Shareholders may, at any time, direct
questions, request for publicly available information and provide comments
and suggestions to the Directors or management of the Company. Such
questions, requests and comments can be addressed to the Board by mail
to the Company’s head office, currently situated at Units 4307-08, Office
Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, or by
email to info@energyintl.com.hk.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders communication policy and considered it to be effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, an EGM shall be convened on the
written requisition of one or more Shareholders holding as at the date of
deposit of the written requisition not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings, such
requisition being in writing and deposited for the attention of the Board or
the company secretary of the Company. The written requisition shall specify
the purpose of requiring the EGM and signed by the requisitionist(s). If
within 21 days of such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene the
EGM, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
Shareholders at Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law,
However, Shareholders may request the Company to convene an EGM
following the procedures under Article 64 of the Articles as set out above.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring
Director, shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice
in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall
have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office at least
seven clear days before the date of the general meeting.

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person to stand for
election as a Director at the AGM, the following documents must be validly
served at the Company’s head office or the registration office within the
period specified in Article 113 of the Articles, namely, (1) his/her notice
of intention to propose a resolution to elect a nominated candidate as a
Director at the AGM; (2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of
the candidate’s willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s
information as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules; and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication
of his/her personal data.

SHEABE

BRREBMRRENREZEF

RIFAAFE 64 RIEXEEERKZ AMFE D
PRAERBEERBRRE LREZEHRA L+
DZ—H—EBRZERRIRERE@ERAEFK
RERIRE  ZERAUNEAFRARITESS
AR ZREAME - EEERATIAEREH
BREFIAGZAEN THERERE - WiR
HZAERE 21 HNEEREERRESIAS
REBRALAUHERTABRAKRE - MARA
ARRDBERATENAERRLIERALRE
EREBHAREMEEZAEMAX °

BRRBRRASLREERZER

MERERAADEL EHEXAFRRNERAE L
REFORFSR - AW - RIRATRIR £ AT #AR R
FoAFZBFERANRRARBRRSHIARS

BRREBESREAZER

REBAE NG RREZERIH HEAL
AEFEBRNEABRRARGEABEEERML (BE
FHBSEFARIN  BRIERBEBRRBZA
T2REENEMBY ERZXREALER
RESENEEBNENBRRASEMAMNES L
BAEREXZ@MEENEMPELR -

At H—2RREBERBMARKRRBAFTFRE
225 AERBRIZEN3EEENHBER
18 T 21 ST B RUR EE AN N B B 48 3% =5 R ok Rk i i
EECIMZERERARFBEFAE LIE2HE
ZERAREANTESORAZENERBAE
QYHERAFREAEERPEBESENRNE
R)VIEE EMHEEEI35IQKEEATFTHENE
RABBREANER ROEBRAFREAEBATEER
EAERHREE -

HEREBREERERAT / —T N,/ —HFFH 29



30

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERER/B|E

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopts a dividend policy. The Board shall consider the
following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

o current and prospective financial performance of the Company;
o growth and investment opportunities;

o other macro and micro economic factors; and

o other factors/events that the Board may deem as relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the
applicable laws and the Articles.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and for ensuring that the financial
statements are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, Crowe, about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 53 to 61 of
this annual report.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a
general meeting must be taken by poll. As such, all the resolutions set out
in the notice of the forthcoming AGM will be voted by poll.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year. The latest version of the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company is available at the Company’s website
and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the leasing of oil and liquefied chemical terminal
together with its storage and logistics facilities, the trading of oil and
liquefied chemical products (which was temporarily suspended during the
year ended 31 March 2024) and the trading of electronic products. Details
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are set out in
note 42(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication
of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” set out on pages 4 to 6 and pages 7 to 12 respectively of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the Consolidated Income
Statement and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on pages
62 to 63 and page 64 respectively.

The state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2025 is set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 65 to 66.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect
of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results of the
Group for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2021, years ended 31 March
2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025, and the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group as at each of the reporting dates.

EEERE

E=ER=ES
FEMIEREK

ERERAREARFE 2 KB

TEXRBREBOE

RRBIZEEXBRAREER -HEXZEMBE QA
RERERREBRBELIRGEERERTR
YmEE BEERmARELECIR (ERBED
ZZOF=A=+—HALFEEEFELE) UARE
EETEM ARAIR_Z_AF=A=+—H
CEEWBRARAZHBHN GV B MKW
42(a) °

BERBIGRPIMRSPIREZZT B RE— T
M A - BAEZNER B AT e e 2 R R N A
B TR 22 B0 #8840 DA % 7N 52 B 26745 R 3R RT A 3 FR ) B
R A2BAFHROBNEIEEE6AME [T
FHREI—SHRETEEEN2EMBIERETHR
K Hr ] —4h e

RERRE

AEEARFEZEEN BN E2AEFEIR
RFEAB ZEFARERIGEAREZEBART -

RZZEZRF=ZA=1+—8B xEEZHIER
FO5EEF66 A ZRAMBIMRREK -

EETEBRNAFE 2 EABRE

MBERBE

Tt AREEHE T - —F=F=+—HIt
+H@ER BE-_ZE-_—_F —TE-_=F.-F
—ERZZE_RAF=A=F+—BHLEFEZET
BRAEBURAEEANRSHEDRCZEE - &
B R IR AE RS

EREBREERERAT / —T N/ —HFFH 31



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

Results X145
Fifteen
Year ended 31 March months ended
BEZA=+-HLFE 31 March
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HE
—E-—F
“A=f+—-H
—ECHE —EomE —E-=F —E-- Ht+Aa@EA
TER TRL AT AT AT
Revenue (continuing and discontinued Uz (B ELE KRB A IE
operations) WE%£H) 151,679 242,245 366,770 520,579 193,148
Profit from continuing and discontinued FE{5# E& % K 24 1F
operations attribute to: BEEB RN
Owners of the Company AREHEA 256,330 51,990 89,308 12,762 6,726
Non-controlling interests FE R R 211,051 43,247 36,955 29,174 52,133
467,381 95,237 126,263 41,936 58,859
Assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests EE BENLIEERES
As at 31 March
R=ZA=1+—-8
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_RE —E-E “E-C=F —E-CF —E-—F
TER THL THL TEL TAT
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,302,254 1,516,723 1,572,184 1,983,897 1,832,565
Current assets REEE 430,698 647,945 426,617 365,373 431,568
Total assets BERE 2,732,952 2,164,668 1,998,801 2,349,270 2,264,133
Current liabilities mEERE 77,280 206,320 219,185 500,724 342,254
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 855,720 604,285 606,477 608,678 756,550
Total liabilities AEAE 933,000 810,605 825,662 1,109,402 1,098,804
Net assets BEFA 1,799,952 1,354,063 1,173,139 1,239,868 1,165,329
Non-controlling interests R ER 545,723 336,712 304,025 337,920 300,532
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 19(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements during the year in the investment properties of
the Group are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital during the year are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company did not have any treasury shares (as defined in Rule 1.01 of
the Listing Rules) as at 31 March 2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION INVOLVING
SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE

On 28 April 2023, the Company and the Subscriber, namely Cosmic Shine
International Limited (“Cosmic Shine”), a company legally and beneficially
owned as to 50% by Mr. Cao Sheng and 20% by Mr. Liu Yong, who are
the executive Directors, entered into a subscription agreement on 28 April
2023 (the "Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which the Subscriber
conditionally agreed to subscribe for 360,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at the subscription price of HK$0.416 per share (“Subscription
Share”) for a total consideration of approximately HK$149.8 million in
cash; and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue the
Subscription Shares to the Subscriber under the specific mandate and the
whitewash waiver (the “Subscription”).

All conditions of the Subscription Agreement have been fulfilled and the
completion took place on 30 August 2023 in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement. Upon completion, 360,000,000
Subscription Shares were duly allotted and issued by the Company to the
Subscriber at the subscription price of HK$0.416 per Subscription Share
under the specific mandate obtained from the independent Shareholders at
the EGM held on 18 August 2023.

Details of the Subscription were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 28 April 2023, 9 May 2023, 16 May 2023, 16 June 2023, 21 June
2023, 14 July 2023, 21 July 2023, 28 July 2023, 18 August 2023 and 30
August 2023 and circular dated 28 July 2023.
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As at 31 March 2025, utilisation of the net proceeds of approximately
HK$146.8 million is as follows:

R-ZZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 FIERE\EFEY
146,800,000 T 2 EBVFAB R T ¢

Amount Amount
utilised as at unutilised as at
Net proceeds 31 March 2025 31 March 2025
R=-ZB-HF R-ZFT-EHF
=Z=A=+—Hz =ZA=t+—H=z2
FIEREFRE CEASE REAHSE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEET BEAT
Repayment of the promissory note EEARER 5.2 (5.2) -
Repayment of the bank loan EERITER 141.6 (141.6) -
146.8 (146.8) -
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BLRBERE

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year are set out in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
respectively. As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately
HK$667,815,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 99.3% of the Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 75.2%.

During the year, the purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 76.1% of the Group’s total purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to
approximately 52.9%.

None of the Directors, any of their associates or Shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital), had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and/or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cao Sheng (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Yong (Chief executive officer)

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral

Mr. Luo Yingnan

Ms. Wang Yiren (Appointed on 20 December 2024)
Mr. Lan Yonggiang (Retired on 13 September 2024)
Mr. Shi Jun (Resigned on 20 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tang Qingbin

Mr. Fung Nam Shan

Mr. Sung Ka Woon (Appointed on 23 July 2024)
Mr. Wang Jinghua (Retired on 13 September 2024)

Pursuant to the Articles, Directors retiring at the upcoming AGM will be
eligible for re-election. Further details of the Directors’ retirement and re-
election will be set out in a circular of the Company dispatched together
with the notice of the AGM.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 13 to 16 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Luo Yingnan and Ms. Wang Yiren has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of one year, subject to further
renewal, and will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by the
Company or the Director has not been re-elected as a director of the
Company or has been removed by Shareholders at any of its general
meeting or is disqualified from acting as a director of the Company in
accordance with the Articles.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of the Directors during the year are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity against liability
incurred by Directors and officers of the Group is currently in force and was
in force throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or were in existence during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be
entered in the register referred to therein pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules, are set out below:

Long positions
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EEREETBRAERKRMD - HHE
BRIORES2EBERKE

R-ZE_RF=ZA=+—RB ARAEERIE
TTBRAERARBREEMBERER (E&RE
R EE GG ([ 5 RHE D) EXVER) 2Bk
- HEROHEFTHRECREIZZ MAERK
PIFEXVEREE 7 R 870 R B AN AR 2 B) Ko B 32 Ffy » 3k
ARIEE H R E 5P 5 352 (AR E R % AR E T
2B RMaLsk - SRE ETRAIMNECGME
BRETRREBANARNR R MBI BRIKRH
Fan

¥

mp

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share

Number of capital of the

Name of Directors Capacity Shares held Company

LERA VN

EBRITRA

BEEnE E=7) FRERGEAE BHABESHL

Mr. Cao Sheng (“Mr. Cao"”) Interest of controlled corporation 575,431,372* 53.25%
BERAEE(ERED R LR

Mr. Liu Yong (“Mr. Liu") Interest of controlled corporation 575,431,372* 53.25%

BIBEHRE(RBIKED R EEER

* According to the filings under Disclosure of Interest (the “DI Filings”)
under Part XV of the SFO retrieved by the Company from public records,
575,431,372 Shares were held by Cosmic Shine, which is in turn legally
and beneficially owned as to 50% by Mr. Cao and as to 20% by Mr. Liu,
both being executive Directors. Cosmic Shine is regarded as controlled
corporations of Mr. Cao and Mr. Liu and therefore, Mr. Cao and Mr. Liu are
deemed to be interested in 575,431,372 Shares held by Cosmic Shine. The
deemed interest under Part XV of the SFO of Mr. Cao and Mr. Liu duplicate
with each other completely.

* BERARARAKLDEREZELFRHEE
BIEXVHBE T2 HEZEBER R ((EXEESR
) 575,431,372 B&B&1% F Cosmic Shine #5745 -
i Cosmic Shine Al A ITE EEH LA KR L4
DRIAERE R EAS50% N 20% #E 2 ° Cosmic
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as any Directors are aware based on the DI
Filings, persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which were required to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Long positions
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3}

Approximate
percentage of
issued share capital

Name of Shareholder Capacity Shares of the Company

LER YN

ERITRA

RRERB g% idvi) BABEDE

Cosmic Shine Beneficial owner 575,431,372 53.25%
Cosmic Shine EmlEAA
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All the interests stated above represent long positions in the Shares. As at
31 March 2025, no short positions were recorded in the register maintained
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware up to 31 March
2025, no other person had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of the Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the AGM held on 29
September 2023, the Company adopted its current share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to provide incentives and rewards to Directors and employees of the
Group and the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company (the “Eligible Participants”) and providing the
Eligible Participants with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in
the Company to align their economic interests with those of the Group
with the view to achieving the principal objectives of: (a) motivating
the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group; and (b) attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining ongoing business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be beneficial to the Group.
A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme can be
founded on pages 23 to 36 of the Company’s circular dated 6 September
2023.

The Share Option Scheme had a life span of ten years running from 29
September 2023 to 28 September 2033. Under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant options to the
Eligible Participants to subscribe for Shares. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) was 108,056,289
Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
Share Option Scheme on 29 September 2023. The maximum entitlement
of each Eligible Participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue, provided that the maximum entitlement for any grantee
being a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
or their associates shall be capped at 0.1% of the Shares in issue. Any grant
exceeding these individual limits shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval,
with the relevant grantees and their associates abstaining from voting.
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The options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be subject
to @ minimum vesting period of 12 months during which unvested options
shall not become vested and exercisable. Any shorter vesting period in
respect of options granted to employee participants must be approved by
the Board and/or the Remuneration Committee (for options granted to the
Directors or senior managers) at the Directors’ discretion, provided that such
grantee(s) has been specifically identified by the Board before granting such
approval. The exercise price of the options shall not be less than the highest
of: (a) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must
be a business day; (b) an amount equivalent to the average closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant
option; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant. An offer
shall be made to an Eligible Participant in writing in such form as the Board
may from time to time determine requiring the Eligible Participant to be
bound by the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and shall remain open
for acceptance by the Eligible Participant to whom an offer is made for a
period as specified in the letter of offer, by which the Eligible Participant
must accept the offer together with the making of a non-refundable
payment of the consideration for the grant in favour of the Company.

An offer for the grant of options under the Share Option Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for a certain period as specified in the letter
of offer (the “Acceptance Period”) and if an eligible participant wishes to
accept the offer, he/she should do so by the end of the Acceptance Period
together with the making of a non-refundable payment of the consideration
for the grant in favour of the Company. The consideration for the grant
may be HK$1.00 or such other nominal sum in any currency as the Board
may determine and specify in the offer letter. The Acceptance Period can be
determined by the Board at their sole discretion when making the offer for
grant but based on past practice of the Company. The Acceptance Period is
normally not less than 3 business days and not more than 14 business days
after the day of offer, provided always that the Acceptance Period shall not
extend beyond (i) the 10-year life span of the Share Option Scheme (or its
date of termination, if earlier); (ii) the exercise period of the options being
offered for grant; and/or (iii) the date on which the grantee ceases to be an
eligible participant.
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No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year
under review and there was no outstanding share option as at 31 March
2025. No share option grant was effectively made and accepted under the
Share Option Scheme since its adoption on 29 September 2023, nor has
the Scheme Mandate Limit has ever been refreshed. As at 31 March 2025
and 2024, options to subscribe for 108,056,289 Shares (representing 10%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company) are available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this report, the Share
Option Scheme still had a remaining life span of 8 years and 3 months.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year, save for the Share Option Scheme as previously mentioned,
the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreements, and there
did not subsist any equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company
as at 31 March 2025.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Introduction

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2024 (the
“Announcement”) and the supplemental announcement of the Company
dated 29 August 2024, the Company acquired 28% economic interest
of Shenzhen Xinheyuan Technology Co. Ltd (the “Opco”), a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Opco Group”) on a look-through basis by acquiring 40% shareholding
of Prosperous Splendor Global Limited (the “Target Company”, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Target Group”) for a consideration of
RMB200,000,000 from an independent third party (the “Vendor”).

Reasons for Using the Contractual Arrangements

The reason for the Target Group and the registered shareholders of 70% of
the registered capital of the Opco (the “Registered Shareholders”) to adopt
the Contractual Arrangements (as defined in the Announcement) was
that the relevant business as operated by the Opco, namely, value-added
telecommunications services business, is subject to foreign investment
restriction under the laws of the PRC, such that the Target Company would
not be able to directly own or hold more than 50% equity interest in the
Opco. Foreign investment activities in the PRC are governed by the Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment
(2021) which was promulgated and are amended from time to time jointly
by National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of
Commerce of the PRC. Value-added telecommunications services business
is included in the categories of industries in which foreign investment is
restricted to a non-controlling equity interest of not exceeding 50%.
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According to the Regulations on the Administration of Foreign-
invested Telecommunication Enterprises (2016 Amended), (i) the ratio
of investment by a foreign investor in a company providing value-added
telecommunications services shall not exceed 50%, and (ii) a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications services
company shall have a good track record and operational experience in
providing value-added telecommunications business (the “Track Record
Requirement”) in the PRC. In this regard, the Company was advised by
its PRC legal advisers that the PRC government has not promulgated
any detailed rules, measures, guidelines or standard of reference as to
what would constitute such Track Record Requirement. In addition, the
Administrative Measures on Internet Information Services issued by the PRC
State Council on 25 September 2000 and amended on 8 January 2011
regulates the provision of internet information services, requiring profitable
internet information service providers to obtain the ICP (Internet Content
Provider) License from the relevant authorities. Given that the Target
Company was not formerly engaged in telecommunication business, there
appear to be significant uncertainty as to whether the Target Company
can satisfy the Track Record Requirement. The Target Company is of the
view that it is not viable for it to hold the Opco Group directly through
equity ownership. In line with common practice in industries subject to
foreign investment restrictions in the PRC, the Target Company decides
that it should gain effective control over the Opco Group and receive the
economic benefits generated by it through the Contractual Arrangements
using variable interest entity structure.

Summary of the Major Terms of the Structured
Contracts

In light of such foreign ownership prohibition, Shenzhen Hengsheng Global
Technology Co., Ltd. (the “"Wfoe"), a wholly foreign owned enterprise
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability and indirectly
wholly owned by the Target Company, entered into the Structured
Contracts (as defined in the Announcement) to control and capture 70% of
the economic benefits of the Opco Group.
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Set out below is a summary of the major terms of the Structured Contracts:

()

(i)

Exclusive Service Agreement

An exclusive service agreement (the “Exclusive Service Agreement”)
dated 11 April 2024 has been entered into between Wfoe
and Opco, pursuant to which Wfoe agreed to provide to Opco
consulting services including (i) market research; (ii) business
development and market consultation; (iii) consulting services in
respect of labor matters; (iv) construction and maintenance of
information networks and network security; (v) technical support
for software and technology; and (vi) other services in relation to its
business operations. Under the Exclusive Service Agreement, Wfoe
is entitled to charge service fees to Opco which is equivalent to
70% of the combined net profits of the Opco Group.

Business Cooperation Agreement

A business cooperation agreement (the “Business Cooperation
Agreement”) dated 11 April 2024 has been entered into between
Wrfoe, Opco and all its shareholders (i.e. the Registered Shareholders
(namely, Mr. Sun Yuan Dong (“Mr. Sun”) and Mr. Zhan Guang
("Mr. Zhan")) and Shenzhen Longguang Information Technology
Co., Ltd (“Longguang”), collectively, the “Opco Shareholders”),
pursuant to which: (a) Opco shall not (and Opco Shareholders
shall procure Opco not to), without first obtaining Wfoe's consent,
make certain material decisions such as merger, reorganisation,
acquisition, investment, disposal, offering of loan, incurring of debt,
provision of guarantee, security or encumbrance, hire and fire of
key management, amendment of constitution, increase, decrease
or alteration of registered capital, distribution of dividend, material
contracts, liquidation, etc.; (b) Opco shall (and Opco Shareholders
shall procure that Opco does so) accept suggestions raised by Wfoe
over key management decisions, conduct business in accordance
with good standards and practices, provide information to Wfoe,
etc.; and (c) Opco shall not declare dividends to its shareholders
without the prior consent of Wfoe and if it does so, Longguang
may retain its 30% entitlement but the Registered Shareholders
shall pass on the 70% entitlement to Wfoe.
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@iii)

(iv)

Loan Agreement

A loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) dated 11 April 2024 has
been entered into between the Wfoe (as lender) and the existing
Registered Shareholders (i.e. Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhan) (as borrowers),
pursuant to which the Wfoe has granted to the Registered
Shareholders a term loan in the principal amount of RMB301.7
million for a term of 10 years (which will be automatically
renewable for successive periods of five years unless terminated by
notice by the Wfoe). Under the terms of the Loan Agreement, (i)
the Registered Shareholders are not permitted to repay any loan
without prior written consent of the Wfoe; (ii) the loan shall be
secured by the equity pledge over 70% equity interest in Opco held
by the Registered Shareholders (the “Pledged Equity”) given under
the Equity Pledge Agreement (as defined below), and may be repaid
through the exercise of the option over the Pledged Equity granted
under the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement (as defined below);
but (iii) save and except the Pledged Equity, the lender shall have no
recourse to other assets of the borrower(s).

Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement

An exclusive purchase option agreement (the “Exclusive Purchase
Option Agreement”) dated 11 April 2024 has been entered
into between the Wfoe, the Opco and the existing Registered
Shareholders (i.e. Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhan), pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably granted to the Wfoe or its
designee(s) an exclusive option to purchase, at any time if and
when permitted under the PRC laws, all or part of their equity
interests in the Opco at the agreed price, being the higher of (i) the
principal of the loan granted under the Loan Agreement; and (ii)
the lowest price permissible under the PRC laws, and requiring the
Registered Shareholders to return to the Wfoe or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered Shareholders had received from
the Wfoe for the acquisition of the equity interests in the Opco.
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Equity Pledge Agreement

An equity pledge agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”)
dated 11 April 2024 has been entered into between the Wfoe, the
Opco and the existing Registered Shareholders (i.e. Mr. Sun and Mr.
Zhan), pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders (as pledgors)
pledged 68.6% and 1.4% equity interests in the Opco in favour
of the Wfoe (as pledgee) to guarantee the amounts due under the
Loan Agreement and the performance of Opco’s obligations under
the Exclusive Service Agreement. Pursuant to the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the Wfoe is entitled to all of the benefits arising from
the pledged equity interests including dividends.

Voting Right Proxy Agreements

Voting right proxy agreements (the “Voting Right Proxy
Agreements”) dated 11 April 2024 have been entered into between
the Wfoe, the Opco and the Opco Shareholders, pursuant to which
the Opco Shareholders (as appointers) granted to the Wfoe the
power to exercise the rights as the registered shareholders of the
Opco including the rights to (i) vote in a shareholders’ meeting,
sign minutes and resolutions, (i) amend the articles of association,
(iii) appoint, select or replace directors, supervisors and senior
executives, (iv) transfer or otherwise dispose of the equity interest in
the Opco, (v) increase or reduce the registered capital of the Opco,
(vi) merge, divide, dissolve or liquidate the Opco, and (vii) exercise
all of the rights of the registered shareholders of the Opco under
the PRC laws or the articles of association of the Opco. Under the
terms of the Voting Right Proxy Agreements, the Opco Shareholders
may not transfer all or any part of their equity interest in the Opco
without the prior written consent of the Wfoe.

Spousal Undertakings

Undertakings (the “Spousal Undertakings”) dated 11 April 2024
have been executed by the existing Registered Shareholders (i.e.
Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhan), and their respective spouses such that the
relevant spouse recognised that the equity interests held by the
relevant Registered Shareholder in the Opco do not form part of
their matrimonial property and containing a renunciation by the
spouse of the Registered Shareholder on any right to the Opco.

)

(vi)

(vii)
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Risks Associated with the Use of the Contractual
Arrangements

(1)

FIL Law

On 15 March 2019, the Foreign Investment Law (the “FIL Law")
was formally passed by the 13th National People’s Congress
and has taken effect on 1 January 2020 and became the legal
foundation for foreign investment in the PRC. However, the FIL
Law does not explicitly stipulate the Contractual Arrangements as
a form of foreign investment. As advised by the Company’s PRC
legal adviser, Contractual Arrangements are not currently specified
as foreign investment under the FIL Law. Assuming that no future
laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by the State
Council were to change the present state of law by categorizing
Contractual Arrangements as a form of foreign investment, the
Structured Contracts and the Contractual Arrangements thereunder
should continue to be legal, valid and binding on the parties.

Notwithstanding the above, the PRC legal advisers have advised the
Company that there exist uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of the PRC laws and regulations regarding the
performance and enforcement of Contractual Arrangements. As
such, there can be no assurance that the relevant PRC regulatory
authorities will not, in the future, determine that the Contractual
Arrangements are in breach of applicable PRC laws. If the
Contractual Arrangements are found to be in breach of any existing
or future PRC laws, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities would
have broad discretion in dealing with such violations, including
revoking the business and operating licenses held by the Opco
Group, restricting or prohibiting any transactions between the Wfoe
and the Opco, imposing penalties or other requirements with which
the Wfoe or the Opco may not be able to comply, or requiring the
Wifoe or the Opco to restructure the relevant ownership, control
or operating structure of the relevant company or its business.
The imposition of any of these penalties or requirements could
result in a material and adverse effect on its business, and could
even result in the Wfoe or the Opco being required to cease the
relevant businesses completely. To the best knowledge, information
and belief of the Directors having made all reasonable enquiries,
as of the date of this report, the Vendor, the Target Company,
Prosperous Splendor Investments Limited (a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability and wholly owned by the Target
Company) and Wfoe have not encountered any interference from
any governing bodies in operating its business through the Opco
under the Contractual Arrangements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Tax implications

Under the PRC laws and regulations, arrangements and transactions
among related parties may be subject to audit or challenge by
the PRC tax authorities. The Target Group could face material
adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities determine
that the Contractual Arrangements do not represent arm’s length
negotiations and consequently adjust the income and expenses of
the Wfoe for the PRC tax purposes in the form of a transfer pricing
adjustment. A transfer pricing adjustment could adversely affect
the Target Group’s financial position by increasing the relevant
tax liabilities of the Wfoe without reducing the tax liabilities of the
Opco. In addition, the PRC tax authorities may impose late payment
fees and other penalties on the Wfoe for any unpaid taxes. As
a result, any transfer pricing adjustment could have a material
adverse effect on the Target Group’s financial position and results
of operations.

Under the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the Wfoe is
granted the exclusive option to, when the relevant PRC laws and
regulations permit, purchase from the Registered Shareholders all
or part of their equity interests in the Opco at a pre-determined
option exercise price. In the event that the relevant PRC authorities
determine that the option exercise price is below the market value,
the Wfoe may be required to pay enterprise income tax with
reference to the market value such that the amount of tax may
be substantial, which could materially and adversely affect the
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Target
Group.

Effectiveness of management and flow of economic benefits
through the Contractual Arrangements

The Target Group relies on the Wfoe's rights under the Structured
Contracts to effect changes in the management of the Opco and
make an impact on its business decision making, as opposed to
exercising its rights directly as a shareholder. If the Opco or the
Registered Shareholders refuse to cooperate, it will take time for
the Target Group to enforce the contract to exert effective control,
exposing the Target Group to time delay, litigation uncertainties
and business disruptions in the meantime.
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No insurance covering the risks of the Contractual
Arrangements

The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to
the Contractual Arrangements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder. If any risk arises from the Contractual Arrangements
in the future, such as those affecting the enforceability of the
Structured Contracts, the results of the Group may be adversely
affected. To mitigate the risk, the Group will continue to monitor
the relevant legal and operational environment from time to time.

Economic risks of the Company

The Wfoe, as the primary beneficiary of the Opco, is not obligated
under any of the Structured Contracts to share the losses of the
Opco or provide financial support to the Opco. Moreover, as a
limited liability company, the Opco is solely liable for its own debts
and losses. However, since the relevant parties have already entered
into the Structured Contracts, the financial results of the Opco will
be consolidated into the financial statements of the Target Group
and it is likely that the Target Group’s business and financial position
will be affected if the Opco suffer losses or fails to obtain the
requisite licenses and approvals to continue operating its business in
the PRC.

Arrangement when potential conflicts of interest arise

The Wfoe relies on the Structured Contracts to exercise control
over and to draw the economic benefits from the Opco. The Wfoe
may not be able to provide sufficient incentives to the Registered
Shareholders for the purpose of encouraging them to act in the best
interests of the Opco, other than stipulating the relevant obligations
in the Structured Contracts. The Registered Shareholders may refuse
to comply with the Structured Contracts in the event of conflicts
of interest or deterioration of their relationship with the Wfoe, the
results of which may have a material adverse impact on the Wfoe's
business, prospects and results of operation.

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

4)

()

(6)

W AR B E A Z TR B AR g

AEBENRBEY TREESHLHEREE
THETHRZBERNER - e T H
PBRESERNRR NFEEBEAON
HITHEMRR  AEENEERERET
MFE - REERRE  NEBESESE TR
ERMARZEZRLREERE

2K 2 A B AZ I B

SMBELEIEREERRMNIERTA -
REEFEBEEANLESENEEER
IR EE R M E E R BRI o It
O HERBIREMELDT - EEAREEN
AEEEAGHNEFLER - AWM ARE
SRR EBEAY  EERRNY
BEEENEREENPBRRAES
R MEXRARRIBEICREDRFNRD
HAaEBKEEBNBEERIIE B
KENEBRBEIRAKZ BT E -

BALE Tt B RIFHI LI

SMEBECRRBEBEASNBEEERT]
TTEEGE R EBRGEENT - BREHE
HEAKNMATANERELI  IEBED
ERVEARKBDELRRAEE R RR
ENZITEMRRSRE D - 25
BERATREMN RN B RYEINHBE D
ENBEERBLCHERBETHEBIEAN K
BRAEHIIHBELENRS ISRk
RERBEERBERTMNEE -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Internal Control

The parties have put in place internal control measures to enable the Wfoe
to exercise effective internal control over and to safeguard the assets of
the Opco Group. Under the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the
Registered Shareholders: (a) shall not sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise
dispose of or encumber the assets of the Opco without the prior consent of
the Wfoe; (b) shall procure that the Opco operates its business activities in a
prudent and effective manner according to the good financial and business
standards and maintain asset value of the Opco; and (c) shall meet all
request of the Wfoe for the provision of business and financial information
of the Opco.

General Information of the Opco Shareholders and
the Opco Group

Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhan are the registered shareholder of 68.6% and 1.4%
of the registered capital of the Opco respectively and independent third
parties to the Group.

Longguang is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, the
registered shareholder of 30% of the registered capital of the Opco and an
independent third party to the Group.

The Opco Group is one of the leading credit assessment fintech solution
providers in the PRC, and is principally engaged in the provision of credit
assessment, fund matching and technical services for financial institutions.

Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements

For the period from 17 June 2024 to 31 March 2025, the revenue of the
Target Group, subject to the Contractual Arrangements, was approximately
HK$796.1 million.

As at 31 March 2025, the total assets of the Target Group, subject to the
Contractual Arrangements, was approximately HK$737.2 million.

Material Changes in the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there has been no material change
in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there were no transactions required to be disclosed as
connected or continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Luo Yingnan was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 4
April 2023. Since his date of appointment and up to the date of this report,
Mr. Luo held majority shareholding and directorship in Fuhai Group New
Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Fuhai Group”), an enterprise in China which
is engaged in petrochemical and energy businesses, and Fuhai Oil Pte. Ltd.
("Fuhai Singapore”), an enterprise in Singapore which is also engaged in
petrochemical and energy businesses. In this regard, the Company was
notified by Mr. Luo that his role in Fuhai Group is supervisory in nature and
he did not take part in daily operations. Regarding Fuhai Singapore, as the
Company does not operate any business in Singapore, the Company is of
the view that Mr. Luo’s shareholding and directorship in Fuhai Singapore
is unlikely to result in any actual competition with the Group’s businesses.
That having said, the Company has obtained an undertaking from Mr.
Luo, under which he undertook to notify the Company of potential conflict
of interest if it ever arises, and that he will refer any relevant business
opportunity to the Group in priority to any other party including Fuhai
Group or Fuhai Singapore for so long he occupies directorship in the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, no other Directors are considered to have an
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as defined by the Listing Rules,
other than those businesses of which the Directors have been appointed as
Directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate social
governance essential for creating a framework for motivating staff and
contributes to the community in which we conduct our businesses and
creating a sustainable return to the Group.

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices and principles
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 17 to 30 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company
maintained the amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules
during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Details of the events after the reporting date are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operate in a sustainable manner while balancing
the interests of its various stakeholders including customers, suppliers
and employees. Through regular stakeholder engagement via different
channels, the stakeholders are encouraged to give their opinions regarding
the environmental, social and governance policies of the Group.

This includes providing quality services to customers, developing effective
and mutual beneficial working relationships with its suppliers, and offering
competitive remuneration package with safety working environments to
employees.

The details of environmental, social and governance policies and
performance of the Group will be disclosed in a standalone Environmental,
Social and Governance Report, which will be issued in due course.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The change in Directors’ information since the published date of the
2024/25 interim report of the Company which is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are disclosed below:

Mr. Tang Qingbin resigned as an independent non-executive director of
Luxin Venture Capital Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600783), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, with effect from 30 December
2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors.

AUDITOR

There was no change in auditor of the Company during the past three
years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year were audited by Crowe.
Crowe will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Crowe

as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Cao Sheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Energy
International Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to
200, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in Note 4(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

HEELERE

We identified the fair value measurement of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the
significant assumptions and judgements involved in the valuation.

B REMENL T EFESRNREREIZER AN G TR
TEME) E E2AHOR R AGES R EARR A -

As disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group’'s investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$2,038,373,000 as at 31 March 2025. Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties of approximately HK$541,176,000 was recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the year.

MANARE SR 20T RZE_AF=A=+—H  E%
B IR E W % /5 42,038,373,000/8 7T c REWE N TEEE 2 Wi 4
541,176,000 8 TR AR F R R 4R A W K NHER -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNAEERREERSEE

Our procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of investment properties included:

BMEMRENENRATFEFEZREFEE

- Reviewing the valuation report from
the Valuer and holding discussion with
management and the Valuer to understand
the valuation basis, methodology used and
underlying assumptions applied;

- EHMEMHERETEEBERMGE
RIETTR R - AT MR REEE  PRAFE
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Key audit matter

HRERER

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was determined by
adopting the valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs,
assumptions of market conditions and judgements. The Group also worked
closely with the independent qualified valuers (the “Valuer”) to establish
and determine the appropriate valuation techniques.
EREREMENRNTEDRAAEAEANTEER ABIRAHERI -
MRARFEEHEEE - ERETEB A ERMEEM ([HEM]) BE
A1 LARIE RET S @A ER -

B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNAEERRERER

- Evaluating management’s process in respect

of reviewing the valuation performed by the
Valuer;

- B E RN B EMET 2 ME R
|52

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and

objectivity of the Valuer;
- S EM 2 ER BB REEHIE

- Obtaining the underlying data used by

the Valuer and assessing whether they are

appropriate;
- BSEERM AT A 2 B BRI ST h LS8
BEAEA

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the

valuation model; and
- BEMEENEH EERT &

- Performing market research and analysis

to assess whether the changes in fair value
of investment properties resulted from the
valuation was reasonable and consistent
with market trends to our knowledge.
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MRENEZ A TEEPREAERTA
BAFAE M5B -

HEREBREERERAT / —T N,/ —HFF®H 55



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
MR R

Fair value measurement of preferred shares
classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

Refer to Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in Note 4(m) to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

HEELEAE

Shandong Shundong Port Services Company Limited (“Shundong Port”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, had issued a series
of preferred shares to two independent third parties. In accordance with
HKFRS 9, they are accounted for as financial liabilities at FVTPL as at 31
March 2025.

ERFIHEFZEMNBARILRIER BB ER LR ([EREK]) EM
MEBILE=FET—RINELER - RESBVHRELRFE
RIZE_RF=ZA=+—BUEAFEFABRZZHBEEARK -

As of 31 March 2025, the fair values of the preferred shares are
approximately HK$395,457,000. Loss on changes in fair value of the
preferred shares of approximately HK$20,514,000 was recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year.

REZZE-RF=A=+—H0 BEKRZATFERHK395457,000 T °
BEBRAFEEE 2 EIE420,514,0008 TR ARFEREEBFZEA
ﬁﬁﬁﬂu °©

The determination of the fair value of these financial liabilities at FVTPL
involves significant estimates made by management.
EEZSEATEF A B MBEBE A FTEIRBAEREFL A
BARIEHET o

Therefore, we identify the fair value measurement of these financial
liabilities at reporting date as a key audit matter.

At RS ZEVBRERRE ARz AP EFER AERERER -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNAEERREREE

Our procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of preferred shares classified as
financial liabilities at FVTPL included:
BMEESEAREATEFABEZMBEEZ
BEBRNAFEFEZEFEIE

- Assessing the objectivity, independence and
competence of the Valuer;

- AR ERMFEML B REES

- With the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, evaluating the valuation
techniques and methodologies applied in
the circumstances, reviewing management’s
key inputs with supporting evidence such as
market data obtained independently; and

- ERBEEZIROBET T EEEBR
TRERSMERN LA EHEEE
E:ﬁiﬁ*’\&“ﬂf%’]‘{%i@)\%@% (1l 40 ¥
S EUSH TS BUR)

- Examining the adequacy and
appropriateness of the disclosure of the fair
value measurement of the financial liabilities
at FVTPL.

- wERATVEFAERCVBEABEATE

AEZEENREREE M -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Fair value measurement of promissory notes
classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL

Refer to Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in Note 4(e) to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

HRERER

The Company had issued three tranches of promissory notes to an
independent third party. The repayment obligations of the Company, as
issuer, in respect of the principal amount and interest of the promissory
notes are subject to vesting and become due on maturity. In accordance
with HKFRS 9, they are accounted for as financial liabilities at FVTPL as at
31 March 2025.

ERAIER—EBBELE=FBIT=HMARLREE - ERAERBITAY
AREBEARSMMNENEETETARBIL NI ARFIE - REFEH
BWERNFEISE  ER_ZE-_hAF=A=1+—BURATEFAER
ZHBBEAR-

As of 31 March 2025, the fair values of the promissory notes are
approximately HK$81,852,000. Loss on changes in fair value of the
promissory notes of approximately HK$3,370,000 was recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year.

REZF-AF=ZA=1t—8 AALREZAFER#S1,852,000&7T °
AHERANTEZE) 2 1B X 3,370,000 TR AFERERE Wam kA
HER -

The determination of the fair value of these financial liabilities at FVTPL
involves significant estimates made by management.
ETZSRATEFABZZVBEBEZATESRHEREFLM
B|ALEE -

Therefore, we identify the fair value measurement of these financial
liabilities at reporting date as a key audit matter.

Bt R ZEVBREN RS AR AT EFEIFIRBEREREE -

B AR

DRERBAFEFABR 2MER
BZRARENAFEAE
BLMR O M BRENER REAMEERN
4(e) YR EH B ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNNEERRERER

Our procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of promissory notes classified as
financial liabilities at FVTPL included:
BMEBEESHEARATEA AN BRZMBEEZ
EARBBENATEFEZRFEE

- Assessing the objectivity, independence and
competence of the Valuer,

- AHEMEMNFEML B RES

- Evaluating the valuation techniques and
methodologies applied in the circumstances
and reviewing management’s key inputs
with supporting evidence such as market
data obtained independently; and

- b BB T AT A B R E R R 50
LEMHEREAB XIS ?J*E’JIK%
R (Pl L BUS HTis 8UR)

- Examining the adequacy and
appropriateness of the disclosure of the fair
value measurement of the financial liabilities

at FVTPL.

- BERANTFEFAER M BABATE
HEZRBENROMREEE -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee of the Company (the

“Audit Committee”) in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of agreements, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

B AR

R RBRRE M B RRARE
HEFE

BHMANERRAEREERLGAMBRRES
TEEHRRRGFRERMEBN BN RRA -
WHEHEBIRMABEROZBMBS - NABEER
BRABEPHBENGESR - @ BT ((ERAEE)
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

Chan Wing Fai
Practising Certificate Number P07327
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE — T —_HF=A=1+—HBILFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-RAF —ET
Bt 3 F#ET FAET
Continuing operations FFEREER
Revenue Wz 8 151,679 242,234
Cost of sales and services rendered HE MR R H AR (16,184) (83,823)
Gross profit EX 135,495 158,411
Interest revenue ISR & 9(a) 7,544 3,495
Other income and other gains/(losses), net ~ E AU A K& EfplUgzs,”
(E518) 548 9(b) (31,009) (10,830)
Selling and distribution expenses HE kD HRX (3,264) (2,485)
Administrative expenses THFEX (31,966) (34,248)
Fair value gain on investment properties EMENFERE 20 541,176 17,038
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W 42(d) 95 -
Share of results of associates Pak(a) A W/NCIE 21 12,713 -
Finance costs B AR AR 11 (4,490) (8,921)
Profit before income tax B FT 15 Bt A 3 R 626,294 122,460
Income tax expenses FrigHim s 12 (158,913) (27,393)
Profit for the year from continuing BERKEXB 2 FREF
operations 13 467,381 95,067
Discontinued operation ERICEXE
Profit for the year from discontinued ERIEREEK
operation FREF 14(a) - 170
Profit for the year FRER 467,381 95,237
Profit attributable to owners of ARAREE AEMGER :
the Company:
— Continuing operations —BELEER 256,330 51,820
— Discontinued operation — BRI EER = 170
256,330 51,990
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
mEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HHZE—T —_HF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
—E_RE —E-F
ihr=g FERT FET
Profit attributable to non-controlling IR R AR R
interests:
— Continuing operations —BEREER 211,051 43,247
— Discontinued operation — BRI EER = -
211,051 43,247
467,381 95,237
HK cent HK cent
74l poull
Earnings per share BRER 16
Basic and diluted: EARREE
— Continuing operations —FEEEER 23.72 5.56
— Discontinued operation —BRIEEEER = 0.02
23.72 5.58
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEEBAR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE — T —_HF=A=1+—HBILFE

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_RE —E -
F#ET FAET
Profit for the year F R Fl 467,381 95,237
Other comprehensive expenses, Hit2EBAIxX - MBRBIE
net of tax
Items that may be reclassified HE B e 8m. 2
subsequently to profit or loss: EA -
Exchange differences on translation REGINEGI B IREK 2
of financial statements of foreign MEHZR
operations (16,835) (61,115)
Share of other comprehensive expenses DREEE R R EAM
of associates TEMX (4,657) -
Other comprehensive expenses for FREMZEMX
the year, net of tax NKRBiE (21,492) (61,115)
Total comprehensive income FREZEBALE
for the year 445,889 34,122
Total comprehensive income attributable ZA2QFEEAEGEZE
to owners of the Company: N I
— Continuing operations —HELEET 236,878 1,265
— Discontinued operation — BRI EEB = 170
236,878 1,435
Total comprehensive income attributable JFEREREEEE
to non-controlling interests: ON-L-
— Continuing operations —FHEEEED 209,011 32,687
— Discontinued operation —BRIHEEEB - -
209,011 32,687
445,889 34,122
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ma BRI R

At31 March2025 R=—Z-_HF=A=+—H

2025 2024
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_RE —E-F
ihg= FHET FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BEREE 19(a) 31,241 5,623
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 19(b) 8,049 3,703
Investment properties AW 20 2,038,373 1,507,397
Interests in associates REE R a MR 21 224,591 -
Derivative financial instrument PTEBIT A 29 - -
2,302,254 1,516,723
Current assets REBEE
Inventories — finished goods FE-2Km 1,047 -
Trade and lease receivables B 5 REWAR K ERTE &8 23 57,376 39,887
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - ke RHA
other receivables JE W FRIE 24 8,832 6,706
Financial assets at fair value through EATEF AR ([BRAFE
profit or loss (“FVTPL") FABED CWBEE 25 6,203 10,630
Time deposits with original maturity over [REIEAR@ER=(EREBETHEB
three months but not over one year —FHEEFER 26(a) 342,944 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 26(b) 14,296 590,722
430,698 647,945
Current liabilities REBERE
Other payables Hh e )08 27 49,156 39,668
Bank borrowings IRITIER 28(a) 19,291 160,269
Other borrowing HibER 28(b) 2,940 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 1,236 2,727
Tax payables e IR 4,657 3,656
77,280 206,320
Net current assets REBEEFE 353,418 441,625
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERRBER 2,655,672 1,958,348
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ma BRI R

At31 March2025 R=—Z-_HAF=A=+—H

2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-RAF —ET
Bt 5E F#ET FAET
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Other payable H i FE < 5RIE 27 10,288 10,396
Preferred shares B’ 30 395,457 379,015
Lease liabilities HE&aE 31 1,804 3,060
Promissory notes HH R 32 81,852 -
Deferred tax liabilities BIEHIBAE 33 366,319 211,814
855,720 604,285
Net assets EEFE 1,799,952 1,354,063
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Share capital [ 34 10,806 10,806
Reserves & 1,243,423 1,006,545
Equity attributable to owners FARARERARELER
of the Company 1,254,229 1,017,351
Non-controlling interests IR ER 545,723 336,712
Total equity s 1,799,952 1,354,063
The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 200 were approved FOR2AEEF200EMEGEVBBREREN-Z
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025 and are ZEFANA-THHESSHAREENE I
signed on its behalf by: HTIEERREE -
Cao Sheng Liu Yong
R 25
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREARLES
Share Capital Exchange  Revaluation Other Non-
Share premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Retained controlling Total
capital ~ (Note37())  (Note37(ii))  (Note37(ii))  (Note37(v))  (Note37(v)) earnings Sub-total interests equity
HK$000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
RiHEE EARE ENf% EfbGE el
BA(WEI0)  (KE3G) (MRS (BEIG)  (EIM)  REEW M FERES BRs
Thn T Thn Tin Tin Tin Tén Thn Tin T
Balance at 1 Apil 2023 RZZ=EWA-B
&5 7206 - 628,724 (16,815) 33,865 (26,4%) 22632 869,114 304,025 1173139
Changes in equity for the year: ViR
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - 51,990 51,990 83247 95,237
Other comprehensive expenses FREML2ERR
for the year
Exchange differences on tranglaton of RERNSHABRRL
financial statements of foreign operations EizE - - - (50,555) - - - (50,555) (10,560) (61,115)
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income  ER2E (%) /MAAH
for the year - - - (50,555) - - 51,990 1435 32,687 34102
lsue of new shares (Note 34) BHRG (H31) 3600 146,160 - - - - - 149,760 - 149,760
Transaction costs incurred in comection with ~ SEARAEL 2 LHHE
the issue of shares - (2,958) - - - - - (2.958) - (2,958)
Balance at 31 March 2024
10,806 143,202 628,724 (67370) 33,865 (26,4%) 294,622 1,017,351 336,712 1,354,063
Balance at 1 April 2024
10,806 143,202 628,724 (67,370) 33,865 (26,498) 294,622 1,017,351 336,712 1,354,063
Changes in equity for the year:
Profitfor the year Emaf| - - - - - - 256,330 256,330 211,051 467,381
Other comprehensive expenses EREH2ERY
for the year
Exchange differences on trandlaton of BEBNFRIHRRL
financial statements of foreign operations EiER - - - (14,795) - - - (14,795) (2,040) (16,835)
Share of other comprehensive expenses of  SEBERFRM2ER Y
associates - - - (4,657) - - - (4,657) - (4,657)
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income ~ £R2T (%) /KALE
for the year - - - (19,452) - - 256,330 236,878 209,011 445,889
Balance at 31 March 2025 RZBZEEZR
=t-REH 10,806 143,202 628,724 (86,822) 33,865 (26,498) 550,952 1,254,229 545,723 1,799,952

HEREBREERERAT / —T N/ —HFFH 67




68

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-REF —E-F
BT EE FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax from: KBTS IEZBRETE AT
A
— continuing operations — R 626,294 122,460
— discontinued operation —BERIEREER - 170
Adjustments for: MTFNIER EL R
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 13, 19(a) 1,772 1,631
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 13, 19(b) 2,782 2,558
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment Z 5 eI R R R & 3R
loss) under expected credit loss (“ECL") BRIBHEEERE (7 H
model on trade and lease receivables, FEEBREXT ZRE
net B8, CE e E)
R 6(a), 9(b) 2,518 (9,361)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment e REMEURIENTERE
loss) under ECL model on deposits and BEEEREX T ZREEBE
other receivables, net CREEIERE) F5E 6(a), 9(b) 174 (3,925)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEKREES
equipment 13 149 7
Fair value loss on financial assets at BAFER AB®EZ M
FVTPL, net BEZ NV EBESFHE 9(b) 4,427 2,307
Fair value gain on investment properties WEMEQNFERE 20 (541,176) (17,038)
Fair value loss on promissory notes EHEBBRATEES 9(b), 32 3,370 -
Fair value loss on preferred shares BEKRAFEEIE 9(b) 20,514 20,780
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARZ kS 42(d), 14(b) (95) (422)
Interest income FEWA 9(a) (7,544) (3,495)
Interest expenses FERX 11 4,490 8,921
Share of results of associates DIREE N EEE 21 (12,713) -
104,962 124,593
Increase in inventories FE# (1,047) -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and lease B 5 W R & R WA & A
receivables (Em) /w4 (20,707) 151,252
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits B 708 ~ &2 & & E b E UL
and other receivables =g (g R (2,200) 73,154
Increase/(decrease) in other payables oAb AT FRIEIE AN, OBk ) 9,809 (2,632)
Net cash generated from operating RETHREB2REFHE
activities 90,817 346,367
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
rERENER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-FHE —ET-MEF
BT FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment EEEE - HE & &RE 19(a) (28,163) (1,925)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEVE BEMEREZ

and equipment FriS 538 383 29
Addition to right-of-use assets NEF A ﬁéé?ﬁ 19(b) (7,180) -
Additions to investment properties Mg E Y 20 (9,645) (7,023)
Proceeds from disposal of LEREWE 2 TS 5KIE

investment properties 20 173 -
Acquisition of associates Hﬂz iR l/N] 21 (138,053) -
Loan advanced to an independent third party #:: ¥ —ZBLFE =7 9(a) (53,985) -
Loan repaid by an independent third party ~ —&BIFE = HEENER 9(a) 53,985 -
Net cash inflow from the disposal of HEMRBARIMSHESRA

subsidiaries FEE 42(d), 14(b) 95 430
Proceeds from rescission of contracts R A2 TS FIA - 58,385
Placement of time deposits 7 HUE BRfF K (345,504) -
Interest received B W F B 7,544 3,495
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE (FrA) gz

investing activities REeFE (520,350) 53,391
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FT1S FUR 34 = 149,760
Transaction costs incurred in connection with  FLEETTI D E 4 2 2 5 AR

the issue of shares - (2,958)
Advances of bank borrowings BT IRITIER 38,869 -
Advances of other borrowing B3 HAE R 2,940 -
Repayments of bank borrowings EEIRITER (179,230) (5,469)
Repayments of other borrowing BE B Ath {8 3K = (10,000)
Repayment of principal portion of lease EEHEREAESE Y

liabilities (2,727) (2,617)
Repayment of interest portion of lease BREESBENEES

liabilities (162) (179)
Repayment of promissory notes EEALEE 32 - (5,000)
Interest paid BEAFLE (4,295) (9,532)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMETEE (FrA) iz

financing activities BE&EEHR (144,605) 114,005
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND RE&RREEEER (B)

CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 TEEE (574,138) 513,763
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERED) T & (2,288) (6,133)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FORERELEHEER

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 590,722 83,092
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRASLEHEEA

AT END OF YEAR 26(b) 14,296 590,722
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in the
Cayman Islands. Its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
and its principal place of business is Units 4307-08, Office Tower,
Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

At 31 March 2025, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
consider the immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of
the Company to be Cosmic Shine International Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). This entity does
not produce financial statements available for public use.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the principal activities of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
include:

- the leasing of oil and liquefied chemical terminal (the “Oil
and Liquefied Chemical Terminal”), together with its storage
and logistics facilities (the “Port and Storage Facilities”); and

- the trading of electronic products (the “Trading of Electronic
Products”) which is commenced during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the business of providing
insurance brokerage service (the “Insurance Brokerage Service")
was discontinued (Note 14) and the trading of oil and liquefied
chemical products were temporarily suspended.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 42(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. wREEE

(a)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
("HKFRS") Accounting Standards, which collective term
includes all individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA"), and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing
Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by the Group
are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards which are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except when otherwise
stated.

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Loss of controls over assets of Qinghai
Forest Source Mining Industry Developing
Company Limited (“QHFSMI”) and Inner
Mongolia Forest Source Mining Industry
Developing Company Limited (“IMFSMI")
and deconsolidating QHFSMI and IMFSMI

s

Ms Leung Lai Ching (“Ms Leung”)’s legal status as
director and legal representative in QHFSMI and
IMFSMI remained unchanged in the absence of her
cooperation

Ms Leung was a director and legal representative of
both QHFSMI and IMFSMI. In September 2009, the sole
shareholder of QHFSMI and IMFSMI (i.e. a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) resolved to remove Ms Leung’s
capacity as director and legal representative of both QHFSMI
and IMFSMI with immediate effect. However, the respective
members of the board of directors and legal representative
of QHFSMI and IMFSMI were not officially changed up to
the date of authorisation for issue of the Group’s financial
statements as Ms Leung, being the legal representative,
was not cooperative and failed to provide the requested
documents and corporate seals.

Transfer of exploration licence without the Company’s
acknowledgment, consent or approval

The Group acquired QHFSMI from Ms Leung in 2007.
QHFSMI was the holder of an exploration licence, which
conferred QHFSMI the rights to conduct exploration work
for the mineral resources in the titanium mine (the “Mine")
at Xiao Hong Shan in Inner Mongolia, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). In 2010, the Directors discovered that
the exploration licence held by QHFSMI was transferred to
a company known as NS &/ NMLILRIRBEZEBR AT (n
English, for identification purpose only, Inner Mongolia Xiao
Hong Shan Yuen Xian Mining Industry Company Limited)
("Yuen Xian Company”) at a consideration of Renminbi
(“RMB™) 8,000,000 (the “Change of Exploration Right
Agreement”) without the Company’s acknowledgment,
consent or approval. Ms Leung is one of the directors and
the legal representative of Yuen Xian Company. Without
the exploration licence, QHFSMI no longer had the rights
to, among other things, carry out exploration of the mineral
resources of the Mine, access to the Mine and neighbouring
areas and has no priority in obtaining the mining rights of
the Mine.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Loss of controls over assets of Qinghai

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

2. wREBEEE@)
(b) XREHEFESHRREZHERRR

Forest Source Mining Industry Developing
Company Limited (“QHFSMI”) and Inner
Mongolia Forest Source Mining Industry
Developing Company Limited (“IMFSMI")
and deconsolidating QHFSMI and IMFSMI
(Continued)

Final decision on the Change of Exploration Right
Agreement

As soon as the Group had discovered the loss of QHFSMI's
exploration licence, the Group commenced the legal
proceedings against Ms Leung for getting back the
exploration licence. In March 2016, the Company received
the final decision letter from the Qinghai Procuratorate that
the Change of Exploration Right Agreement was invalid.

De-consolidating QHFSMI and IMFSMI

Given that (i) the discovery of the loss of significant assets
of QHFSMI; (ii) Ms Leung’ s legal status as director and
legal representative in QHFSMI and IMFSMI remained
unchanged; and (iii) the Group was unable to obtain the
financial information of QHFSMI and IMFSMI, the Directors
considered that the Group had no power over QHFSMI
and IMFSMI, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
QHFSMI and IMFSMI and the ability to use its power to
affect those variable returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Loss of controls over assets of Qinghai
Forest Source Mining Industry Developing
Company Limited (“QHFSMI”) and Inner
Mongolia Forest Source Mining Industry
Developing Company Limited (“IMFSMI")
and deconsolidating QHFSMI and IMFSMI
(Continued)

Subsequent development following the obtaining of
the PRC Court’s final decision

After obtaining of the PRC Court’s final decision, the Group
instructed its PRC lawyers to seek the enforcement of the
judgment with the view to regaining its controlling power
over QHFSMI and IMFSMI. Further, the Group was previously
given to understand by its legal advisers that Yuen Xian
Company had obtained the mining licence on the Mine,
which had caused complexity to the Group’s enforcement
efforts. The Group is taking legal advice from its PRC
lawyers in this regard.

After making an overall review of its position in QHFSMI,
IMFSMI and the Mine, the Group disposed the holding
company of QHFSMI and IMFSMI on 5 November 2024
(Note 42(d)) to limit the Group’s loss on this matter. In
the opinion of the Directors, the disposal did not result
in any impact on the financial position and operations
of the Group, as QHFSMI and IMFSMI had already been
deconsolidated since 2010.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

2. wREBEEE@)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set
out below:

- investment properties;

- derivative financial instrument (i.e. put option);

- financial assets at FVTPL; and

- financial liabilities at FVTPL (i.e. preferred shares and
promissory notes).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which

are mandatorily effective for the current accounting period for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and

HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The Group has not applied any new or amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. The application of the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

ERFITREETEBMK
wREEBSFTERA @

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

© 78 i {B 1) R A R B 37 R R AR 8
AEBYBREERNSFER

AREE Y ERFERAAT 2 B/MERKRE

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early adopted the following new and

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued

MHF R BRI BB B E £ G

but are not yet effective: R
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the BEMBREER HMBIASE
HKFRS 7 Classification and FIRRBEAY B 4ACHE
Measurement of Financial e ERET
Instruments? UASCEIEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature- BEMBWEER PREBEALR
HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity? FIHRRBEAY EEBNNELS?
1% & 42 Al
ENEACCHIFN)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets BB FHRELER REFHEBRERQ
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI0ORNESEG ARG EREZ
Associate or Joint Venture' FTAERIEE 28 5% HWEELER
CEHEN) SEA
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS BBV HHmELER BAMBREEL
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards — SEERI(1835] SR EAFRER
Volume 113 ) HE-F 153
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? AEGTER = A A2 2
EPARACHES)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in ERVBMELER HBRENEIN R
Financial Statements? F185% 5
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public TEMBWMEER EARMEEMN

Accountability: Disclosures?

1955

BAR : BE

RFE R s 2 R FR AR A -

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be !

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 RZZE_RF—A—BERBNF
SRR A AR o
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. 3 RITEZRF-—A B ZEGRABNE
[E BRI AR -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. 4 RIZEZEF—A— B ZEHABHFE
E LS

B T AT B S R & E RS

T

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned below,
the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and EEFEHERMA EMEE REIETEE
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material FBHREENGHENRAT R RIS Y
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable RAEMBMREKNERZE -

future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, will replace HKAS 1, Presentation
of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories and
defined subtotals in the consolidated income statement; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, some HKAS
1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33,
Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and disclosures in the future consolidated financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS
18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4, EREFEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date on
which control commences until the date on which control
ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair
value or at the NCl's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
company. NCI in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between NCI and
the owners of the Company. Loans from holders of NCI
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position depending on the nature of
the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at fair
value when control is lost.

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (Note 4(i)(ii)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). They
are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction
costs. Subsequently, the consolidated financial statements
include the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (“OCI") of those investees, until the
date on which significant influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method, together with
any other long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate, after applying
the ECL model to such other long-term interests where
applicable (Note 4(i)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment
losses (Note 4(i)(ii)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4, EXRSFTBEm@

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(d)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested
annually for impairment (Note 4(i)ii)).

Other investments in equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries and associate, are set out below.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at FVTPL for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation
of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments is set out in Note 7. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in OCI. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
If such an election is made for a particular investment, at the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings
and not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

(9]

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including the put option of the Company and
the conditional promissory notes measured at fair value)
are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with changes therein recognised in
profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify for cash
flow hedge accounting or hedges of net investment in a
foreign operation.

Investment properties

Investment property is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently at fair value with changes therein recognised
in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is recognised in accordance with Note 4(r)(ii).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing
costs, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses (Note 4(i)(ii)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment (Note 4(h)).

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

4.

BEARETEE @

(e)

(f)

(9)

TTEMBTA

TETE(BRRATFEFENSK
AEREHRELE GREALER)
MNERAFEE - HR ZE0T
ETARAFENE  HEHNIE
BRRER BRIETETANARSE
ME PR IR RIF IR B P
R -

REM=

BEMENS A E - R
ATEHE - HEBHIBARPER -

HEREMENT BTN IEZ
FRER - REREWENES KA
IR F T 400G FERR

ME - BERRE

THMmE - BERREERBRKA
(BRERCE R AR) B R
B RAEM REHRMERE (L 4G)i0)
#H7

- MAKEIL Y EEED
AMBEEAZEHEMEZ
HEELIMEREEE
K

- MER&EER  BHEA
HERBABELRBEL
B A E (HIEE4(h)) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4, EXRSFTBEm@

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual
values, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit
or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

The shorter of term of the
lease and 25 years
Shorter of the term of

— Buildings

— Leasehold improvements
the lease or 3 years

— Furniture and office 5 years
equipment
— Motor vehicles 4 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(9)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether

the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain

substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

()

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group allocates
non-lease component from lease components on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease components and the aggregate stand-alone
prices of the non-lease components.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value item, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised,
the associated lease payments are recognised in
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability, and hence
are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except for the
following types of right-or-use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment property are carried at fair
value (Note 4(f)); and

- right-of-use assets related to leasehold
land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the leasehold interest
are carried at cost (Note 4(g)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Leased assets (Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost.
Any excess of the nominal value of the initial fair
value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
if the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee.
Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with Note 4(r)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption described in Note 4(h)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including time deposits, bank balances,
trade and other receivables); and

- lease receivables.
Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate; and
- lease receivables: discount rate used in the

measurement of the lease receivables.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECL is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4., BEREHEHE@®

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) GEEFEREEREM@E
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and (i) KREHBETAREKHEE

lease receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECL: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECL: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date;
and

- other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument)
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and lease
receivables are always measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i

Credit losses from financial instruments and
lease receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credlit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument (including a loan commitment)
has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group's historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial instrument to have
low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent
to the globally understood definition of ‘investment
grade’.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments and
lease receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECL is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
being more than 90 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

- it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. EXREFBEKR @)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) GEFEEREERE@E

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and (i) KEHMBETAREKHEE
lease receivables (Continued)) FEZEEEE (F)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) LB EERE IEEE

(#&)
- the disappearance of an active market for - FHEEBFEITALR
a security because of financial difficulties of B 75 R 2 i 2k KOF
the issuer. BT o
Write-off policy A
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is M EEZBREENT
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent 5T B IR [ BT &= 4 PR 8H
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This (Fosk 28 - —RIBER
is generally the case when the Group determines RAEEEE G AR
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of AEERHRESMEER
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to R ez EE R
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. AR 2 B o
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was HEeRERBEDHMEEE
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of 2 ERBMRBEEWE 2 HME
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which FIEEERARERE -
the recovery occurs.
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets (i) FEHEE R

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than investment properties and inventories) to
determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGUs"). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and
then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the CGU on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the resulting
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss
had been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(iii)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition,
and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (Notes 4(i)(i) and 4(i)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the
financial year to which the interim period relates.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an

unconditional right to receive consideration and only

the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing

component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (Note 4(i)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4, EXRSFTBEm@

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

M

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (Note 4(i)(i)).

Other payables

Other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Preferred shares

Preferred shares are classified as equity if it is non-
redeemable, or redeemable only at the Company’s option,
and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends on preferred
shares classified as equity are recognised as distributions
within equity.

Preferred shares are classified as a liability if it is redeemable
on a specific date or at the option of the investors, or if
dividend payments are not discretionary. The liability is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for interest-bearing borrowings and accordingly dividends
thereon are recognised on an accrual basis in profit or loss
as part of finance costs.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
Note 4(t).

(k)

(0

(m)

(n)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Employee benefits

()

(i)

(iii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-
based payments granted to employees is measured
using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The
amount is generally recognised as an expense, with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service conditions are expected
to be met, such that the amount ultimately
recognised is based on the number of awards that
meet the related service conditions at the vesting
date.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
costs for a restructuring.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4., BEREHEHE@®

(p)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax.
It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
it relates to a business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Income tax (Continued)

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such
reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value
in accordance with Note 4(f), the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the
reporting date, unless the property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4, EXRSFTBEm@

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Contingent assets/liabilities and
contingent liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
Group assesses continually the development of contingent
assets. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of
economic benefits will arise, the Group recognises the
asset and the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
occurs.

Contingent liabilities and provisions

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the
contract, which is determined based on the incremental
costs of fulfilling the obligation under that contract and
an allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling
that contract. Before a provision is established, the Group
recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated
with that contract.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a
separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount recognised for
the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of the
provision.

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use
by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a good or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to
use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income is
accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4, EXRSFTBEm@

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis, including the trading of oil and liquefied
chemical products and electronic products that
are sourced externally. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the products before
they are transferred to the customers. Control refers
to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from the
products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised
as an integral part of the total rental income, over
the term of lease. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The "effective interest rate” is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired).
However, for financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4, EXRSFTBEm@

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On
disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to
profit or loss. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in
a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost
of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:

- represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations;

- is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations; or

- is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the
earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria
to be classified as held for sale.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued operation,
the comparative consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income are
re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from
the start of the comparative year.

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

4.

BEARETEE @

(t)

(u)

f& TR A

NERERE Bt ERAA
KBERESHRES/AMETETE BEsH
EEERMEREA  HEXRL
RABEZEBORA - B ERK
ARG EE A AR HIRR

ERIEREXRR

ERIEREEBRERNSBEEBH
—fEMER Ay HEENRERE
BREASEEMEOBTERS AR

RE-BBIUNEEER
- REFNEELEH
&

- R-RE-HENYH
37 )% B —
0 E B AE 0 T
BB — 5 &

- RERBHEBOMmKE
BB E -

i
B
(i

ETRERELETEN B/
FENGRE ARFERE)
ENERERIEREE -

HMABEEEDERERIEREE
%o HBENGRaRERREER
HBAREEHN2S) BMINZIAZE
BELBRFERBDRLELE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

4., EXEFBE@®

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(v) BEEAZL
(a) —ZHZALTHAEZALTZE
ARXE BAEEER M
ZATL
(i) BN E B A TS
ok T[R4 I 4
(ii) HAEBEEKNY
(iif) BAREENAER
BRARIZETEER
B8 -
(b) WEEE T ERGESE —

&l & 58 £

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

IREEAR

i

\
s

|
o e

=

i3 f

?ﬁ[? m /EE'
5o
- e

» B

|
R iz
oS D E

=

4%

SNozpom o R
o) > mN‘H’

-
Rl
i
i

%

Tt

—
o

i

|
=5
i}
i

\
b

i

HE oy D> 3
I el i

w3 > N

B NoME

/1

e
EIE =
o 2 om D

NN
o

= D

o
fi
5
pii
=

1 ERHA/HER
THREDRE -

il

> 8
aF e 111
td/

N2
o 0> iR

\
Smm

\
’

T

iR BB ME 2f
I X

af
it
N

o

oW S
30 I Yo BB oB

ZERASANEEN
HAEEEH $Z
EEEBR NS
2 B AR A aJr%\J

\

—

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR

105



106

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(w)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

5. EErHERM&E

5. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
the Directors have made the following accounting
judgement:

(i)

Determination of control over consolidated
structured entities that are controlled through
contractual arrangements (the “Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Company’s acquired 40% equity interest of
Prosperous Splendor Global Limited (the “Target
Company”) which conducts a portion of the
business through Shenzhen Xinheyuan Technology
Co. Ltd GRINE & TR B BR A Fl) (the “Opco”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Opco Group”)
in the PRC. Due to regulatory restrictions on the
foreign ownership, the Target Company does
not have any equity interest in the Opco Group.
The Directors assessed whether or not the Target
Company has control over the Opco Group by
assessing whether the Target Company has (i) the
power over the Opco Group; (ii) the rights to variable
returns from the Target Company’s involvement with
the Opco Group; and (iii) the ability to affect those
returns through the Target Company’s power over
the Opco Group. After assessment, the Directors
concluded that the Target Company has control
over the Opco Group as a result of entering the
Structured Contracts (Note 21(i)). Nevertheless, such
contractual arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Target
Company with direct control over the Opco Group
through equity interest and uncertainties presented
by the PRC legal system could impede the Target
Company’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets
and liabilities of the Opco Group. Changes in market
conditions or interpretation of the PRC law and
regulations in future may have a material impact on
the assessment of control over the Opco Group. The
Directors, based on the advice of its legal counsel,
consider that the contractual arrangements with
the Opco Group and their equity shareholders are in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC and are legally enforceable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

5.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

Critical accounting judgements (Continued)

(ii)

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group is considered as a principal for its
contracts with customers relating to (i) the trading
of oil and liquefied chemical products; and (ii)
trading of electronic products, as the Group
controls the specified good before it is transferred
to the customer after taking into consideration
indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible
for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods.
The Group is also subject to inventory risk and
has discretion in establishing the price of the
goods. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue
in the gross amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled as specified in the
contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
recognised revenue relating to (i) trading of oil
and liquefied chemical products; and (ii) trading
of electronic products amounted to Nil (2024:
approximately HK$78,091,000) and approximately
HK$988,000 (2024: Nil) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

5. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 7 contains information about the assumptions and
their risk factors relating to valuations of investment
properties, certain financial assets at FVTPL and certain
financial liabilities at FVTPL. Other significant sources of
estimation uncertainty are as follows:

()

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2025 at
their fair value of approximately HK$2,038,373,000
(2024: HK$1,507,397,000). The fair value was
based on valuations conducted by an independent
qualified valuer using property valuation techniques
which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions including estimates of future rental
income from investment properties using current
market rentals and yields as inputs. Favourable
or unfavourable changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported
in the consolidated income statement. Details of the
fair value measurements of investment properties
are set out in Note 7.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

5.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i)

Estimation of the fair value of financial assets
and financial liabilities

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period as disclosed in Note 7.

The preferred shares issued by Shandong Shundong
Port Services Company Limited (“Shundong Port”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, are not traded in an active market and
the respective fair value is determined by using
valuation techniques with significant unobservable
inputs and assumptions of market conditions. The
Group applied the discounted cash flow method to
determine the underlying equity value of Shundong
Port and the fair value of the preferred shares.
Further details are included in Note 30.

The promissory notes issued by the Group are
not traded in an active market and the respective
fair value is determined by using valuation
techniques with significant unobservable inputs
and assumptions of market conditions. The Group
applied the scenario-based analysis method to
determine the fair value of the promissory notes.
Further details are included in Note 32.

The put option granted to the Company are not
traded in an active market and the fair value is
determined by using valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs and assumptions of
market conditions. The Group applied the Binomial
Option Pricing Model to determine the fair value of
the put option. Further details are included in Note
29.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

5. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(iii) ECL of receivables

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
over the expected life of receivables. Receivables
are categorised by individual characteristics of each
customer. The Group estimates the loss allowance
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for receivables
based on the ageing of overdue balances,
repayment history of individual debtors, debtor
creditworthiness, historical write-off experience,
existing customer-specific and market conditions
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers the following indicators when
assessing the credit risks, such as the changes in
macroeconomic conditions, probabilities of default
and internal or external credit ratings, or expected
operating performance of the customer, etc. At
every reporting date the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward
looking information are analysed. Such assessment
involves a significant degree of judgement by the
Directors.

Further details are included in Note 6(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BBZE—ZT —_AF=A=1+—HILFE

5.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(iv)

Impairment losses of non-financial assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of a non-financial asset (other than investment
properties and inventories) may not be recoverable,
the asset may be considered “impaired”, and
an impairment loss may be recognised. The
carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed periodically in order to assess whether
the recoverable amounts have declined below
the carrying amounts. These assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment. When such a decline
has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of
the CGU containing goodwill is the greater of the
fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. It is
difficult to precisely estimate selling price because
quoted market prices for these assets or CGUs are
not readily available. In determining the value in
use, expected cash flows generated by the asset
or the CGU are discounted to their present value,
which requires significant judgement relating to
level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
The Directors use all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and amount
of operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z —T -_AF=A=+—HIFE

5. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
v) Income tax

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The Directors carefully evaluate tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of these
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take
into account changes in tax legislations. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences and cumulative tax losses.

As those deferred tax assets can only be recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which they can
be utilised, Directors’ judgement are required to
assess the probability of future taxable profits. The
Directors assessment are constantly reviewed and
additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

BBERERRIBTAY
AF{E

Categories of financial instruments MBEIAEDE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_FRE —E_MF
FTHT FHET
Financial assets: MBEE:
Financial assets at FVTPL BAVEFABRCUKEE 6,203 10,630
Derivative financial instrument PTEFBITA - -
Financial assets at amortised cost (including & S5 AN BR AV BA 75 & 2
cash and cash equivalents) (BEREEBELEEEL) 420,653 631,542
426,856 642,172
Financial liabilities: BEaE:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAFEFABRZMBEE 477,309 379,015
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEENAS RN B EE 78,693 210,387
556,002 589,402

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate
risk, currency risk, equity price risk and risk in relation to the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The exposure to these risks and the
financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group

to manage these risks are described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

BEEREERMEIAZ
YNSZ=NE )

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

MRS ERE B ERBEK®E

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and lease receivables, deposits and other receivables,
time deposits and bank balances. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from time deposits and bank balances are
limited because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk. The Group’'s exposure to credit risk
arising from rental deposit is considered to be low, taking
into account (i) the landlord’s credit rating and (ii) the
remaining lease term and the period covered by the rental
deposits.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers and lease receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management policy
under which individual credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers and lease receivables are normally
due within 90 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 90 days past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At 31 March 2025, 99.3% (2024: 99.6%) of the total
trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and
lease receivables was due from the Group’s single largest
customer within the Oil and Liquefied Chemical Terminal
segment.

(a)

ERAR

EERRESF T TET Amﬁa
TRASESRUBE IR 2 RER
AEENEERR IKXEFT%
FEUBR R K R AEETRIR - Re R
H A fEUGRIA - E M3 M&ﬁﬂ
7 o NEEWEERRE E TR
RITEFNEERRBER ?Iﬁ
HF T HBIBEREEFREEE
HEEEFRNRTRSBES -
rEERREBREKEERR - ZE
B (i) 2 X 0015 B #F AR R (i) R ER R
EHFESREMRENSRE - &
SERAHSREMELNEER
BREUE o

KREEFEHNZEZEURFRIE
WHEE

AEBERIEERBRERBR
Bl AEBHFABEERKBA—T
:.fé%ﬁﬁﬁ%}fzﬁml%u =B
e ZEFHETRELPBERE
Eﬂ%%%ﬁmﬂﬁ&ﬁm%ﬁm
B WEERREFPHFEERUR
HEFPZEMRELERFEENE
Ko REBEFPAEHZE S EWENR
NMEWHEEFRIEME R R AR
90 H A EI B - X K@ Bl #E 890 H
E’Jﬁi‘“/\?ﬁﬁ/\iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁﬁgﬁ
1& EﬁAﬁ&fiﬂﬁﬁﬁ\\ =B —&
CARETEREFIREER

FEAEFEERRFERAEEB K
EREAEFPHNERRBEELE - R
TE-RAF=A=+—H 993%
ZEZMF 99.6%) HIREEF
R EHRIRFR R EWHEE K
Iﬁi-géltﬂgq&/mDD&/“‘ZE‘E{EIDDE%

ENHEAREEE —HREPHIHK
z,a o

IIF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with

customers and lease receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables

arising from contracts with customers and lease receivables

at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated

using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit

loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss

patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables arising

from contracts with customers and lease receivables:

BEREREERMEIAEZ
VNS =RE ),

BEEREEERERBEX ®

(a)

EER B ®)

REEFENZEZBURHIRIE
W &R ()

AEERERANE2MEMREEER
MERIERERFPANZESE
Yo B R % e WA B SRR 2 R 1R B
- AESBEDERBREEREETT
AE-mRAKEBENEEER
BEIARTRAEFPDBRBREKX
TRBERN - ERE AL E
BEBL TR AKETREFE
B2 EE—FED o

TREHEBAKEREETFAH
2B 5 MR e U B IR Y
FEERBREEMEEBEENER

2025
—EC-HE
Gross carrying
Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
% HK$’000 HK$'000
HHEEE SREEAHE BERE
% TET FTET
PRC H
— Trade receivable arising - REBEFPEHZES
from contracts with JRE U AR 3R
customers 39.2 677 265
- Lease receivables —EREERIE 7.1 61,302 4,338
61,979 4,603
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

BEEREERMEIAZ
NFE #)

BEEBREEEERBR @

(a) EERB®)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with KEEFEHNZEZENRARIE
customers and lease receivables (Continued) W &5 HE ()
2024
e St
Gross carrying
Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
% HK$'000 HK$'000
EHEEX REELHE BiERE
% FTET FET
PRC A E
— Trade receivable arising - REEFPEHNZES
from contracts with & Ut AR 3K
customers 65.4 430 281
— Lease receivables —EWHEFIE 4.4 41,583 1,845
42,013 2,126

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over
the past 24 months. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

BEHERXTERNIBE24E AW
ERBELR FRZFLEUR
IR S SRR M AR AR AV AR
ERIAR L IA B A 5 [ 45 e W R TR T8
HIHARR M R B B R Z B =
2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers and lease receivables (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers and lease
receivables during the years ended 31 March 2025 and

BEREREERMEIAEZ
VNS =RE ),

BEEREEEERER @

(a) EERB#®

REEFENZEZBURHIRIE
W a5 E (&)

REBEE_ZE_RAFR_FT_NF=
A=+ —HLEFEMNREEFAY
2B SRR U & RIA S

2024 is as follows: ERERNEZEHOT
Trade receivables
arising from
contracts with Lease
customers receivables Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REEFEH
ZE S EWERR FE W AE & FE #aEt
TET TET TAET
At 1 April 2023 RZTZ=F
MA—H 10,373 1,667 12,040
Impairment losses recognised 72 R (B &5 18 284 1,863 2,147
Impairment losses reversed % B )5 (£ /&5 18 (9,913) (1,595) (11,508)
(9,629) 268 (9,361)
Exchange differences fE X Z5 (463) (90) (553)
At 31 March 2024 RZTZMF
=R=+—H 281 1,845 2,126
At 1 April 2024 RZTZF
MA—H 281 1,845 2,126
Impairment losses recognised & 728 (B /&5 18 7 2,531 2,538
Impairment losses reversed Bl & /&5 18 (20) - (20)
(13) 2,531 2,518
Exchange differences IEH =R (3) (38) (41)
At 31 March 2025 R-EZHF
=B=+-H 265 4,338 4,603

The origination of new trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers net of those settled resulted in
a decrease in loss allowance of approximately HK$13,000
(2024: HK$9,629,000) contributed to the decrease in the
loss allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

BEEREERMEIAZ
NFE @)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and BERREREBZEREBX @

policies (Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERB @)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with KEEFEHNZEZENRARIE
customers and lease receivables (Continued) WHERE (&)

The origination of new lease receivables net of those settled
resulted in an increase in loss allowance of approximately
HK$2,531,000 (2024: HK$268,000) contributed to the
increase in the loss allowance.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the Directors make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward- looking information. The Directors believe that
there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12-months ECL.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECL for deposits and other
receivables as at 31 March 2025 and 2024:

MBREEERREERBESRE
B ES N4 2,531,00008 L (=&
— P94 : 268,000 7T) & FT FE U
EFIEMNEAESBUEBERE LM -

BEREMENNE

e REMEYHRIANS  EF
REBEEMNLE BELR -4
BEREENEEERARAREX
REOREEER  EHERS A
L FE UK TR /0 R UK (B 14 5 77 1 1 °F
fH-BERR REFENEER
B YA TSR A SR S| AR AR 0
REBERBENZEAEHEERIE
FHRRUE -

TRERBEASEER-_Z-_AF
FoE-NEZA=+—HNES
ME M EUGRIERNEERR R TEH
EEFBIENER

Gross carrying amount

IREEAE
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-HF —EmEF
FET FHET
Deposits £2e 1,040 814
Other receivables o fE UK IE 5,206 155

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR

119



120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

deposits and other receivables during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 is as follows:

6. HMEEREERMBIAZ

N1E #)

BEEREEERERBEX ®

(a) EERMR @)
B REMMEREE ()
BRI S T H e UK ERIE 5 18 4

BEREBEE_Z-_AFLEK_ZF-/@
F=ZA=t+—HILFENEIHIOT

Other
Deposits receivables Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Be Hfth JE W R wat
FET FET TR
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=fmA—A 45 3,916 3,961
Impairment losses BRREEE
recognised 36 - 36
Impairment losses reversed % [l (B /&5 18 (45) (3,916) (3,961)
9) (3,916) (3,925)
At 31 March 2024 RZZB-WME=ZA=+—H 36 - 36
At 1 April 2024 R-E-mEmMA—R 36 - 36
Impairment losses BRREER
recognised - 181 181
Impairment losses reversed & Bl {E£5 18 () - (7)
) 181 174
Exchange difference bE R - (1) (1)
At 31 March 2025 RZB-RF=A=+—H 29 180 209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

(Continued)

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. HMEEBEERMBIAZ
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEE @
Financial risk management objectives and BERREREBZEREBX @
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (b) REBELER
Individual operating entities within the Group are TEBZENSCEERAEELRS
responsible for their own cash management, including the ZESEE  BEReA% S
short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of WENREEEFRA R EEN
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to the parent ReEmEK HEALHQRESSH
company’s board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly Mo REEZHRERTEHERHR
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with HESHERERHABTERZ#NE
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient S BRSNS E
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding FTEFHREALRHAEINES
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity BE UEMEHARRARDES
requirements in the short and longer term. Fk o
The following table sets out the remaining contractual TREHIAEEIITEMBEER
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s WEBMRZARTEOINEER - T
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on EREHNARUBRENE (BIER
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest EHFERFTEOF SR - SWE
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, FE - BliR S ARM BT EET
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) ) RAEERANRNKFE A -
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
Weighted Over Over Total
average Within -~ 6 months 1 year contractual
interest 6monthsor  but within  but within Over undiscounted  Carrying
rate ondemand 12 months 5 years 5 years cashflow  amounts
%  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000
&
mE  6@AKE 6EAML  1EKE AEBRS
TYRE REX EnfAR BSER SEME REBE  BEE
% FExr  TExr  FEx  TEn iz ThEn
2025 ZECEF
Financial liabilties included in other payables st AR B2 BIHERE - B - 10288 - 53422 53,422
Bank borrowing /TR 8.0 o 19805 - - 20577 19291
Other borrowing iR 6.0 2,940 - - - 2,940 2,940
Lease liabilites HERRE 53 1,214 62 49 4,460 6,232 3,040
Promissory notes (note ) AR () 48 - - 0m - 90272 81852
Preferred shares (note i) ik (Bt - - - - - - 395457
48,060 19,867 101,056 4,460 173,443 556,002
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

6. HXEAKREERMEIAZ
VNS =RE ),

BEEREEEERER @

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBELEE)
Weighted Qver Over Total
average Within -~ 6 months 1 year contractual
interest 6 monthsor  butwithin -~ but within Over  undiscounted ~ Carrying
rate ondemand 12 months 5 years 5 years cashflow — amounts
%  HK§000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
At
g eEARE 6EANLE  1EME REFRS
TH= BEX En@An  BSER  SENE TEfE HHE
% TiEn Tk T FiEn T TiEn
2024 EomE
Financial liabiities included in other payables 5t AEM BTS2 BIKAE - 339% - 10,39 - 44331 44331
Bank borrowings FER 49 160,65 - - - 16065 160,269
Lease liabiltes HEaf 31 1,445 1,445 1,65 4631 9173 5,787
Preferred shares (note i 5k (i) - - - - - - 319015
196,035 1,445 12,048 4,631 214159 589,402
Notes: B o -
(i) The Directors estimated that the vesting conditions of each

tranche of promissory notes shall be satisfied and repayable
on the Maturity Date (defined in Note 32).

(i) The Directors estimated that there is no special dividend
to be declared by Shundong Port in the coming one year
(2024: two years) from the reporting period end. At 31
March 2025, the preferred shares, of which the principal
amount was RMB270,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$289,359,000) (2024: RMB270,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$292,383,000)), have no contractual
maturity.

The below table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based
on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the facilities
agreements with banks. The amounts include interest
payments computed using contractual rates. Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do
not consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise
its discretion to demand immediate repayment and believe
that these borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

BEEREERMEIAZ
NFE @)

BEEBREEEERBR @

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBELEK &)
Total Total
Within undiscounted carrying
1 year cash flows amount
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RER
15R RERBER BEEE
THEx THT FER
2025 A% 20,577 20,577 19,291
2024 —ETCE 166,326 166,326 160,269
(c) Interest rate risk (0 FI=EEBs

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate time deposits (Notes 26(a) and 26(b)),
fixed-rate bank borrowings (Note 28(a)), fixed-rate other
borrowing (Note 28(b)), lease liabilities (Note 31) and
promissory notes (Note 32). The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk on bank balances (Note 26(b)).

The Group monitors the level of its fixed-rate borrowings
and time deposits. The Group also manages the contractual
terms of the interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities.

In the opinion of the Directors, the expected change in
interest rates will not have a significant impact on the
interest income or bank balances and hence sensitivity
analysis is not presented.

A EH R EE S EBER
i 26(a) & 26(b)) * TE B RTT &K
(FfsE28(a)) ~ E B E A fE 3% (HfaE
28(b)) - FHEBE (MFE31) AR
R (ME32) BN QFENX
R o AN KRB N E B IR 1T A8 T (Mt
F26(b) IR R REF K ER o

7 5 [ 5 7 L B FE M) R S R N E
TFHKF - REEEEF BHH
BERABEBENBOGRRK -

EERA BHNEZFHTEHT
BRARBRITHEFELEATE -
B 2 5 GURE DT ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations of
foreign currencies, including Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars (“US$") against the functional currency of the
relevant group entities.

Exchange rate fluctuations and market trend have always
been the concern of the Group. The Directors will monitor
the foreign currency exposure closely and consider the
use of hedging instruments when the need arises. Given
the insignificant net exposure to foreign currencies, any
change in the exchange rate of foreign currencies relative
to functional currencies of the relevant Group entities is
considered to have an insignificant impact on the Group’s
profit after income tax and retained earnings.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments held for trading purposes. All of these
investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are
based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual
securities and the Group’s liquidity needs. Listed investments
that are not held for trading purposes have been chosen
based on their long term growth potential and are
monitored regularly for performance against expectations.
The portfolio is diversified in terms of industry distribution in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

BEEREERMEIAZ
NFE @)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and BERREREBZEREBX @
policies (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued) (e) KERBE#)
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, it is estimated that an RZE_RAER_Z_MF=
increase/decrease of 10% in the relevant stock price, with A=+—HB Az HEEKREER
all other variables held constant, would have increased/ B A 10% - R H A &
decreased the Group's profit after income tax and the ERFTENBERT - BB
retained earnings: DRSBTS R SN MR E R
) -
2025 2024
ZECIf “EomE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
profitafter  (decrease) in profit after (decrease) in
income retained income retained
tax earnings tax eamings
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RAEH% REnEH%
&l REEF afl REET
g0/ (89) #m/(69) #m/(50)  &m/ (D)
ThR Thr Tt Tt
Change in the relevant equity price REREEREY
risk variable: 2E9:
Increase £ 10% 620 620 10% 1,063 1,063
Decrease 0 (10%) (620) (620) (10%) (1,063) (1,063)
The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in BRESMERREREZZEHE

the Group’s profit after income tax (and retained earnings)
that would arise assuming that the changes in the stock
price at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by
the Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at
the end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the
fair values of the Group’s equity investments would change
in accordance with the historical correlation with the
relevant stock market index or the relevant risk variables,
and that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for the year ended 31 March
2024.

RIREBRES  LERARERN
AFEAREMBEMSARENE
SMRAZBRERRZZEV BT
B Y AREEZBRAEHEEN
(RREBEBHN)EXZNETE - I
BERASEEDREN R FESR
IR EARR IR E T SR B AR R AR
BENFELEEIEELEE - A

BEMBEHRBIAE -BHE_E
—HWHE=A=+—HIFETIRIA
EEEEITHHN

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR



126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(f)

Risk in relation to the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities

The Company determined that the Structured Contracts
(defined in Note 21(i)) are in compliance with the PRC law
and are legally enforceable. However, uncertainties in the
PRC legal system could limit the ability of the Target Group
(defined in Note 21(i)) to enforce the Structured Contracts.

The PRC law stipulates certain forms of foreign investment.
However, the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC does
not explicitly stipulate contractual arrangements such as
those the Target Company relies on as a form of foreign
investment. It is uncertain whether the Structured Contracts
would be deemed to be in violation of the PRC law.

In addition to the uncertainty on how the Structured
Contracts will be handled, there is substantial uncertainty
regarding the interpretation and the implementation of
the PRC law. The relevant PRC regulatory authorities have
broad discretion in interpreting the law. Therefore, there is
no guarantee that the Structured Contracts, the business of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and financial conditions
of the Target Group will not be materially and adversely
affected.

The Target Company’s ability to control Consolidated
Affiliated Entities also depends on rights provided to the
Wfoe (defined in Note 21) under the Voting Right Proxy
Agreement (Note 21(i)), to vote on all matters requiring
shareholder approval. As noted above, the Target Company
believes the Voting Right Proxy Agreement is legally
enforceable, but they may not be as effective as direct
equity ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(f) Risk in relation to the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities (Continued)

In addition, if the corporate structure of the Target Group

or the contractual arrangements among the Wfoe, the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the 70% registered
shareholders of the Opco were found to be in violation of

any existing PRC law, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities

could:

(9)

revoke Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ business and
operating licenses;

require Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
discontinue or restrict its operations;

restrict Consolidated Affiliate Entities’ right to collect
revenues;

require the Target Group to restructure the
operations, re-apply for the necessary licenses or
relocate its business, staff and assets;

impose additional conditions or requirements with
the Target Group may not able to comply; or

take other regulatory or enforcement actions
against the Target Group that could be harmful to
the Target Company’s business.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and

financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement

of financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments and the Group’s investment properties measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

Certain assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. At the end of each reporting period, the Group works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and
Level 3 fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and
adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs can be derived from observable
quoted prices in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not
available, the Group will adopt valuation techniques that include
Level 3 inputs. Where there is a material change in the fair value
of the assets and liabilities, the causes of the fluctuations will be
reported to the Directors.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

7. 2AREFE@
ATEEBHR @

Fair value measurements categorised into

AEANTEANAYERE

Fair Fair
value at value at
31 March 31 March
2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level3 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R R
- “ECME
=B =
7= =+-A
ZATE  E-f £28 £=8 | 0¥ ER £ZR ERt
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn Thr  TEn ThR Tin
Recurring fair value measurements mERATENE
Assets: BE:
Non-financial assets: FOREE:
~ Investment properties -RENR 2038373 - - 2038373 | 1507397 - - 1507397
Financial assets: AHEE:
- Held for trading - listed equity securities ~ —#{EEE - EmfkAES 6,203 6,203 - - 10,630 10,630 - -
- Derivative financialinstrument - Put option ~ — #7831 T -4 58 - - - - - - - -
Liabilties: Bf:
Financial labillies ABEE
-~ Promissory notes ALER (81,852) - - (818%2) - - - -
- Preferred shares -BiR (395,457) - - (395457) | (379,015) - - (379015

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of
Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which

they occur.
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7.

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements

Investment properties

REME

Derivative financial instrument
— Put option
PTEM B TR RO ERE

Promissory notes

A ER

Preferred shares

(EF i

Investment properties

The fair value of investment properties located in the PRC is
determined using income approach by reference to rental growth
rate per annum and capitalisation rate. The fair value measurement
is positively correlated to the rent growth rate per annum and
negatively correlated to the discount rate and capitalisation rate.

Valuation techniques

il (B 29

Income approach

WA

Binomial Option Pricing
Model
“IEAHEEEER

Scenario-based analysis
method

BRONE

Discounted cash flows
BRI ERE

7. AR EFEm@

FRE=RAFEHFENEHR

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTUEERAYE

(i) Rental growth rate per
annum

) HEeEFHEREK

ii) Discount rate

(
(
(i) REERE
(
(

i) Capitalisation rate

iy EAE=

(i) Probability of exercising the
put option

() 16 RE BB BER

(i) Discount rate

() BREE

(i) Discount rate
(i) BRIRE

REYF

Range

gE
3% (2024: 3%)

3% (ZZE -4 : 3%)
7%(2024: 7%)
7% (ZZE=NF : 7%)
4%(2024: 4%)
4% (ZZ U4 : 4%)

0% (2024: N/A)

0% (ZZTZMF - TEA)

3.5% (2024: N/A)

35% (P04 NEA)

5.5% (2024: 5.5%)

55% (—ZE Y4 : 55%)

fIRFEZREME 2 X FEEBEAZE
KE2EHEFRRERBENMEXREE - A
FEFERESFERETAR  HEH
EREREAMER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Derivative financial instrument — Put option

The fair value of put option is determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model. The fair value measurement is positively correlated
to the probability of exercising the put option. At 31 March 2025, it
is estimated that with all other variables held constant, an increase
in the probability of exercising the put option by 1% would have
increased the Group’s profit after income tax by approximately
HK$608,000 (2024: N/A).

Promissory notes

The fair value of promissory notes is determined using scenario-
based analysis method. The fair value measurement is negatively
correlated to the discount rate. At 31 March 2025, it is estimated
that: (i) with all other variables held constant, a decrease and
increase in discount rate by 1% would have decreased and
increased the Group’s profit after income tax by approximately
HK$2,186,000 (2024: N/A) and HK$2,109,000 (2024: N/A).

Preferred shares

The fair value of preferred shares is determined using discount
cash flow adjusted for discount rate. The fair value measurement is
negatively correlated to the discount rate. The discount rate adopted
was the sum of the yield of the 30-year China Government Bonds
and the average credit spread of comparable bonds that are similar
to that of the relevant entity of the valuation. In addition to the
assumptions adopted above, the Company’s projections of future
performance were also factored into the determination of the fair
value of the Preferred Shares on the valuation date. At 31 March
2025, it is estimated that with all other variables held constant, a
decrease in discount rate by 1% would have decreased the Group’s
profit after income tax by approximately HK$93,238,000 (2024:
HK$93,129,000), while an increase in discount rate by 1% would
have increased the Group's profit after income tax by approximately
HK$64,302,000 (2024: HK$64,974,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AFEE@
Information about Level 3 fair value ERE=RLAFEFENEH
measurements (Continued) (&)
The movements during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 ZEBE-—QATEFECEHREEZ
in the balances of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as ZHFERZEZNF=ZA=+—HLFE
follows: ZEEBWT
Non-financial
assets Financial assets and liabilities
$UBEE YBAERAR
Derivative financial
Investment instrument - Promissory Preferred
properties Put option notes shares
ITEMBIE-
REME RIbEE ESES BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL T T TET
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=F@A-H 1,565,499 - - (378,234)
Additions nE 7,023 - - -
Fair value change (note) AFERH (M) 17,038 - - (20,780)
Exchange differences incuded ~ ET AR RERATER
in “exchange reserve” in OCI &I MELEE (82,163) - - 19,999
At 31 March 2024 RZZT-ME=A=1+—H 1,507,397 - - (379,015)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AV EFTE @
Information about Level 3 fair value ERAE=RLAFEFENEHR
measurements (Continued) (#)
The movements during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 ZEEF=ZRATEAEZESRNRBEZ
in the balances of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as THERZZE-_MF=ZA=+—HLEFE
follows: (Continued) BEIOT : (4F)
Non-financial
assets Financial assets and liabilities
FNBER HHBEERERE
Derivative financial
Investment instrument - Promissory Preferred
properties Put option notes shares
fTERBIE
REME - REEE BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FEL TER
At1 April 2024 W-2-mEmA-A 1,507,397 - - (379,015)
Additions NE 9,645 - (78,482) -
Disposal e (173) = = =
Fair value change (note) NTEZE (D) 541,176 - (3,370) (20,514)
Exchange differences included G AEM2EYRATER
in "exchangereserve” in OC1 BB IHERZ5E (19,672) - - 4,072
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-R1F=A=+-H 2,038,373 - (81,852) (395,457)
Note:  Fair value changes of investment properties, derivative financial MisE : REEERMSEREEERERNER
instrument (i.e. the put option of the Company), promissory notes é%% ’ ?ﬁ\iEﬂ%Iﬂ (ED$’&ET§%J\>Z:Z
and preferred shares recognised in profit or loss attributable to g*&) *%Rﬁﬁ?&@f‘ﬁﬂxﬁ’ﬂ’&ﬂ?@&“
balances held at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-HHF —ENF
FHT FHET
Unrealised gain on investment properties BEMERNREE W= 541,176 17,038
Unrealised loss on promissory notes AHEBRAREIREE (3,370) -
Unrealised loss on preferred shares BERERSFEE (20,514) (20,780)
517,292 (3,742)
EREREREERAERAT / TN/ —AFFIR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

8. REVENUE 8. W=
The principal activities of the Group are set out in Note 1. REBHEZFEBE M -
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major RIEEERIRBRED 2KERTFLEH
products or service lines is as follows: ZWEDENT
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-REF —E 4
FET FAET
Continuing operations FFHESERER
Revenue from contracts with EEAMBHREEAEISHEABRR
customers within the scope of BEFANZWE (REESHE)
HKFRS 15 at a point in time
Disaggregated by major products or &2 * B E sk RG4S D
service lines:
— Trading of oil and liquefied - EEHMRRELIR
chemical products - 78,091
— Trading of electronic products —BEEETEM 988 -
988 78,091
Revenue from other sources H 3R 2 W &=
Rental income from oil and liquefied  J & M& B8/ T SASSEME & A
chemical terminal 150,691 164,143
Total revenue from continuing HEREEK 2B NRR
operations 151,679 242,234
Discontinued operation ERIEEE XK
Revenue from contracts with BEEMBMEEAE1SHEABRR
customers within the scope of BEFEHAzZWE (REERFHEE)
HKFRS 15 at a point in time
Disaggregated by major products or 2 E EE RS RELZE D
service lines:
— Agency income from insurance — R4 AR R IB A
brokerage service (Note 14(a)) (M5 14(@a)) - 11
151,679 242,245
Geographical markets B S
— the PRC — 151,679 242,234
— Hong Kong —B% - 11
151,679 242,245
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

REVENUE (continued)

Performance obligation information of revenue
from contracts with customers

Agency income from insurance brokerage service is from contract
with customers and recognised at a point in time when the services
are completed under the terms of each service agreement and
the revenue can be measured reliably, since only by that time the
Group has a present right to charge the customers for the service
performed. The invoice is due upon presentation.

Trading of oil and liquefied chemical products is recognised at
a point in time when the control of oil and liquefied chemical
products has transferred, being when the oil and liquefied chemical
products have been delivered to customers’ specific location.
Following the delivery, the customer has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the oil and liquefied
chemical products, has the primary responsibility when on selling
the oil and liquefied chemical products and bears the risks of
obsolescence and loss in relation to the oil and liquefied chemical
products. The normal credit term is up to 90 days.

Performance obligations of trading of electronic products are
satisfied at a point in time once control of electronic products has
been transferred to customers, being when the electronic products
have been delivered to customers’ specific location. Following the
delivery, the customer has full discretion over the use of electronic
products. The normal credit term is up to 90 days.

Contracts with customers with unsatisfied performance obligations
on the abovementioned revenue, have original expected duration
of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

8.
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9.

INTEREST REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
AND OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

(a)

9.

M E W R E MR A R At
W, (EE) FHE

Interest revenue (a) FEWZ
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_FRE —E_MF
FET FET
Continuing operations FFEAEER
Bank interest income RITHR B WA 6,907 2,717
Loan interest income (note i) B A B (MaED 637 -
Other interest income (note ii) H b A S WA (I RE D) = 778
7,544 3,495
Notes: BieE

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
advanced a loan of approximately HK$53,985,000
(2024: Nil) to an independent third party for a period of
six months. The borrower repaid the loan principal of
approximately HK$53,985,000 (2024: Nil) and paid an
interest of approximately HK$637,000 (2024: Nil) to the
Group before the specified maturity date.

The amount represents the accrued interest income on the
receivables from recession of contracts recognised by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Further details of the recession of contracts were set out in
the Company’s 2023/24 annual report.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

9. INTEREST REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME o
AND OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET (continued)

(b)

Other income and other gains/(losses),

net

Continuing operations

Exchange loss, net

Loss on disposal of property, plant

and equipment

Fair value loss on financial assets at

FVTPL, net

Fair value loss on preferred shares

(Impairment loss)/reversal of
impairment loss under ECL model
on trade and lease receivables, net

(Impairment loss)/reversal of
impairment loss under ECL model
on deposits and other receivables,

net

Fair value loss on promissory notes

(Note 32)

Rental income from sub-letting of

leased assets
Sundry income

PEE B 1EF RR
HEWE  BFE MREZEBE

LA EFABR I EEE
NTEEEFE
BABRZ AFEER
ZoRBERREKRES
RIERTEHEEEE
BTz CREEE),
DERIEN SR i JEIbe R
%o REAEBGRIEN BRI
BEBEX T RESE)
S REE BB O FEE
EHEEZ A FEERE
(FF3¥32)
SHAEEEZHSBA

FEMA

R B 3 B2 H A A R E At
Wi, (E58) BE @
(b) HaWAREAMUE
(E518) 35
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_RE —EoF
FBT FET
(1) (1,379)
(149) 7)
(4,427) (2,307)
(20,514) (20,780)
(2,518) 9,361
(174) 3,925
(3,370) -
44 48
100 309
(31,009) (10,830)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and
geographical delineation. In a manner consistent with the way in
which information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management, being the Directors, for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

Continuing operations

- the Oil and Liquefied Chemical Terminal segment represents
the business of the leasing of the Port and Storage Facilities
located in Shandong Province, the PRC and owned by
Shundong Port, and the trading of oil and liquefied chemical
products which was temporarily suspended during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

- the Trading of Electronic Products segment represents
the business of trading of electronic products. The Group
commences this business during the year ended 31 March
2025.

Discontinued operation

- the Insurance Brokerage Service segment represents the
business of providing insurance brokerage service in Hong
Kong. This segment was discontinued during the year
ended 31 March 2024 (Note 14).

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments
are the same as those described in the summary of material
accounting policies.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Directors monitor the results,
assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reportable segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets and current assets with the exception of certain property,
plant and equipment, certain right-of-use assets, interests in
associates, financial assets at FVTPL, derivative financial instrument
and other corporate assets. Reportable segment liabilities include
all liabilities with the exception of promissory notes, certain tax
payables, certain lease liabilities and other corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from
the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is earnings before
income taxes. For the purpose of assessment by the Directors,
the finance costs of bank borrowings, other borrowing and lease
liabilities were not included in segment results while certain of
the corresponding liabilities have been included in the segment
liabilities.

Customers from Oil and Liquefied Chemical Terminal and Trading
of Electronic Products segments are both located in the PRC
(place of domicile) whereas customers from insurance brokerage
service segment are located in Hong Kong. Geographical location
of customers is based on the location at which the goods are
delivered and the contracts are negotiated and entered into with
the customers. No geographical location of non-current assets is
presented as substantial non-current assets are physically based in
the PRC.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 is set out below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

140

Information about reportable segment profit or loss: FEBE D EERNER
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BRI
Oil and
Liquefied Trading of Insurance
Chemical Electronic Brokerage
Terminal Products Sub-total Service Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R
RBLIR BE
EH ETER Nt RERELERS @i
FET TER FET TER FET
For the year ended 31 March 2025 E-ECREZA=T-H
LEE
Revenue from external customers RENBEP 2 W5 150,691 988 151,679 - 151,679
Reportable segment profit/(loss) RESEEF/ (BB 644,456 (537) 643,919 - 643,919
Amounts incluced in the measure of — BASEETFINERFEZ 25
segment profit or loss:
Interest revenue M2 ez 7,542 - 7,542 - 7,542
Depreciation of property, plant and "% BEREENE
equipment (1,487) - (1,487) - (1,487)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREAENE (168) - (168) = (168)
Fair value gain on investment properties & EM AT ERE 541,176 - 541,176 - 541,176
Fair value loss on preferred shares BERLTEEE (20,514) - (20,514) - (20,514)
Impairment loss under ECL model on B 5 RS R RN EFIER
trade and lease receivables, net EHEEEEEA T RE
BREFE (2,511) (7) (2518) - (2518)
Impairment loss under ECL model on e REMERFIBRES
deposits and other receivables, net FEBREATZREES
HE (181) - (181) - (181)
Amounts not included in the measure  WEMNA H T (1B
of segment profit/loss) but reqularly FTEATHREFREZ2F -
reported to Directors:
Interest expense on: THSEMNERE :
- bank and other borrowings —RITRAMER (4,295) (33) (4,328) - (4,328)
~ lease labilities -HERE (24) = (24) = (24)
(4,319) (33) (4,352) - (4,352)
Income tax expenses FERAX (158,913) - (158,913) - (158,913)
At 31 March 2025 RZBZHEF=A=1-H
Segment assets SREE 2,493,008 3,494 2,496,502 - 2,496,502
Additions to non-current assets ERERBDEERE
during the year 44,988 - 44,988 - 44,988
Segment liabilities PEEE (825,383) (3,022) (828,405) - (828,405)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. 2EER @
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
B
FELEES Rek
Oil and
Liguefied Trading of Insurance
Chemical Electronic Brokerage
Terminal Products Sub-total Service Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B R
RErIm g%
B ETEM N RIS R @it
THT FET TAT FET TAT
For the year ended 31 March 2024  BZ-Z-ME=H=+-H
tFE
Revenue from external customers RENBER 2 W 242,234 - 242,234 11 242,245
Reportable segment profit/(loss) EXEET/ (BB 142,090 - 142,090 (252) 141,838
Amounts included in the measure of BADE RIS EC 25
segment profit or loss:
Interest revenue MEYE 2,716 - 2,716 - 2,716
Depreciation of property, plant and nE- BERRERE
equipment (1,581) - (1,581) - (1,581)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREERE - _ _ B _
Fair value gain on investment properties A MEN A FEKE 17,038 - 17,038 - 17,038
Fair value loss on preferred shares BERATEER (20,780) - (20,780) - (20,780)
Reversal of impairment loss under ECL 2 5 MR 5L AR & 5B R
model on trade and lease receivables, ~ FEHIEEBEEAT 2HfE
net BRZNFE 9,361 - 9,361 - 9,361
Reversal of impairment loss under ReREMBNFEREREE
ECL model on deposits and other BREATZRESBRR
receivables, net X 335 - 335 - 335
Amounts not included in the measure  TWEMA S FEF] (FE)
of segment profitfloss) but reqularly STEEFHREERE 25
reported to Directors:
Interest expense on: THEENF SRR -
- bank and other borrowings —RITREMER (8,192) - (8,192) - (8,192)
- lease liabilities -HERR (20) - (20) - (20)
(8,212) - (8,212) - (8,212)
Income tax expenses RS (27,393) - (27,393) - (27,393)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=ZA=+-H
Segment assets PEEE 2,118,778 - 2,118,778 - 2,118,778
Additions to non-current assets FRFRDEERE
during the year 14,176 - 14,176 - 14,176
Segment liabilities PEER (793,288) - (793,288) - (793,288)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10.

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets,

liabilities and other items are as follows:

Revenue

There was no inter-segment sale and transfer during the years

ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

No reconciliation of reportable and operating segment revenue

REE-_ZE_AFER_ZT_NF=A
=+—HILLFE BESEREERER -

MR HmEREEN RRBREAEESZE

is provided as the total revenue for reportable and operating WasAB R - B RIB IR E REE 5 I
segments is same as the Group’s consolidated revenue. w2 Bk e
Profit or loss B#
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-REF — T4
FET FHBT
Total profit of reportable segments WEDEBRT 643,919 141,838
Finance costs U1 %N (4,490) (8,921)
Other unallocated corporate income/ Hib kB AERA S
(expenses): (R :
— Interest revenue — B M= 2 779
— Administrative expenses — 1T X (18,202) (13,677)
— Reversal of impairment loss under — e REHMEWFIE
ECL model on deposits and other REBEHEEBEEXT
receivables, net OB EBEREEE 7 3,590
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 W 95 422
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL,  JEAFEFABRZHBEEE
net N EEBEEE (4,427) (2,307)
Fair value loss on promissory notes AR EZENTEEE (3,370) -
Share of results of associates pak(sh: XWNCIE ¥ 12,713 -
Other corporate income less other corporate  E b b Z W AR H 25 X
expenses 47 906
Consolidated profit before income tax for FRRAFET AR S R F
the year 626,294 122,630
Less: Profit before income tax from W BRI R EB RS
discontinued operation (Note 14(a)) 7t A A1 (PR 5 14(a)) - (170)
Consolidated profit before income tax for FREREEB2FA
the year from continuing operations B P18 BB 47 & i ) 626,294 122,460
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. 7EES @
Assets BE
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'OOO
—E_FF ey oK 3
FTET FET
Reportable segment assets REDEEE 2,496,502 2,118,778
Interests in associates REEE RN T R 224,591 -
Derivative financial instrument PTEMB T A -
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABRHNMIEEE 6,203 10,630
Other unallocated corporate assets: HthARDEEEE -
— Property, plant and equipment —WE - HWE LR 780 1,065
— Right-of-use assets —(EREEE 1,089 3,703
— Prepayments, deposits and other —FENFRIE - e REHAM
receivables JiE R 7R 08 2,221 4,592
— Cash and cash equivalents —“HekRaEEHER 1,566 25,900
5,656 35,260
Consolidated total assets IREREE 2,732,952 2,164,668
Liabilities =L
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'OOO
—E-RF —E-MF
FExT FET
Reportable segment liabilities WmESEEE 828,405 793,288
Promissory notes HH R 81,852 -
Other unallocated corporate liabilities: HtARDBEREARE:
— Other payables — H fth (< 5B 10,185 6,892
— Amount due to a shareholder —FEN —BREFE 5,700
— Amounts due to Directors —ERNESERIA 2,100 3,003
— Lease liabilities —HEAaRE 1,140 3,766
— Tax payables —E B 3,618 3,656
22,743 17,317
Consolidated total liabilities EEBEeE 933,000 810,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. ZEER @
Other items HiIEH
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RHF —E-mEF
FTHET FHET
Interest revenue F 2k =
Reportable segment total WMENRREE 7,542 2,716
Other corporate interest revenue HAh A B e 2 779
Consolidated total A BT 7,544 3,495
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BRERRENE
equipment
Reportable segment total REDERRE (1,487) (1,581)
Other corporate depreciation of property, HMPEDE  BER
plant and equipment REITE (285) (50)
Consolidated total rEBE (1,772) (1,631)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEENRE
Reportable segment total WMEDFERTE (168) -
Other corporate depreciation of right-of-use  H ¥ EREEENTE
assets (2,614) (2,558)
Consolidated total AR (2,782) (2,558)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of BREREMERFBEREBERE
impairment loss under ECL model on EEEEXT 2 ORE
deposits and other receivables, net BR), REFEREFE
Reportable segment total iﬁzi’\*ﬁ Gk (181) 335
Other corporate reversal of impairment loss £ b (> 3 5 (B 5 15 5 O 7 3,590
Consolidated total fREEER (174) 3,925
Addition of non-current assets REERBDEE
Reportable segment total WEDEREE 44,988 14,176
Other corporate addition of HthbEREENBDEE
non-current assets 216,535 -
Consolidated total rEBE 261,523 14,176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. ZEER @)
Revenue from major customers: KEFEREP W :
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E_RE —ET-MEF
FET FET
Derived From Oil and Liquefied SIRF o BB B T
Chemical Terminal segment: S 4E
— Customer A —®PFPA 114,111 127,230
— Customer B —&FB 31,421 31,308
— Customer C —-®FC - 78,091
145,532 236,629
FINANCE COSTS 1. BB
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-HF it S
FHET FET
Continuing operations FFREEEERE
Interest on bank and other RIT R HABE KT E
borrowings 4,328 8,658
Interest on promissory notes AEHZEF S (H3E32)
(Note 32) - 84
Interest on lease liabilities HMEaEMNE 162 179
4,490 8,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

12. FrERiRx

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EZHF —ZT-mE
F#ExT FHT
Continuing operations FFEEEER
Current tax g e
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") — B AT
(TEZEMEHD 1,047 -
Deferred tax — PRC RFEFRIE —
— Current year (Note 33) —ANFE (FFFE33) 157,866 27,393
Income tax expenses TR 158,913 27,393

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is recognised since the
Group has no assessable profit in Hong Kong for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

Pursuant to rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, BVI and
Independent State of Samoa (“Samoa”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands, BVI and Samoa.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC (the “PRC EIT Law") and
Implementation Regulations for the PRC EIT Law, the income tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is 25% for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law and other related regulations in the
PRC, non-PRC resident enterprises are levied withholding tax at
10%, 6% and various tax rates (unless reduced by tax treaties/
arrangements) respectively on interest receivable from the PRC
enterprises for income earned since 1 January 2008. The Group has
adopted withholding tax rate of 10%, 6% and various tax rates
on corporate income tax, value-added tax (“VAT") and other taxes
for the PRC withholding tax purpose respectively during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

HRAEEREEZE-_Z-_RAFENR_T N
FZA=Z+—HUEFEERBLERERT
A A ER B BTSRRI

RIEFERE RERAHERIEETS
B ([FEEE ) BERERG - AEEH
ARHENRSE REBRIHBENEEDSH
FHEMR TS o

BEFECEMETE (FRREPEREH
ED RPBIDERREEEBREY - B E
—ECRER T -_NFE=A=+—HIt
FE AEBEPEMEBRARZAEHEER
525%

MR A B 1 TS A I A B fth AR 8 (K
Bl BZFEZTNF—F—HiR FERHE
R 1 2 78 3t A B B U A JE I AP B 1 ZE A
BN RIR10% » 6% RZEART X (R
BB RR ZBEEE T RIRIN) B TE
MM -MRBE_Z-_RAER_T-_NEF=
A=+—BILFE  KAEBBHMNFTEE
M2 RIERA10% * 6% X ZEANRHE
B ZEFTISH - GEM ([BER]) REM
TRIARTEIR R o



12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

12. FiSHExX#@®

PSR ST BB PRSI RS A SRR T

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and profit

before income tax is as follows:

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZE-hHEF —E-F
FET FET
Profit before income tax expenses attributable to: 7!/ & FE{5 R FT15 77 &2
A )
— Continuing operations —RELEER 626,294 122,460
— Discontinued operation —BRIEEEETR - 170
626,294 122,630

Tax at the applicable rates to profit RIEAB G RAERBERR

in the tax jurisdictions concerned WA BEGE 2 1A 158,972 32,058
Tax effect of share of results of associates DIEEE R R RBE I MBEHE (3,178) -
Tax effect of non-taxable income HERBBAZ BT E (338) (769)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR FE S 2 s 2 4,197 1,649
Tax effect of deductible temporary AR MBE R E8H

differences not recognised D% (5) (15)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERRIEFEE R E 2,908 1,873
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss BACAENIESEN

brought forward k% (3,643) (7,403)
Income tax expenses PRSI = 158,913 27,393
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

13.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting)

13. EREF

AEBFRRFILNG, GEA) A TEIE

the following: B3R -
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-REF —ENF
FHET FHET
Continuing operations BEREER
Auditor’s remuneration 1% S5 B 7 B
— audit services —ZH R 1,300 1,000
— non-audit services (note i) — FERZEURTS (L) 50 50
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFECEREER 960 77,463
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W WENRERETE 1,772 1,631
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,782 2,558
Gross rental income from investment properties BEMEHRS WAL (150,691) (164,143)
Direct operating expenses arising from investment EEHEeBAZREDE
properties that generated rental income EAMBEELERX 11,935 5,735
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment LEDE WEL
RiEwEE 149 7
Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) (note i) B T (B IR E E 5 EM)
G
— Salaries, bonuses and allowances _%tr/i\ - JEAL N2 Bh 16,853 14,507
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRORAE FIFT B 3K 872 548
17,725 15,055
Discontinued operation ERIEEEER
Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) (note ii) 8 T AN (6355 E 5 Bil)
(B =xii)
— Salaries, bonuses and allowances *%’?é’:\ B4 N2 RR - 240
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREAMETEIMH R - 9
- 249

Notes: BfEE -
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, auditor's remuneration on (i)
non-audit services of approximately HK$5,020,000 (2024: Nil) were
capitalised as the investment costs of associates, which were directly
attributable to the acquisition of the abovementioned associates.
(i) The amounts of “Salaries, bonuses and allowances” and (ii)

"Retirement benefit scheme contribution”

of the Group are

approximately HK$16,853,000 (2024: HK$14,747,000) and

HK$872,000 (2024: HK$557,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (continued)

The Group had no forfeited contributions under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) and its retirement
benefits schemes in the PRC which may be used to reduce the
existing level of contributions during the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: Nil). There were also no forfeited contributions available to
reduce future contributions at the end of the reporting period (2024:
Nil).

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
retirement benefits scheme contributions charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme
at 5% of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped
at HK$30,000 per month.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their basic payroll to the
retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no significant
obligation apart from the contribution as stated above.

13.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 14. ERUEREXK

On 9 October 2023, the Group entered into the sale and purchase RZZFEZ=F+ANBE  AEEEBIE
agreement with the independent third party (the “Purchaser =EHTEFADVEERE W  BUHEA
A"), pursuant to which the Purchaser A has conditionally agreed ABRUHREREmMAEEEEERE L
to acquire and the Group has conditionally agreed to sell the EXLSEVBERBRART ([ZSEM])®
entire issued shares of iECO Financial Consulting Limited (“iECO 2HBEITRG  BREAX1,162,000
Financial”) at a total consideration of approximately HK$ 1,162,000 B ((HEFE]) - ZaBWEENER
(the “Disposal”). iECO Financial is principally engaged in the BBRMREB LR

provision of Insurance Brokerage Service in Hong Kong.

The Disposal was completed on 12 October 2023. The Disposal HEFHER-Z_=F+A+=-A%xK -
constitutes a discontinued operation under HKFRS 5, Non-current HARRHRBELCRE AAEBRNRED
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, as the provision Hoe— REEBVBRSENESRA
of Insurance Brokerage Service represented one of the reportable TEHEZ B EERBAIFAAEER
segments of the Group. HESBEBKERIEREETR -
Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the RZEZ=FMNA—HEZT=_=F+H4
period from 1 April 2023 to 12 October 2023 is set out below. TANMBER RIS EEBNYBE
BHEZIT o
(@) Financial performance of discontinued (a) CRIEREEBNBBER
operation i)
For the period
from 1 April
2023 to
12 October
2023
Notes HK$'000
N_E_=F
MA—B=
—E-=F
+A+=-HEM
B 5 FAT
Revenue & 8 11
Administrative expenses THHAX (263)
Loss before income tax KPS TRl T 18 (252)
Income tax expenses Fri5 % 5 2 -
Loss for the period BN EE (252)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary s —FEE AR 2 W 14(b) 422
Profit from discontinued operation BRI E T 2 m A 13 170
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

14. BRIEBEE®R @)

Disposal of a subsidiary (b) HE—RBMEAF
At
12 October 2023
RZZEZ=%F
tTA+=H
Notes HK$'000
B & FHET
Net assets disposed of R & 2 BEFE
Goodwill GRS 22 -
Prepayment, deposits and other TEATRIE - =@ R H A YR
receivables 8
Bank balances RITHETF 392
400
Direct expenses incurred FTEACEERY 340
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary s — BB AR 2 i 14(a) 422
Total consideration wRE 1,162

An analysis of the net cash inflow arising from disposal of a

subsidiary was as follows:

HE-—HHBARELEZRERA
SFEENTIT

HK$'000
FET
Cash consideration HWeERE 1,162
Direct expenses incurred FrEAZBEERY (340)
Bank balances disposed of Frib & 2 SRITHETF (392)
Net cash inflow arising from disposal of a subsidiary HE-—FNBRREEZR®
MAFER 430
No tax charge or credit arose on gain on disposal of the BERALEERIEKEEE 2 W
discontinued operation. EEBEIT HRER -
Cash flow information of discontinued (c)

operation

BRI EEEE YRR
BEH

For the period

from 1 April 2023
to 12 October 2023
MRZTE_=F
MA—BZE
.

+ A+ =B HIR
HK$'000

FHET

Net cash outflow from operating activities
Net cash inflow from financing activities

Net increase in bank balances of iECO
Financial

RETBRE R FR
BERBHRERAFER

ZRBE 2 RITHEFEINFER

(252)
597

345

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16.

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
following profit attributable to owners of the Company and
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding.

iz =

BE-_E-RER-E-_NE=/=+—
BILEE - WERLARDF) T B ERA
HEZRRE  BRSHRENERSREIM

ER
SREF
@) SREXEF

S IREARF TR T4 R A

B {3 P R B T4 5 BRI
EPHEE -

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EB-HF —ET-NF
Earnings &R FERT FET
Profit for the year attributable RATHEAR ANEIEFERRR
to owners of the Company:
— Continuing operations —RHEREEB 256,330 51,820
— Discontinued operation —BRIEEEB - 170
256,330 51,990
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares BROEE T & T
Weighted average number of U EERERRTZ
ordinary shares for the purpose TR T
of basic earnings per share 1,080,563 932,038
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SER#BEER

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 were the same as the basic earnings per
share, as the Company has no potential dilutive ordinary

shares.
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 17. EEM=E
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the BB EB QARG E383(1) 1E kA A (B
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BEENEEM ROFE2HRENES
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation e
are as follow:
For the year ended 31 March 2025: BE-_ZE_IF=A=+—-HLEFE:
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors’  and benefits benefit
fees in kind schemes Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
E A= 321 BIREF
Notes EEHe RENER B G st
fidzr TR THER THET TR
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Cao Sheng (Chairman) ERAE(ZE) - 630 18 648
Mr. Liu Yong (Chief executive officer) BB %1 (1B ##;) - 1,746 45 1,791
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral REBLE - 708 18 726
Mr. Luo Yingnan BEBRE - 330 - 330
Ms. Wang Yiren FToARTE (i) - 102 5 107
Mr. Lan Yonggiang Eknk (ii) - 109 6 115
Mr. Shi Jun RELE (iii) - 258 - 258
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
Directors
Mr. Tang Qingbin BERELE 138 - - 138
Mr. Fung Nam Shan Sl ks 162 - - 162
Mr. Sung Ka Woon REELE (iv) 166 = = 166
Mr. Wang Jinghua THELE (v) 32 - = 32
Total g 498 3,883 92 4,473

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

17. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 17. EEME @
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BHE-_Z_NWE=A=+—HILFE:
Salaries,  Contributions
allowances  to retirement
Directors’ and benefits benefit
fees in kind schemes Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e 2l SRR
Note 2ok REYMER BEE it
(o TAET FAT FTAT FHET
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Cao Sheng (Chairman) EREE(FE) - 360 18 378
Mr. Liu Yong (Chief executive officer) BI85 (7B ##) - 1,672 46 1,718
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral BREELE - 700 18 718
Mr. Lan Yonggiang Eosa skt - 240 12 252
Mr. Shi Jun RAERE - 240 - 240
Mr. Luo Yingnan BRBEAE (vi) - 238 - 238
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Tang Qingbin EEREE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wang Jinghua FRELRE 60 - - 60
Mr. Fung Nam Shan BRELEE 144 - - 144
Total bl 324 3,450 94 3,868
Notes: B sE

Appointed as the executive Director with effect from 20 December
2024.

Retired as the executive Director with effect from 13 September
2024.

Resigned as the executive Director with effect from 20 January
2025.

Appointed as the independent non-executive Director with effect
from 23 July 2024.

Retired as the independent non-executive Director with effect from
13 September 2024.

Appointed as the executive Director with effect from 4 April 2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was arrangement
under which one Director (2024: one Director) waived or agreed to
waive emoluments with total amount of approximately HK$735,000
(2024: HK$600,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2024: Nil).
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 18. BREFHFM AL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three Directors IERmFMALF =REFF(ZF
(2024: two Directors) whose emoluments are disclosed in Note ZHF B ES) NF BN EE17 HEE -
17. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two HEMMEAL(ZEZWHE: Z2AD)2
individuals (2024: three individuals) were as follows: BRI T
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E_RF —E -
FHExT FET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - AL R 2,000 3,037
Contributions to retirement benefit ROKAEFIET B R
schemes 37 85
2,037 3,122
The emoluments of two individuals (2024: three individuals) with ME(ZEZMF: =R)EaFdMALZ
the highest emoluments are within the following bands: e N FIATEE :
2025 2024
Number of Number of
employees employees
—E_RE —E-F
EEAE EE A%
Below HK$ 1,000,000 “~ 21,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 7T 1 2
2 3

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office (2024: Nil).

REBEE-_Z-_RF=RA=+—HIFE "
68 1830 4 [7) T B = A £ SO HE
& - fERIMAS AR S E1L 6 2ZE) s
EABEBMBE(CT_mE - &) -

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 19.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a)

Property, plant and equipment

g* BERREREHAEER

(@) W% - BERRE

Leasehold
improvement,
furniture,
office
equipment
and motor
Building vehicles Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HEME
& M-
BN
BF KkAE @t
FHET THAT THET
At 1 April 2023, net of accumulated R-ZE-=FMA—H"
depreciation HRBFINE - 5,652 5,652
Additions NE - 1,925 1,925
Exchange differences PE N Z 5 - (287) (287)
Depreciation e - (1,631) (1,631)
Disposal & - (36) (36)
At 31 March 2024, net of accumulated R-ZE-NE=F=+-—H
depreciation HRBFINE - 5,623 5,623
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-NF=A=+-—H
Cost B AR - 14,019 14,019
Accumulated depreciation 2ETE - (8,396) (8,396)
Carrying amount RREE - 5,623 5,623
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 19. 1% BERKBREAESE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) = (#)
(a) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) () ¥ BERE®E @
Leasehold
improvement,
furniture,
office
equipment
and motor
Building vehicles Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HEWE
£18 - HRM -
WARE
BF kA= st
TER TET FTET
At 1 April 2024, net of R-E-_NENA—H -
accumulated MBRRFIHE
depreciation - 5,623 5,623
Additions NE 25,913 2,250 28,163
Exchange differences R ERE (192) (49) (241)
Depreciation nE - (1,772) (1,772)
Disposal HE = (532) (532)
At 31 March 2025, net of R-E-RF=ZA=+-—-8H"
accumulated MR E
depreciation 25,721 5,520 31,241
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-HF=ZA=+-—H
Cost RN 25,721 15,426 41,147
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE - (9,906) (9,906)
Carrying amount REE 25,721 5,520 31,241
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 19. Y% BERRBREAESR
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) = (%)
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FHEEE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EB-HF —ETNF
FHET FHET
Carrying amount FREE
— Leasehold land —fHE i 6,960 -
— Leasehold properties —HEME 1,089 3,703
8,049 3,703
Depreciation charge TEER
— Leasehold land —HELH 168 -
— Leasehold properties —THEWmE 2,614 2,558
2,782 2,558
Total cash outflow for leases (note i) HERS ML 2% (T (2,889) (2,796)
Addition to right-of-use assets RNERHEEE
— Leasehold land (note ii) — & £ (Bt aEii) 7,180 -
— Leasehold properties —HEmE - 5,228
7,180 5,228
Notes: Wiz -
(i) Amount includes payments of principal and interest () HEcEpREREaEArAE R

portion of lease liabilities. These amounts were presented
as financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group acquired
a commercial unit in the PRC as its office premise at a
consideration of approximately HK$33,093,000 (2024:
Nil). The addition of right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$7,180,000 (2024: Nil) represented the leasehold land
portion of the abovementioned commercial unit. At 31
March 2025, the remaining lease term of the leasehold
land is 25.3 years (2024: N/A).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 19. V¥ BERIXKEBERERESE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) E (#%)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b) EREEE®@®)

rEEHEEZERLENX - HE
- REERP —F(—F M
FF)  MEKRKIIIRE R E
BETHER - A SETRARR
R fgft o THE I BT A ER
# - BMEEETSBERERE
opaii il

The Group leases various office premises. Lease agreements
are typically made for fixed periods of 2 years (2024: 2
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and
the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. REWHE

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
“E-RHF —ET_mEF
FTET FET

FAIR VALUE DFE
At beginning of year REAT] 1,507,397 1,565,499
Additions nE 9,645 7,023
Disposal & (173) -
Fair value adjustment N EFHE 541,176 17,038
Exchange adjustments PE 3% (19,672) (82,163)
At end of year RER 2,038,373 1,507,397

The investment properties held by the Group represents the oil and
liquefied chemical terminal located in Shandong Province, the PRC.

The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 0.58 to 7 years
(2024: 0.58 to 5 years). During the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group renewed the lease on the investment properties by
extending the lease period for two years to 2030 and increasing
the monthly rental income progressively from RMB9,600,000 to
RMB11,700,000. All leases are on a fixed rental basis and do not
include variable lease payments.

The investment properties have been pledged to secure bank
borrowings (Note 28(a)) as at 31 March 2024. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, the pledge was released upon the
settlement of the relevant bank borrowings by the Group.

The details of fair value measurement of investment properties are
set out in Note 7.

AEBERKANREMERLNFEILRE
B8 R R R BB T SR o

AEERBELEHEHEAELEME -
MEHAE — R B058E7F (T -0
F:05825F) REBEE_T_HF=
A=+—RALtFE ASEBRAERH
HMEE-_Z-ZTFERESBEFAAS
W A AR®960000TIREEARE
11,700,000 L EEIEEMEMNTEL - T A
ffIzE RS EE TREEREN -

WoZE-NE=ZA=+—H BEVED
VEIRIR - LABEERSR 7T 5K (B 5E 28(a)) ° i
HE-_Z-_AF=-A=+—HILFE &
HERAEB A ERRIRTTE R IEMER -

REWME 2 A HEEFBHNMET -

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

21.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REEATMNER
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-HF —ENEF
FET FHET
Cost of investments in associates (note) KRB QB E AR (M) 216,535 -
Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves SMEW R R R 8,056 -
224,591 -

Note:  Included in cost of investments is goodwill of approximately

HK$252,680,000 (2024: N/A).

On 17 June 2024, the Group acquired a 28% look-through
effective economic interest in the Opco Group, for a consideration
of RMB200,000,000 satisfied as to RMB120,000,000 in cash and
RMB80,000,000 by the issue of three tranches of promissory notes
which shall vest upon the satisfaction of the profit guarantees
during three profit measurement periods. Pursuant to the
acquisition agreement, a put option; and an early redemption
option on the promissory notes are granted to the Company.

Upon the completion of the acquisition, the Group recognised an
investment cost of associates of approximately HK$216,535,000,
representing (i) the cash consideration of approximately
HK$128,970,000; (ii) the fair value of promissory notes of
approximately HK$78,482,000; (iii) the fair value of put option of
the Company of Nil; and (iv) the capitalised costs of approximately
HK$9,083,000 which are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the associates.

Further details of the acquisition of the associates were set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 17 June 2024 and 29 August
2024.
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 21. RBEQTNER @)

The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of which ATRFRE T B LR RIES 252 A

are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not HRFELIMAREEEETIS®RE -

available.
Form of Place of Authorised Issued or
business incorporation/ or registered paid-up Group's effective The Target Company’s  Principal
Name of associates  structure establishment capital capital interest effective interest  activities
AL/
NGRS EBREYL RUBH EEREMER BRAFMRRE ARENERER BEAANERER TEEH
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECRE -“T-oME CZBCRE CEoNE
The Target Company ~ Incorporated ~ BVI US$50,000 US$100 40% N/A N/A N/A  Investment holding
(note i)
BRAE (M) iy ZERRES 50000% T 10057 40% oyl TER TER REALR
Prosperous Splendor Incorporated  Hong Kong HK$100 HK$100 40% N/A 100% N/A  Investment holding
Investment Limited
FRREARAA BRIV 10077 1007 40% ki 100% MER REALER
Shenzhen Hengsheng ~ Established ~ The PRC RMB5,000,000 Nil 40% N/A 100% N/A  Investment holding
Global Technology
Co, Ltd.* (the
"Wfoe")
RMITERRHBER KL M ARE Eid 40% TR 100% TER REER
RA(EBELR 5,000,000 7T
H])

Opco Established  The PRC RMBA431,000,000  RMB431,000,000 28% N/A 70% N/A Provision of technology
platform-based
services to institutional
funding partners and
asset-side of consumer
credit in the PRC

EXLT i el ARE ARE 2% ki 0% TR ARENRERERHE

431,000,000 431,000,000 7T REEGEEEAR
HERRT B RE
Shenzhen Baishunyuan  Established ~ The PRC RMB5,000,000 Nil 28% N/A 70% N/A~ Provision of technical
Technology Co., Ltd.* assistant services
(note ii)

AMIBEEMFEERR R el ARE i 2% TR 70% IR RERMXERS

a(fi) 5,000,0007T

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. RBEQXTNERS @
Form of Place of Authorised Issued or
business incorporation/ or registered paid-up Group's effective The Target Company's  Principal
Name of associates  structure establishment capital capital interest effective interest  activities
HRAL/
BENFER EBERYA RUBE EEAEMER DRAAKERE  ARENERER AEAANERESE IEXH
2025 2024 2025 2024
“E-RE -ZoME ZE-RE —ToNE
Shenzhen Lvhengtai Established ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000  RMB50,000,000 28% N/A 70% N/A" Inactive
Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
(note ii)
MITRERESRRE KT hE AE® AEH 28% TR 70% iR MER
ARAR (K 50,000,0007C 50,000,000
* For identification purpose only.
Notes: PR -
(i) At 31 March 2025, the Target Company has direct or indirect (i) R-ZE-_RAF=ZA=+—H"  BEZA

interests in its subsidiaries, and has Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
The Target Company and its subsidiaries (including Consolidated

Affiliated Entities) are collectively referred to as the “Target Group”.

The Opco is a Consolidated Affiliated Entity to the Target Company

which is further explained below.

The PRC law prohibits or restricts foreign ownership of companies
that conduct the relevant business or services provided by the Opco
Group. Accordingly, the Wfoe, the Opco, and certain registered
shareholders of the Opco entered a series of structured contracts,
namely (i) exclusive service agreement; (i) business cooperation
agreement; (iii) loan agreement; (iv) exclusive purchase option
agreement; (v) equity pledge agreement; (vi) voting right proxy
agreements; and (vii) spousal undertakings (collectively the

“Structured Contracts”) on 11 April 2024.

Under the Structured Contracts, the Wfoe has the power to
control the management, financial and operating policies of the
Opco Group, has exposure or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the Opco Group, and has ability to use its power
over the Opco Group to affect the amount of the returns attributed
to the Wfoe (i.e. 70%). As a result, the Opco Group are accounted
for as Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the Wfoe and so the
Target Company. Consequently, 70% of the financial results of the
Opco Group shall be combined to the Target Group’s consolidated

financial statements.

(ii) These companies are the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Opco.
Hence these companies are also Consolidated Affiliated Entities of

the Target Company.
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE KRR
For the year ended 31 March 2025 i ZE =T =-—HF=A=+—HILFE
21. REERATNER @)
BBAEEREARNHBENEER

T e TXMBERBERENEE RRIR
BEEAMBRSENSTENRROTE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates are set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amount shown in the associates’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards.

BRIV FE o

The Target Group
EEEE
For the period from
17 June 2024 to
31 March 2025
R=Z-MFE
ARATERZE
—E-FH4
=ZR=+—BHH
HK$'000
FET
Financial information of consolidated income statementand #HAWBEXRRGESZEWARHN
consolidated statement of comprehensive income B & R
Revenue e 796,108
Profit for the period attributable to the Target Company BEA A EGHRRF 31,782
Other comprehensive expenses for the period attributable to the BEAREEHR
Target Company Hih2mx (11,643)
Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to the BEAREEHA
Target Company 2EWRALLEE 20,139
Profit for the period attributable to the Group AN ER [E 4G HA 0k R 12,713
Total comprehensive income attributable to the Group AEBEEEEBALE 8,056

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR

163



164
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

21.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

21. REEERQTNER @)

At 31 March 2025

R=ZZB-RHF
=A=+—H
HK$'000
FExT
Financial information of consolidated statement of financial EREZ&£EHAHBRARKN
position of the Target Group Mg & #
Non-current assets FERBAE 68,278
Current assets MENVEE 668,873
Current liabilities B & (837,467)
Non-controlling interests e T 30,094
Net liabilities BEFE (70,222)
Reconciliation to the carrying amount of the Group'’s EAEEABERATDNERN
interests in associates: REERYER:
Net liabilities attributable to the Target Company BEARELEARETEE (70,222)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the NEBRBERRNERE
Target Company Mz L) 40%
Net liabilities of the Group’s interests in associates REBEREBERRIMNERD
aEFH (28,089)
Goodwill Bk 252,680
Carrying amount of the Group’s interests in associates REERBE R R R D
IRMEE 224,591




22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

GOODWILL 22. BE
HK$'000
FHET
Cost A
At 1 April 2023 R-ZZBE_=FWMHA—H 1,440
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 14(b)) R E — I E R T (TR 14(b)) B £ 85 (1,440)
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 RZZEZMF=RA=+—QH - ZZT=-mF
MA—BR-ZE-_AF=A=+—H -
Accumulated impairment losses Rt EEE
At 1 April 2023 R-E-—FmA—A 1,440
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 14(b)) P — M E R R (5 14(b)) B ¥ 84 (1,440)

At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2025 and 2024

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units that are expected to benefit
from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill
had been allocated to Insurance Brokerage Service segment (the ([RBa2

“Insurance CGU").

In year 2019, the financial performance of the Insurance CGU,
as a consequence of the intense competition from surrounding
competitors in the market, did not meet Directors’ expectations.
The Directors performed impairment assessments of the Insurance

CGU to which goodwill had been allocated.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the goodwill was
derecognised upon disposal of iECO Financial (Note 14), which

represented solely the Insurance CGU.

RZZE-WMF=A=+—H - ZZT-WF
WMA—BER-_ZE-_RAF=A=+—H -

FREE
RIE-_RAFR T -_MNFE=/F=+—H -

EB AP RBENEERNREESREEE
AT S A TP EF IR S E A B -
HENEEEC Y RERBELREDE
SIRSEABAM]) -

RZZ-NF ARTS LABREFHT
HRIRUR %hﬁ%?i%h%%ﬁ%
ARANAEEAN EXZCHCEIRRD
BHRBESELBUETRENG -

HE-ZZT-_MF=A=+—HLEFE &
BEOREEESEY (M 14) B ILE
ﬁ/u\ ’ /\1%?51%’3}'25/%@?5/}_%{4 °©

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

23. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 23. BEFRUWERRRERES
=%
N IE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_FRE —E U4
FER FHET
From independent third parties, net of loss KEBLE=H (K EE
allowance B#H)
— Trade receivables from contracts - REBEPEHZES
with customers JRE 5 BR 5K 412 149
— Lease receivables — e E g 56,964 39,738
57,376 39,887
At 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers RZE_=FNA—H KEZFAEHZ
net of allowance for credit losses amounted to approximately B5RBER(HMBEEBERE) AL
HK$163,437,000. 163,437,000/ 7T °
The Group normally allows a credit period up to 90 days to its AEEBEAREEEPRERZIOBH
established customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. FEEH -BEFPXBRE TATJ:KE E'JE ST A
For certain customers with good past repayment history, a longer EREFZHEMEPLME - AJREREHR
credit period may be granted. Trade receivables are non-interest ROEEH - ZHEBES 75’5% 8 o TEE
bearing. All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered BB ZEWERKER —FARE -

within one year.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade RIEHR - EREEH BT HREER

and lease receivables based on the invoice date and net of loss R E 5 e UR ) N E B & BUE R BR R
allowance, is as follow: DHTES T

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$'000

—E_FRE N4

FBT FET

0-90 days 0E 90K 28,927 31,187

91-180 days 91 £ 180K 28,282 8,551

181-365 days 181 £365 K - -

Over 365 days 365 KA 167 149

57,376 39,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EZREERRERES
=h —
IR ()
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not hold any collateral R-E_RFER_T_NF=A=+—0H"
over these balances. Details of the Group’s credit policy and AEBWERZSER/FTEEMETR -
impairment assessment on trade and lease receivables for the years HE T _AFEKR-_ZT-_NF=A=+—
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in Note 6(a). AEFE  AEENEERERE S ER
BRI JE AR & 1A 2 R B AT FF I E RN
M5 6(a) ©
Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial BEEMEZSHRaMBHREBAH - EYHE
statements, lease receivables of approximately HK$32,151,000 EFRIAL) 32,151,000 B L E HIESALE
were settled by the debtor.
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24, FENFIE - -BZERHEHMWERF
RECEIVABLES b |
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-REF —E-NF
THET FHET
Current assets RBEE
Sundry prepayments TEfT TS 2,365 5,683
Deposits e 1,011 778
Advances to staff BHRTFEL - 1
Interest receivables on time deposits T BB SR FE U B 4,875 -
VAT receivables (note) JEUIEERL (KEE) 430 90
Other receivables H A fE R IE 151 154
8,832 6,706

Note: At 31 March 2025, other receivables comprise of VAT recoverables
of approximately HK$430,000 (2024: HK$90,000) which will be

used to offset output VAT within one year and hence is accounted

for as a current asset.

Details of impairment assessment on deposits and other receivables

are set out in Note 6(a).

GEX

RZZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 HiEk
FXIE B 15 A] W [e] 35 18 FX 49 430,000 7 70
(ZZ ZPY4F : 90,0008 7T) * AR
HE—FNEERER - AR AR

e R H A FE U R IE 2 R E RS RIS E RN
Mzt 6(a) °

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

25.

26.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 25. BMAYEFAEBZZHEE
E
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RHF —ZT-mF
FET FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, REBLTHIERES -

at fair value EAFE 6,203 10,630

The above financial assets are classified as current as the
management expects to realise these financial assets within twelve
months after the reporting period.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY 26.

OVER THREE MONTHS BUT NOT OVER ONE
YEAR/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(@) Time deposits with original maturity over
three months but not over one year

LM EESEARDEE EREE
EBEBRBERME T @A RNBEZ
EUBEE -

REAERB=EAETE
B-FHNEHRER RER
Be%EEE

@) EIHAZB=EAER
BIB—FNERER

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
“E-ERF —ENF
FET FAET
Time deposits with original maturity over [REIEA A %8/ =18 A
three months but not over one year ETER—F8E TR 342,944 -

At 31 March 2025, time deposits with original maturity
over three months but not over one year from the date of
acquisition carried interest at prevailing market rate of 1.8%
(2024: N/A) per annum.

At 31 March 2025, the balances that were placed with
banks in the PRC and included in the time deposits above
amounted to approximately HK$342,944,000 (2024:
Nil). Remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

RZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8" RE
HEBWEA SRR BRE=REARE
B —FHNERFRIRRITNS
FRGE18% (ZF-ME : TiE
A)sta e

R-ZE-RF=ZA=+—H W
RAPRBIARIT Rt A Ll E 8 F
FREV KRR B 40 342,944,000 T (=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

26. TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY
OVER THREE MONTHS BUT NOT OVER
ONE YEAR/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

26.

REHABB=EAELE
B-FNEHER BER
Be%EEE W

(Continued)
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) BERBEELEEEH
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E_RF —E -
FHExT FET
Time deposits with original maturity not REEAB TR =E AR
over three months TE BT - 465,647
Cash at banks RITRE 14,061 124,816
Cash on hand FHEBS 235 259
14,296 590,722

At 31 March 2024, time deposits with original maturity
not over three months from the date of acquisition carried
interest at prevailing market rate of 1.3% per annum.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

At 31 March 2025, the balances that were placed
with banks in the PRC and included in the cash and
cash equivalents above amounted to approximately
HK$10,819,000 (2024: HK$564,880,000). Remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to the exchange restrictions
imposed by the PRC government.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group performed impairment
assessment on time deposits and bank balances and concluded
that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are
insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is
provided.

RZZEZWWFE=RA=+—H " RZ
HETERERER R =MA
MEBMGTERRRITMBSANEREF
1.3% & °

PITHSMERNE BIBITEHAE
K33 B R R, -

RZZE-_RAF=A=+—8 TN
A B R RITRET A LR & &3]
S EEBEE ML A%10,819,000
BT (ZZ Z U4 : 564,880,000/8
JL) o ExE X R EASF EBA
B HE R INE B HIFTAR R -

RZE—RAFER_FT-_NF=A=+—H "
AEEBETHRERRRITEFETHET
iy WBH AW HFHRITEON AL
MARK - Bt - WEREEBEERE -

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

27. OTHER PAYABLES

27. HEMARIR

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EZHF —ZT-mE
F#ExT FHT
Current liabilities RBAE

Construction cost payables FERTRREER AN 22,503 19,244
Amount due to a shareholder (note) B — 2 AR EFIE (M 5E) 5,700 -
Amounts due to Directors (note) JEREE 78 (fisE) 2,100 3,003
Other tax payables Hh pE R IE 4,494 4,556
Receipts in advance on rental income AR WA 1,528 1,177
Rental deposits received B EZS 1,072 1,083
Other deposits received Eqﬂlﬁ{ﬁhﬁﬁ - 4
Accruals fEt R 7,885 6,274
Other payables Hfth < FRIE 3,874 4,327
49,156 39,668

Non-current liabilities FrnBEE
Rental deposit received BWHEEZS 10,288 10,396

Note:  These are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

All current portion of other payables are expected to be settled or
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

28. BANK BORROWINGS/OTHER BORROWING 28. MITERHMER
(a) Bank borrowings (a) SRITER
The Group's bank borrowings are analysed as follows: REBEMRITERITHOT
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'OOO
ZEC-HF ZE P
FET FET
Fixed-rate bank borrowings: EERITHER
— Secured — B - 140,777
— Unsecured and guaranteed by —EEREEBLE=H
independent third parties ER 19,291 19,492
19,291 160,269
Carrying amount repayable:* JEEEREE - *
— Within one year —R—FR 19,291 19,492
Carrying amount of bank borrowings that ~ B& R ZJERIER 2
contain a repayment on demand clause HRITIERREE
(shown under current liabilities) B REEaE)
— Repayable on demand —RERER - 140,777
19,291 160,269
Less: Amounts due within one year and s R —FRE B A
shown under current liabilities méi},% &2 ;KIA (19,291) (160,269)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities 7| & IERE & (& 2 FE - -
Interest rate F=x 8% 4.8%-4.9%
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates * e ENREBEHENERBE

set out in the loan agreements.

2 IEE B HBEE -

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR

171



172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

28. BANK BORROWINGS/OTHER BORROWING 28.

(Continued)
(a) Bank borrowings (Continued)

The following assets and their respective carrying values as
at the end of the reporting period are pledged to secure the
Group’s secured bank borrowings:

SRITHER HttE R @
(a) RITERE)

THEERAESBE ZEREBERRE
HAREHWEHNESAERFEM
RITIER

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

—E-RF e Ut

FET FET

Investment properties (Note 20) "E W (M 20) - 1,507,397
(b) HAbER

(b) Other borrowing

The Group's other borrowing is analysed as follows:

AEBHHEMBRONMT

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-HF —EMF
FBT FH&T
Unsecured fixed-rate other borrowing: IR E B HMER
— Repayable on demand (shown under —REKER FIRR
current liabilities) mEN B &) 2,940 -
Interest rate A= 6% N/A T~ 4 FA

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a non-controlling
shareholder of an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company advanced an aggregate amount of
HK$2,940,000 to the abovementioned subsidiary.

At 31 March 2025, the advances are unsecured, interest
bearing of 6% per annum and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

TTEBKIT A

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_REF —ET-MF
FET FHET

Put option in relation to the acquisition of
associates

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group acquired certain
associates from an independent third party (the “Vendor”). Details
of the associates are set out in Note 21.

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the Vendor granted to the
Company a put option (the “Put Option”) such that if the actual
profit of the Target Group for the year ending 31 March 2027 is
less than 70% of the Third Guaranteed Profit (as defined in Note
32), the Company may exercise the Put Option at its discretion
during the period of 18 months after the determination of the Third
Guaranteed Profit (unless extended by the mutual consent of the
Company and the Vendor in writing) (the “Put Option Period”) to
require the Vendor to purchase from the Company the 40% of the
issued share capital (and shareholder’s loan, if any) of the Target
Company (the "Acquired Interest”) at an exercise price (the “Put
Option Price”) which is equivalent to the aggregate acquisition costs
paid by the Company for the Acquired Interest (including all interest
paid on the Promissory Notes A (as defined in Note 32), if any).

To secure the due and punctual performance of the Vendor’s
obligations (the “Secured Obligations”) if the Put Option is
exercised by the Company, for so long as the Secured Obligations
remain outstanding (i.e., until the Third Guaranteed Profit is met
or the end of the Put Option Period, whichever is applicable), the
Vendor: (a) agrees to charge the remaining 60% shareholding and
shareholder’s loan (if any) in the Target Company (the “Charged
Interest”) to and in favour of the Company; and (b) further
undertakes not to transfer any of the Charged Interest unless
the transferee(s) guarantee(s) the performance of the Secured
Obligations and fortify(ies) such obligations by continuing to charge
the Charged Interest to and in favour of the Company.

At 31 March 2025, the fair value of the Put Option is Nil (2024: N/A).
The details of the fair value measurement of Put Option are set out
in Note 7.

B ARBE S 2R RE B

REBE-ZT-_AF=A=+—HLFE"
rEBE—2BYUE=F(EH)KEE
TEE QT - GRS QBN BERNM
w21

RIBEWERSE  BARTARR—ERMA
HRE ([RUREIHED) - Bt - B S EH
ECE_AF-A=1+—HIEEHNER
mAERE ZIBREZBEHN (FE RMHE32)
H170% @ AR R A REETE £ = BIR B F
BISEARN(BRIFEAAREEHEHE
HRELER) ([REGAEAEBE]) WIS
8 Rh AR - ESRE FIR1THEE ([REH
EE])AARAREABEZQTNL40% 3
TRARBRRE R (ang) ([FrukiEfz=])
MZTEERERARRGATREREE
MBI ERN (RRERELZEA(ER
BMEE32) IMMMERE (InE)) »

M AR RTEREEE - A ARRE %
ZERBTEB (EREKD REE
REBHRES (ANEEFE-EHRE ST
EREROHEERRLER UERE A
) BAF Q@QRAEBEARKEARG AT
AEH B IR R AIHH R 60% ik i &R R
B (mA) ([HEAfER]) R (o) — K
AT IR S BRIEFGEARE
BITEREEREBEEARAERRA
Sam AR RS NRZRT

MR-EB-_RE=A=1+—H " BHBEN
AFEAZT(ZE_NE : TEB) - AH
RO R FEFENFBENMET -
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29.

30.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
(Continued)

Further details of the acquisition of associates were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 17 June 2024 and 29 August
2024.

PREFERRED SHARES

TTEBME TR @)

ERAWERE A RMNE —PHFBEHRAR
AARA-—ZE_NEA+EARK=Z
—mENAZTABHDE -

Brk

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$'000

—E-RHF —ZT-mF

FET FET

Preferred shares B 395,457 379,015

In prior years, Shundong Port, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued a series of preferred shares
("Preferred Shares”) to two independent third parties. They are
accounted for as financial liabilities at FVTPL.

The key terms of the Preferred Shares are summarised as follows:

Dividend rights

The holders of the Preferred Shares are entitled to special dividend
based on 8% of the issuance price when the following conditions
are satisfied in a particular year: (i) Shundong Port made a
distributable profit which is more than the special dividend for the
year; and (ii) Shundong Port has accumulated distributable profit
which is more than the special dividend for the year. Both profit
for the year and accumulated distributable profit are determined in
accordance with the PRC accounting standards.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

30. PREFERRED SHARES (continued)

Liquidation preferences

0

(ii)

If the assets and funds available for distribution are less
than the total contributions from preferred shareholders
and ordinary shareholders of Shundong Port, the entire
assets and funds legally available for distribution shall be
distributed ratably among the preferred shareholders and
ordinary shareholders in proportion to the contribution
amount each such holder contributed to Shundong Port;
and

If the assets and funds available for distribution are in excess
as compared to the total contributions from preferred
shareholders and ordinary shareholders of Shundong Port,
the distributions to preferred shareholders would be limited
to the contributions made by the preferred shareholders to
Shundong Port, plus the amount of dividends entitled by
the preferred shareholders but not yet paid. The remaining
assets and funds shall be distributed ratably among holders
of ordinary shares of Shundong Port.

Other features

The Preferred Shares do not have any redemption feature or
conversion feature.

The Group applied the discounted cash flow method to determine

the underlying equity value of Shundong Port to determine the

fair value of the Preferred Shares. The Directors considered that
fair value changes of the Preferred Shares that are attributable to
changes of credit risk of these instruments are not material. The
details of the fair value measurement of Preferred Shares are set out
in Note 7.

30. BER@®

BREEHE

@) Al D IR EERE & DRIERE
BRERRREEBRBERNEE
BE AR BED RN EREER
Ao RRERRBRREREBRRR
& BYIERER L E S BA IR
FZEBAAZBREOIDIK © R

(ii) WA D REENRE BBIERE
BEERBRREEBRBERNEE
AR RIAME R R BCR 2 R AS PR
18 58 B AR 17 B 3R B 7 4 H /)
B AMEEERRRAEESER
ARERNHREEE - A TEERE
SENIER B EBIRITAEAZH
BB IR

HA4s 8

18 78 B SR AL [T 4 B sk I A 4 o

AEEEAMRBASREEZETIERER
R AEE  NETBERNAFE -
EFERAREENZSIAEERRESMN
HrBERAVELBAIEKN - BHE
FERA T EFFENFBHNMET
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&A®E

Present Present
Lease Lease value of lease value of lease
payments payments payments payments
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HEMR HERNR | HEARZEE | BERNFHCRE
b 3 ke 13 “ECEHE —EoNE
TERT T TER TEL
Within one year —FR 1,275 2,890 1,236 2,727
After one year but within two years ~ —F&REMFR 124 1,277 92 1,237
After two years but within five years REEERER 372 375 253 267
After five years hF#% 4,460 4,631 1,459 1,556
4,956 6,283 1,804 3,060
6,231 9,173 3,040 5,787

Less: Future finance charges A ARBEER (3,191) (3,386)

Present value of lease liabilities HEBBERE 3,040 5,787

Less: Amount due for settlement B TZEAREBEE
within 12 months (shown FE (B RR
under current liabilities) REEREET) (1.236) (2,727)
Amount due for settlement +ZAAREBEETE
after 12 months (shown under (GIRRIEREBEET)

non-current liabilities) 1,804 3,060
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

PROMISSORY NOTES 32. ARRE
Promissory Promissory
Notes A Note B Total
AREEEA AHRIEB st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHIT
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=4mA—Q - 5,138 5,138
Repayment during the year FNER - (5,000) (5,000)
Effective interest expenses (Note 11) BB (FEE11) - 84 84
Interest paid during the year FREMFE - (222) (222)
At 31 March 2024 R-_ZE_MNE=A=+—H - - -
At 1 April 2024 R-E-mEmA—Q — ~ —
Fair value of promissory notes BETEALERHATE
issued (Note 21) (FF5E21) 78,482 - 78,482
Fair value change N EEE 3,370 - 3,370
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RAF=A=+—H 81,852 - 81,852
Represented by: RE:
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RF=A=+—H
— Non-current liabilities —JERBBE 81,852 - 81,852

At 31 March 2024
— Non-current liabilities

RZZE-_NMF=ZA=+—H
—FERBEaE - -

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE
32. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)
Promissory Notes A

The purpose for issuance of these promissory notes was used as part
of the consideration for acquiring 40% equity interest of the Target
Company (Note 21). The Company issued the promissory notes in
three tranches with an aggregate nominal value of RMB80,000,000
(collectively “Promissory Notes A").

The repayment obligations of the Company, as issuer, in respect
of the principal amount and interest of the Promissory Notes A are
subject to vesting and become due on maturity, in accordance with
the following terms:

- Principal amount of RMB14,546,000 (“Tranche PG1") out
of the Promissory Notes A shall vest on, and to the extent
of, the satisfaction of the Target Group’s actual profit of not
less than RMB20 million for the year ended 31 March 2025
(the "First Guaranteed Profit”). The principal amount and
accrued interest on the vested portion of Tranche PG1 shall
be due and repayable on the date falling 42 months from
the date of issue (or if that is not a business day, the first
business day thereafter) and that is 16 December 2027 (the
"Maturity Date”);

- Principal amount of RMB21,818,000 (“Tranche PG2") out
of the Promissory Notes A shall vest on, and to the extent
of, the satisfaction of the Target Group’s actual profit of not
less than RMB30 million for the year ending 31 March 2026
(the “Second Guaranteed Profit”). The principal amount
and accrued interest on the vested portion of Tranche PG2
shall be due and repayable on the Maturity Date; and

- Principal amount of RMB43,636,000 (“Tranche PG3") out
of the Promissory Notes shall vest on, and to the extent of,
the satisfaction of the Target Group’s actual profit of not
less than RMB60 million (the “Third Guaranteed Profit”).
The principal amount and accrued interest on the vested
portion of Tranche PG3 shall be due and repayable on the
Maturity Date.

The determination of the Target Group’s actual profits are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 17 June 2024.
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= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)
Promissory Notes A (Continued)

The First, Second and Third Guaranteed Profits are collectively
referred to as the “Guaranteed Profits”. The Promissory Notes A
are deposited by way of escrow with the Company pending the
determination of the extent of satisfaction of the Guaranteed
Profits by the Directors of the Company with reference to the
accounting policies of the Company. If the Target Group meets
the Guaranteed Profits for the year ended 31 March 2025 and
the years ending 31 March 2026 and 2027 (collectively the “Profit
Measurement Period”), the relevant tranche of Promissory Notes A
will immediately, finally and unconditionally vest and be released to
the Vendor (or his nominated entities as he may direct) within 30
days after the final determination of the actual profit by the board
of Directors. If the actual profit of the Target Group for any Profit
Measurement Period turns out to be less than the corresponding
Guaranteed Profit, the relevant tranche of Promissory Notes A
will be cancelled absolutely and immediately by the Company as
compensation for the failure in satisfying the relevant Guaranteed
Profits.

Interest shall be accrued on the principal amount at the rate of 4.8%
per annum from the date of issue or vesting (whichever is later) to
the date of actual repayment, payable in one lump sum in arrears
on the actual date of repayment and cancellation of the relevant
principal amount of the Promissory Notes A.

Any vested portion of the Promissory Notes A may be assigned or
transferred in whole or in part by the note-holder(s) to any person,
provided that all transfers must be notified to the Company and
no transfer shall be made to connected persons of the Company
without the Company’s prior written consent. In giving such
consent, the Company will ensure compliance of the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules including those regarding financial
assistance by connected persons. No transfer is permissible for any
unvested portion of the Promissory Notes A.

32.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

32.

PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)
Promissory Notes A (Continued)

The Company may redeem any part of the vested Promissory Notes
A at 100% of its principal amount (plus all accrued but unpaid
interest, if any) at any time prior to the Maturity Date. The fair value
of the Promissory Notes A has been taken into consideration of
the early redemption option of the Company. The Company did
not recognise the early redemption option as a derivative financial
instrument separately on the consolidated financial statements.
The note-holders may not demand the Company to make early
repayment of the Promissory Notes A in any event.

The details of the fair value measurement of Promissory Notes A are
set out in Note 7.

Further details of the acquisition of associates were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 17 June 2024 and 29 August
2024.

Promissory Note B

The purpose for issuance of the Promissory Note B is for the
settlement of the amount due to an independent third party.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group repaid the
Promissory Note B in full at the amount of HK$5,000,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the
Group.

33. EEEHEERS

TRARNEERANIZRIEHRBALE -

Fair value

adjustment

on investment

properties

HK$'000

REWE

AR ERE

FHET

At 1 April 2023 W-E-=%mA—H 194,889
Charged to profit or loss (Note 12) Biam=k (i 12) 27,393
Exchange difference VE X ZRE (10,468)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_MFE=A=+—~H 211,814
At 1 April 2024 R-ZT-JUFPgA[—H 211,814
Charged to profit or loss (Note 12) BEmMk (HE12) 157,866
Exchange difference EHZER (3.361)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRAF=A=+—H 366,319

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 4(p), the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of unused
tax losses of approximately HK$67,704,000 as at 31 March 2025
(2024: HK$85,429,000) as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the tax losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. At 31 March 2024, the
unused tax losses of approximately HK$22,420,000 (2025: Nil)
will be expired by 2029 (2025: N/A) under current tax legislation.
The remaining unused tax losses of approximately HK$67,704,000
(2024: HK$63,009,000) will be carried forward indefinitely as at 31
March 2025. The unused tax losses of the Group have not yet been
agreed by respective authorities.

BHEWT4p)MEGHE  RZ2F
—hAFZA=+—H AEBETERDY
67,704,000/ 7w 2 AE AR IAEE (ZF
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL 3. BRA
Number
of shares Amount
‘000 HK$'000
BHEE &8
T FAT
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BAREEO0.01 B ITH L@k
at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 HRZ-_ZT-_=FA/—H -
and 31 March 2025 —E-NE=A=+—0H"
:%:Ei@ﬂ-ﬁ&
—E-RAF=A=+—H 150,000,000 1,500,000
Issued and fully paid: EERTRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEB T L B
at 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FIA—H 720,563 7,206
Issue of new shares (note) BTH D (HE) 360,000 3,600
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREE.01 BT LB
at 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and RZZT-_WMFE=A=+—H"
31 March 2025 —EOMFRMA—HBK
—E-RF=A=+—H 1,080,563 10,806

Note:  On 30 August 2023, 360,000,000 shares were duly allotted and
issued by the Company to Cosmic Shine International Limited
(the “Subscriber”) at the price of HK$0.416 per share for a total
consideration of approximately HK$149,760,000, according to
the subscription agreement entered on 28 April 2023 and under
the specific mandate obtained from the independent shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 18
August 2023. The Subscriber effectively held 53.25% of issued
share capital of the Company and is legally and beneficially owned
as to 50% by Mr. Cao Sheng and 20% by Mr. Liu Yong, who are
the executive Directors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

35. URGBABERZAR

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a)

(b)

Old Share Option Scheme

The Company has a share option scheme, which was
adopted by the shareholders on 24 June 2013 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) and unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the date
of adoption. Eligible participants of the Old Share Option
Scheme include the Directors, independent non-executive
Directors, other employees of the Group, suppliers of
goods or services to the Group, customers of the Group,
any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group and any non-
controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries.

There has been no share option granted or exercised since
the Old Share Option Scheme was adopted in June 2013.
The Old Share Option Scheme expired in June 2023.

Further details of the Old Share Option Scheme were set
out in the Company’s 2023/2024 annual report.

New Share Option Scheme

Following the expiry of the Old Share Option Scheme in
June 2023, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) and unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from the date of adoption. Eligible participants
of the New Share Option Scheme include the Directors,
independent non-executive Directors, other employees of
the Group, and also the directors or employees of holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies
of the Company by considering their participation and
contribution to the development of the Group and/or the
extent of benefits and synergies brought to the Group.

(a)

(b)

ERRESTE

ARaERER_TE—=ZFA
BN — BRI ([E
BB ERTE]) - BRIESTTEUHSE

71 MAIEBRES S Rin A
EE0FA—BEBR - EFRE
AEZAERSEERRES B
MIFMITESR AKEZHMES -
AEBZERARGHER - N&
BEE RASBERHTE
BREMRMIEZEMALRE

B8 M AR BN A B2 AE (] SRR AR
PR -

B -ZE—=ZFRXARMNERREST
EJLMK Iﬁﬂihﬂj&mﬁﬁﬁﬁx%o
EEREEER_ZE_=FA
I_l/%
BREERET BN E - PFIEH

-

AIZE= /T PUFF

MBRESE

REBREGFENR T =_=FA
&g - AR EERE W—Iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂx%
ETEI (T RERTE]) - BRIESTT
BUBSEET - BRIFTE R & H
KMBHEFI0FRA—EBR -
SIERETS A ER2HERE
B BUFNTEST AEHZ
Hithfg B AR AT 2 ER A A
AREMBARIKEE AT 2ESH
EE EFREERBESHAEEHE
RZ2EREEKRRAETEEN
WA= M B RBMEIEE -

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR

183



184

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

35.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(b)

New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to the annual general meeting passed on 29
September 2023, the general scheme limit of the New Share
Option Scheme is set to 108,056,289 shares, representing
10% of the Company’s issued share capital on the date
of meeting, with the passing of ordinary resolution, which
allows the Company to grant further options carrying
the rights to subscribe for a maximum of 108,056,289
shares. This is also the maximum unexercised share options
currently permits to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme at any time.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive Directors. In addition,
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non- executive Director, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time, are subject to (i) dispatching a circular
in advance which contains the details of the grant; and (ii)
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

35. URGBpAER 2SR @

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(b)

New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within a period as specified in the offer letter, upon
payment of a non-refundable consideration as specified
in the offer letter. An offer for the grant of options under
the New Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance for a certain period as specified in the letter of
offer (the “Acceptance Period”) and if an eligible participant
wishes to accept the offer, he/she should do so by the end
of the Acceptance Period together with the making of a
non-refundable payment of the consideration for the grant
in favour of the Company. The consideration for the grant
may be HK$1.00 or such other nominal sum in any currency
as the board of Directors may determine and specify in the
offer letter. The Acceptance Period can be determined by
the board of Directors at their sole discretion when making
the offer for grant. The Acceptance Period is normally not
less than 3 business days and not more than 14 business
days after the day of offer, provided always that the
Acceptance Period shall not extend beyond (i) the 10-year
life span of the New Share Option Scheme (or its date of
termination, if earlier); (i) the exercise period of the options
being offered for grant; and/or (iii) the date on which the
grantee ceases to be an eligible participant. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
board of Directors, and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the offer of the share options.

(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

35.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(b)

New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Directors, but may not be less than the higher of:

(@) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of the offer of the share options;

(b) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer; and

() the nominal value of the shares on the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

There has been no share option granted or exercised since
the adoption of the New Share Option Scheme on 29
September 2023. At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
has no outstanding share option under the New Share
Option Scheme.

At 31 March 2025, the remaining life span of the New
Share Option Scheme is 8.50 years (2024: 9.50 years).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. XARIMBRRKRBES
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )]
Statement of financial position of the (@) AEATEBBMRRK
Company
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
Notes —E-REF —EC4E
[{hg=3 FExT FET
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 780 1,065
Interests in subsidiaries N EENETEE OE - 36(a)(i) 591,520 665,565
Investments in associates REEE QN AIMIZE 21 216,535 -
Derivative financial instrument PTEBETA 29 = -
808,835 666,630
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other  FEffFUE » & &
receivables Hofth pE U kB 1,331 3,706
Financial assets at FVTPL BRFER AEBR
WK EE 25 6,203 10,630
Cash and bank balances He RIRITET 858 25,557
8,392 39,893
Current liabilities REBAEE
Other payables and accruals E Ath &~ 3R IE K FE R RIE 14,817 6,695
Amount due to a subsidiary JE A~ —FEI BT B8 A Bl 3R 41,937 -
56,754 6,695
Net current (liabilities)/assets HRE (BE) BEFE (48,362) 33,198
Total assets less current HEERRBAE
liabilities 760,473 699,828
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Promissory notes HH T 32 81,852 -
Net assets BEE 678,621 699,828
Capital and reserves EXRFE
Share capital A&7 34 10,806 10,806
Reserves G 667,815 689,022
Total equity B 678,621 699,828
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. ARTAHMBRARKREEE
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 5 ®)
(Continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) A2BHMBERRE &)
Company (Continued)
(i) Interests in subsidiaries (i) RIE L gy
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E_RE —EMF
FET FET
Unlisted equities, at cost* JELETEEE A - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR B B A B A 591,520 665,565
591,520 665,565
* The balances represent amount less than * ZE R 701,000

HK$1,000.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
In the opinion of the Directors, the amounts due
from subsidiaries will not be repaid within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period
and are, therefore, presented in the statement of
financial position as non-current assets.

Energy International Investments Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

BITH G o

JE W BB N B RRIE R SR AR
H B REREEERY -

o ERKHE AR

RIEAG TR E HI R

=

/A ANEERE Rt

REBRRAKRZDBIER



36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b)

Reserves movement of the Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

36. AQEHMBRRRRFEES

B (w)

(b) ALTAREEH

Share Capital  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REAEE EXfE 2HESR st
FEL TEL TER TET
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FNA—H - 609,657 (31,776) 577,881
Loss and total comprehensive FRNBEBRREARTAE
expenses for the year - - (32,061) (32,061)
Issue of new shares (Note 34) BTk (M5 34) 146,160 - - 146,160
Transaction costs incurred in connection  FAEFTI EE 2 R H A A
with the issue of shares (2,958) - - (2,958)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_N&=A=+—H 143,202 609,657 (63,837) 689,022
At 1 April 2024 RZE-NENA—A 143,202 609,657 (63,837) 689,022
Loss and total comprehensive FRNBEEREERTAE
expenses for the year - - (21,207) (21,207)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRF=ZR=1+—-H 143,202 609,657 (85,044) 667,815
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

37.

RESERVES

Nature and purpose of reserves

()

@ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

Share premium

Share premium arose from the issue of shares of the
Company at a premium net of transaction costs associated
with the issue of shares.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly arose from the Company’s capital
reorganisation in 2005 and the Company’s capital reduction
in December 2022.

Exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the
net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their
functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency
(i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in OCI and accumulated
in exchange reserve. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy of foreign currencies set out in
Note 4(s).

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with
the fair value changes arising from the reclassification
of Group’s owner-occupied properties to investment
properties.

Other reserve

Other reserve mainly arose from the adjustment made to
the amount of controlling and non-controlling interests
arising from the capital injection by non-controlling interests
resulting in a change in the Group’s ownership interests in
non-wholly-owned subsidiary.
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38.

39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balances. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank borrowings (Note 28(a)), other borrowing (Note 28(b)),
preferred shares (Note 30) and promissory notes (Note 32) and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part
of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with the capital. The Directors balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividends, issuance of new shares
and share buy-backs as well as the raising of new debts, if required.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As lessor

The investment properties held by the Group for rental purposes
have committed leases for the next 5.33 years (2024: 4.33 years).

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on the lease are as follows:

38.

39.

EXERER

REBERAER  URARKEEANER
BRENFERLE  RNEABLEHIK
2N VNS CIE RS L b g
BEFEMER -

AEBEEARERRER  EBERTE
(M E28(a)) ~ H Al 8 3K (M FE28(b)) -
BRI (BEE30) RAH g (MRE32) »
UEARRBGHEE ANEERED  EPEEC
BITRA - BERRERF -
EETHRAERNRE - (FRARENZ—
B BEEFHEEARARBAENERZ
R o EHRBJBIRMNEE - BITHRAN
B EEAREENE (MME) KFEH
ERHERRERE -

REedEOR B
EREEA

AEFENAEENEENIREMEZ A A
FAERAARES33F (Z T _IU4F 1 4334F)

A2 EWARBIRBEENHAT

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

“E-RF —EomE

FET FAET

Within one year —FR" 114,794 114,450
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 121,132 114,450
After two years but within five years MERBRFA 383,846 267,049
Over five years AFMNRE 46,014 -
665,786 495,949
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

40.

41.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

40. BAREE

REBRBEMRZERALEWNT

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-REF —ENF
FET FHET
Capital commitments in respect of: AT & 18 2 8 AR HE -
— construction of oil and liquefied —fin KR ES
chemical terminal L TRIGSEER 12,995 8,966

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has the following transaction with its related parties.

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Directors as disclosed in Note 17, is
as follows:

41.

BEALRS
Bl & BT MR L At 3007 AT B ORI A

IRGREHRI  REERERBATREA
e

TEEBABZHM

AEBTEERABZHM (BEMFE7
PRI BRNESRE)MT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

—E-HE —E 4

F#ExT FHET

Short-term benefits = HtE A 4,381 3,774
Post-employment benefits BER 2R A 92 94
4,473 3,868

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined
by the board of Directors (upon the recommendation of the
remuneration committee) having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 42. REBRAZ2RE
(@)  The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries (@) UTHREHIN-_Z-_HF=A
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected —t+—HEERAFTEFELEH
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 March ¥4 BELBBENWEBRRFS:
2025:
Particulars of
Place of issued share
incorporation/ capital and
establishment and registered Proportion of
Name of subsidiaries operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
AL/ BRIRAR
KEARER RIREELE HfEAREE EHREELA 354
Held by the
The Group's Held by the Company's
effective interest Company subsidiaries
AREERER BAARNE AARANRAREE
Treasure Tone Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
(2024: His1) (2024:100%) (2024:-) (2024:100%)
BiEARAT i 17 100% - 100% RASR
(CE-mE: (CR-mE: (ZEZmE:-)  (ZTZWE:100%)
1%7) 100%)
Mission Achiever Limited Samoa Us$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
(2024: Uss1) (2024: 100%) (2024: - (2024: 100%
Mission Achiever Limited EED E3 100% - 100% RERR
(ZE-p&: (ZZzp%: ZECRE:-) (% _M
1%7) 100%) 100%)
Mid-Ocean Hong Kong Investrent Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
Limited ("Mid-Ocean”) (2024: HK$1) (2024: 100%) (2024: 4 (2004: 100%)
PEEAREERAA (7)) (3 BT 100% - 100% REZR
(ZE-p&: (ZE-pE: ZECRE:-) (ZZopsE:
1%7) 100%) 100%)
Shundong Port* The PRC RMBA03,040,036* 55.17% - 55.17% Leasing of oil and liquefied
(2024: RMB403,040,036) (2024:55.17%) (2024:4) (2024:55.17%) chemical terminal, the
PRC
BT hE ARB403,040,036 77 55.17% 55.17% BERRRAR IR
(z2zm&: (Z3-mF: _7_M ) (ZZopg: R
ARE403,040,0367T) 55.17%) 55.17%)
Cheerful Dragon Limited BV Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
(2024: Uss1) (2024:100%) (2024:100%) (2024:-)
lFERRAT ZERAEE 1£7 100% 100% - REER
(ZE-pf: (cE-pE: (ZZzpE: (Z22pE:-)
1%7) 100%) 100%)
Cheerful Dragon Technology Limited® Hong Kong HK$100 51% - 51% Trading of electronic products
(2024: Nua) (2024: NvA) (2024: NJA) (2024: NIy
lEMRERLR (3 10087 51% - 51% EESTERRE
(CE-mE: (% _Eﬁ (ZZ-p%: (Z3-mE:
TER) TER) TER) TER)

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ =%

T RAE-A=+—HIEE

42. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42. RBLREZRE @
(@) (Continued) (@) (#&)
* This company is a sino-foreign owned enterprise 3 L RRABEFRBEKILARING
established in the PRC. B
# It included paid-up capital of preferred shares of # RIZE_AFR_T_WOF=
RMB 180,000,000, and together with the excess paid-up A=+—H HBEELRZ
capital of RMB90,000,000, it formed the principal amount %2 B% A A R %5 180,000,000
of preferred shares of RMB270,000,000 at 31 March 2025 TERBEHAERAARE
and 2024 (Note 30). 90,000,000 7T + H #5 5K {8 5 ik
A& # A R ¥ 270,000,000 7T
(HE30) °
e This company is newly incorporated during the year ended @ ZATIRHE_T_AF=
31 March 2025. RB=+—B L FEHFMRTL -
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at FIBME A RN mE ARG EIETT
the end of the reporting periods. ERIMEBHES °
(b) At 31 March 2024, the particulars of the wholly-owned (b) W-—Z-—mWFE=A=+—-H 8=
entities de-consolidated since 2010 (Note 2(b)) were as T LFRITBEAARZEZEE
follows: BE (B 2(0)) FFBAT ¢
Place of Particulars of
establishment and registered Proportion of
Name of the companies operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
ARER AIREEY AfERE FREERLA IEER
Held by the
The Group's Held by the Company's
effective interest Company subsidiaries
AEEERES BALAEE ARLAKEATERE
QHFSMI (Note 2(a))* The PRC HK$40,000,000 100% - 100% Exploration of mine, the PRC
EERR (W) 1 4000000077 BEDR +E
IMFSMI (Note 2(a)) The PRC HK$30,000,000 100% - 100% Not yet commenced business
REETAGEIN Gl 300000007 AARBEERH
# These companies are wholly-owned foreign enterprises # ZERBRANFBKHING

established in the PRC. On 5 November 2024, the Group
disposed the holding company of QHFSMI and IMFSMI at
a consideration of HK$100,000. Details of the disposal are
set out in Note 42(d).
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42. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42,

(o)

The following table lists out the information of Shundong

Port that have material NCI to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-

company elimination.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

REBARZRE &)

TRINEBEHAEEBEKRNIE
BEREENIRREBHEEN - BBE
P EIEARINH I 2 ATR S8 -

Name Shundong Port
Z2% JIE 3R 7 7%
2025 2024
“E-RF —E e
Principal place of business/ FEEEMD PRC/PRC PRC/PRC
country of establishment BT PTE BT K HEHE HEHE
% of ownership interests/ EERERRAERN

voting rights at board of
directors held by NCI

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Net assets attributable to NCI

HEEERD NEFEZ

%= %

BEEFE

FEREDEEEEFE

44.83%1/33.33%

44.83%/33.33%

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
2,075,794 1,511,955
459,466 606,823
(543,699) (775,112)
(773,869) (592,748)
1,217,692 750,918
546,014 336,712
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42,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

42. RBRARZERE @)

(c) (Continued) (c) #)

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-HF —EOF
THERT FHET
Revenue & 150,691 242,234
Profit for the year F M5 ) 471,323 96,447
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 2 T U A 4258 466,774 72,987
Profit attributable to NCI FEERHE 2 PR 211,341 43,247

Total comprehensive income attributable  JE 12 A% % & 1 2 H WA 4258
to NCI 209,303 32,687
Net cash inflow from operating activities & & /EB TSR SR AFE 108,847 388,134
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & /& B FT1SIH € R HFRE (442,625) (17,866)

Net cash (outflow)inflow from financing B EEBFEERE (Rd)

activities AR (222,839) 126,026
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= by E S E I EE:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE

42. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(d)

Disposal of subsidiaries not constituting a
discontinued operation

On 5 November 2024, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
the Group (the “Purchaser B”), pursuant to which the
Group had conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser
B had conditionally agreed to purchase, the entire equity
interest of Smooth Way International Limited (“Smooth
Way"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
its subsidiaries (including QHFSMI and IMFSMI) (collectively
the “Smooth Way Group”) and the receivables from
the Smooth Way Group, for a cash consideration of
HK$100,000 together with an undertaking provided by the
Purchaser B. The disposal was completed on 5 November
2024.

The assets and liabilities of the Smooth Way Group at the
disposal date were as follows:

42. RABARZEE @)

(d HEKHBEAR EEBRE
RIEEEXER) @)

RZEZME+—AARA - A%E
HAEE -—2BIE=H(EH
BRI —MmEEWRS  BUAE
EEKHRELEMETBA G
AEBEARRZENBARIE
BEBEAER AR ([EE]) &EW
BAE (BESEHREAAEER
B (R TEEEE]) /92 SR A
R wm N2 2R B B 5 B 9 FE YR IR -
IRE KB A100,0008TEREH
BIRHEMER - R EFTHE N
T_NF+—ARBTEK -

IEREBNEERRNEEREE
L

Smooth Way Group

I8 B 5
HK$'000
FTHER
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control k=R FlEZ EERBBEDW
was lost:
— Cash and bank balances —Re RIRITHER 5
— Amount due to ultimate holding company —FERT SRR AR IR (1,037,825)
(1,037,820)
Assignment of amount due to ultimate holding HEEN R KRERARIFUIA
company to the Purchaser B TEHB 1,037,825
5
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B ARz W 95
Consideration in cash ReERE 100
Analysis of the net inflow of cash and bank ERLEIREEE R R
balances in respect of disposal of the Smooth RITHETFRAFREIN
Way Group:
Cash consideration RERE 100
Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of B BEHERE MIBTEST (5)
95

RREIBRREZRERAR / T -0/ - HEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

42,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of subsidiaries not constituting a
discontinued operation (Continued)

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the
Purchaser B undertook to compensate the Group on certain
percentage of the recovered amount for a period up to 31
March 2026 (the “Compensation”) if the Purchaser B is able
to recover any receivables from the Smooth Way Group. In
order to secure the Compensation from the Purchaser B, the
entire equity interest of Smooth Way and the receivables
from the Smooth Way Group were pledged to the Group.

As set out in Note 2(b), the Group failed to recover the
assets of QHFSMI and IMFSMI after taking the prolonged
recovery actions. The Directors considered that the
Compensation is not a contingent asset as it gives rise to
the possibility of an inflow of economic benefits to the
Group arising from unexpected event (i.e. the successful
recovery action to be taken by the Purchaser B). Therefore,
the Compensation is not recognised as a contingent asset
on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT_RAF=A=+—HILtFE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 43. ZeBE&RERMTE
OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing METEMELENEEES
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TR A EBREMEETDHEE 2 ED
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. HIE - BREeAIREED - REHME
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash iﬁibE’J%ﬁ)’bﬁ%mii*?ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂ%
flows were, or the future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s RAEEGEREGRERTE D AERE R
BEgrBRenEc8E -

consolidated statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
Bank Other Lease  Promissory Preferred
borrowings  horrowing liabilities notes shares Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
fTER HpRR 0 HEEE  ANEE BiR h
T T T T Tk T
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=ENA-A 174,834 10,652 3293 5138 378234 572,15
Changes in financing cash flows RERETELD (13,660) (11.119) (2,79) (5222) - (32,797)
Non-cash changes FRe%9
Addition of lease liabilties AERERRE - - 5228 - - 5228
Fair value changes ATEEY - - - - 20,780 20,780
Interest expenses (Note 11) MR (M) 8191 467 179 84 - 891
Exchange difference EiZE (9,09) - (117) - (19,999) (29212)
At31 March 2024 RZEZRE=R=+-H 160,269 - 5,787 - 379,015 545,071
At 1 April 2024 RZE-NHENA-A 160,269 - 5,787 - 379,015 545,071
Changes in financing cash flows RERSTERD (144,656) 2,940 (2,889) - = (144,605)
Non-cash changes FRe%9
Fair value of promissory notes issued BRTALSENATE - - - 78,482 - 78,482
Fair value changes LTEEY - - - 3310 20,514 23,884
Interest expenses (Note 11) s (W) 4,295 3 162 - - 4490
Interest payables included in other payables HARMENTENERTS - (33) - - = (33)
Exchange difference ELZE (617) - (20) - (4072) (4,709)
At 31 March 2025 RZBZRF=A=+-H 19,291 2,940 3,040 81,852 395,457 502,580
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—ZT _RAF=A=+—HILtFE

44. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

(i

(i)

On 8 April 2025 (after trading hours), Mission Achiever
Limited (“Mission Achiever”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Shandong Yican Port Co., Ltd. and Ms.
Huang Yu Han (collectively the “Vendor Group”) and Faith
Up Ventures Limited (“Faith Up”), pursuant to which, the
Vendor Group has conditionally agreed to sell and Mission
Achiever has conditionally agreed to purchase the sale
shares, representing 100% of the total issued share capital
of Faith Up at a consideration of HK$300 million on a debt-
free basis.

Upon the completion of the acquisition, Faith Up will
become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Company will, through Faith Up and its
subsidiary, further control 29.83% of the equity interest
held by ordinary shareholders of Shundong Port that confers
voting right and ordinary dividend right (the “Common
Equity Interest”) in Shundong Port, and, through Mission
Achiever, control in aggregate 85% of the Common Equity
Interest in Shundong Port. The abovementioned acquisition
was completed on 17 April 2025.

Further details of the acquisition were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 8 April 2025 and 17 April
2025 and the Company’s circular dated 16 April 2025.

On 30 June 2025, the board of Directors confirmed that
the actual profit of the Target Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 exceeded the guaranteed amount of
RMB20 million, of which the determination of the actual
profit was set out in the Company’s announcement dated
17 June 2024. The vesting condition of the first tranche
of the Promissory Notes A has been fulfilled, and hence
the first tranche of the Promissory Notes A in the principal
amount of RMB14,546,000 shall be vested immediately,
finally and unconditionally and released to the Vendor (or
his nominated entities as he may direct) within 30 days
thereafter.

45. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to be consistent
with the current period presentation.
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44, BEBHEKEE

(i)

(i)

RZZE_RAFMANR (XRFH
EZ &) ° Mission Achiever Limited
([ Mission Achiever |) (A 2 & — &
FEZ2EWBAR) BILRRES
BERARERETRZT (RHEI&E
HEE]) RMEZARBRAT(E
DAV EEWRE B BEA
SE 2B EMERE LS mMission
AchieverE B KR EHBEHE
B (FHERELEEITRAEBEE
B100%) r HEBEEERER
300,000,000 7T °

R EEEIE T E - E B AR
AEMEEZEWNBAR  MARR
BEBERENEQRE—HiT
I IE 5% 75 29.83% MY B BB 15 19
LTRRRAT N SERERE R EBR
BHER M ARE ([EERE]) - IFE
i Mission Achiever & $£12 il JIg 55
%85% ) L mARiE - Pt S
HER-_Z-AFNMA+EHZEK -

BENBEENE - PHBHNAK
ARAMAZT-_RAFNANBRK
“EoAFMATERZAMNKAR
AARBAZZE-_RFNA+X
SR

R_E_RAF A=+tH EZ=g
R BEREREE_T-AF=
A=+ —BHBLEFENER B
BIRFE S5 AR 20,000,0007T ¢
B EMNMNETE R EHNAR A
AT -_MENA++LtHH
D BEMARLEBRANGE B GG
BEER BAURASERAARE
14,546,000 T B B #E AR H RIRA
MEZBIIOKAEE R ZEK
HEBRERTES (AR
THERAERE) -

45. LbEEHF

ETHBRBFE TEH D BEUTEAHHE
MEFTR -
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